
Health and Wellbeing Board 

DATE: Tuesday, 11 February 2020

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014,’ the 
press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting. 

AGENDA

2.00PM 

1  Welcome and Introductions. Chair

2  QUESTIONS - From Members of the Public. Chair

3  Apologies for Absence. Chair

4  Declarations of Interest 

The Chair to invite members of the Board to 
declare any interests.

Chair

5  To approve, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting held on 12 November 2019. 

Chair (Pages 1 - 8)

6  Matters Arising Chair

2.10PM 

7  Wuhan Corona Virus Update Muna Abdel Aziz

2.20PM 

8  Locality Plan Update 

8a Salford Locality Plan Refresh: 

 Final draft for discussion
 Next steps

Muna Abdel Aziz (Pages 9 - 62)

8b Ward Profiles (JSNA) 

Link to the latest ward profiles:
https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-
local-information/my-local-community/ward-profiles/

Gordon Adams/ 
Sylvain Bagnack

Public Document Pack

https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/my-local-community/ward-profiles/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/my-local-community/ward-profiles/


3.00PM 

9  Start Well Update 

9a CAMHS Transformation Plan Refresh - Draft Debbie Blackburn/ 
Emily Edwards

(Pages 63 - 150)

9b Reducing Child Death and Child Death 
Overview Panel (CDOP) 

Debbie Blackburn / 
Michelle Whittaker

(Pages 151 - 160)

3.30PM 

10  Age Well Update 

10a Dementia Update 

An overview of the Salford Dementia Profile.  
This provides a range of statistics on dementia 
locally and recommendations councils can take 
to improve how they can support people 
Dementia. 

Salford’s current provision will be discussed

John Kemp: 
Alzheimer’s Society 
& Lauren Fairey: 
CCG

(Pages 161 - 184)

3.45PM 

11  Any Other Business 

12  Date and Time of Next Meeting - Tuesday 12 
May 2020 (2pm - 4pm) 

The next meetings of the Board have been 
scheduled as follows:

 Tuesday, 8 September, 2020, 2:00-4:00pm
 Tuesday, 10 November, 2020, 2:00-4:00pm
 Tuesday, 9 February, 2021, 2:00-4:00pm

All meetings are held in the Salford Suite at 
Salford City Council, Salford Civic Centre, 
Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5AW (unless 
otherwise stated).

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk



Page 1 of 8
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
12 November 2019

SALFORD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

12 November 2019

2.00 p.m.  -  4.11 p.m.

PRESENT: Tom Tasker (TT) - in the Chair

Members:

Councillor Gina Reynolds (GR) LA Representative
Anthony Hassall (AH) Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
Councillor John Merry (JM) Deputy City Mayor
Lee Sugden (LSu) Salford Strategic Housing Partnership
Margaret Rowe (MW) University of Salford
Lynne Stafford (LSt) VCSE Sector
Alison Page (AP) VCSE Sector
Gill Green (GG) Greater Manchester Mental Health Trust
Councillor Tracy Kelly (TK) LA Representative
Councillor John Walsh (JW) LA Representative
Councillor Jane Hamilton (JH) LA Representative
Chris Dabbs (CD) Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce
Delana Lawson (DL) Healthwatch Salford
Peter Brambleby (PB) Interim Director of Public Health

Officers:

Cathy Starbuck (CS) Assistant Director Education Work and Skills
Mike McHugh (MM) Senior Democratic Services Officer 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

1.1. TT welcomed those present to the meeting of the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board.

2. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

2.1. There were no questions from members of the public.

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

3.1. Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cath Gormally, Neil Thwaite, 
Councillor Jillian Collinson and Ben Ewart.

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 8
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
12 November 2019

4.1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

4.1. No conflicts of interest were declared in respect of the items included on the agenda for 
this meeting.

5. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

5.1. The minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2019, were approved as a correct 
record.

6. MATTERS ARISING

6.1. There were no matters arising.
 

7. SALFORD LOCALITY PLAN REFRESH

7.1. Peter Brambleby presented the draft plan to date to the panel and the following points 
were highlighted.

7.2. PB confirmed that the full draft would be presented to the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) at the end of the month. The final version was expected to 
be presented at the meeting of this Board to be held in February 2020.

7.3. The plan was drawing together all the local plans with the aim to help people live longer, 
healthier, happier lives and help to reduce inequalities. The purpose of the plan was to 
inform, prompt questions and provide challenge.

7.4. The plan was set out in chapters addressing the main issues and an overview was given 
of each chapter. 

7.5. A number of questions and comments were raised in respect of the draft plan, which 
included - 

(a) confirmation that the final version of the final draft plan would be much more 
concise than the current version

(b) the impact of Salford currently having a younger population than the average for 
England

PB confirmed that was due mainly to migration of young professionals who tended 
to be in more highly paid employment. There had also been an increase in the birth 
rate. The static permanent population would form the main focus of the plan.  

(c) the need to ensure that the final version of the plan included as wide a view-point 
as possible of providers, commissioners, the VCSE sector and service users and 
their families.

Page 2



Page 3 of 8
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
12 November 2019

(d) a request to include case studies on certain aspects of service detailed within the 
plan.

(e) discussion relating to workforce wellbeing, including consideration of the work 
being undertaken for Salford to become a Living Wage City.

It was noted that work was ongoing relating to partner organisations moving 
towards paying all staff the living wage.

(f) a request to edit the section of the report relating to carers.

PB indicated that he would liaise with Lynne Stafford in respect of this matter.

7.6. PB confirmed that the Locality Plan Working Group was meeting on a regular basis and 
would consider all of the matters raised at this meeting in the production of the next 
version of the draft plan.

7.7. PB confirmed that the next Director of Public Health would be in post from Monday 6 
January 2020 and she would take over the work on the refresh of the Locality Plan.

7.8 TT thanked PB for all of the work he had undertaken on the refresh of the Locality Plan.

7.9. It was noted that a version of the refreshed plan would be submitted to the GMCA on 29 
November 2019.

7.10. It was confirmed that a final version of the refreshed plan would be submitted for 
consideration at the meeting of this Board on Tuesday 11 February 2020.

8. LATEST INDICES OF MULTIPLE DEPRIVATION

8.1. Peter Brambleby submitted a report informing the Health and Wellbeing Board of the 
findings of the 2019 Indices of Deprivation. 

8.2. PB confirmed that the latest Indices of Deprivation was published by the Ministry for 
Housing Communities and Local Government on 26 September 2019. The Indices give a 
picture of the level of relative deprivation across England. Data is provided at small area 
level and can be aggregated to local authority level. There are seven domains of 
deprivation which are combined to give an overall picture of multiple deprivation.

8.3. Salford has seen a worsening of its rank since the previous release moving from 22nd 
most deprived in 2015 to 18th most deprived in 2019. Currently 76,000 Salford residents 
(30%) live in areas of high deprivation.

8.4. The Health Deprivation and Disability domain was one of two domains under which 
Salford improved its rank. Salford remains one of the most health deprived areas of the 
country, ranking 12th most deprived local authority (from 7th in 2015). All four indicators 
contributing to this domain saw an improvement.

Page 3



Page 4 of 8
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
12 November 2019

8.5. Across Greater Manchester all local authority areas saw a worsening of national rank, 
with the exception of Manchester, which improved by one place. Within Greater 
Manchester there was no change in the ranking between the ten authorities, with Salford 
remaining the third most deprived district.

8.6. The Board noted the report and requested that updates on the matter be presented in due 
course.

9. SEND STRATEGY

9.1. Cathy Starbuck submitted a report providing the Health and Wellbeing Board with details 
of the draft SEND Strategy 2019 / 2021.

9.2. CS confirmed the Board has overall responsibility for the Part 3 of the Children’s and 
Families Act 2014 which places duties on local authorities and other services in relation to 
both disabled children and young people and those with Special Educational Needs

9.3. CS presented the Strategy and highlighted a number of details, including -

(a) our vision…

Every child and young person aged 0-25 with SEND will have the fullest
opportunity to be happy, healthy and achieve their full potential

(b) Culture, Leadership and Management

(c) Accurate Identification

(d) Use of expertise

(e) Personalisation

(f) Reflective use of evidence based interventions

(g) Monitoring of progress

(h) Communication and Collaboration

(i) Our Strategic Priorities

Our priorities have been developed as a result of engagement with parents/ carers, 
children and young people, and with professionals, schools and services. They are 
also supported by energised leadership and partnerships, and informed by good 
data and needs analysis

(j) The four priority areas for children and young people with SEND are…

Clear pathways and better outcomes
Sufficient range of Quality Provision
Early identification, assessment and planning

Page 4



Page 5 of 8
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
12 November 2019

Clear communication and participation with children, young people and their 
families

(k) Key Measures of Success

• Increase the number of EHC assessments finalised within 20 weeks
• Increase attendance at school for all children with SEND
• Reduce the number of exclusions for children with SEND
• Improve education outcomes at all key stages; Early years, Key Stage 2, 

Key Stage 4 and 5
• Increase the number of children with SEND who are in Education, 

Employment and Training post 16

9.4. The Board approved the SEND Strategy 2019 / 2021 and requested that updates on the 
matter be presented in due course.

10. CREATING A REAL LIVING WAGE CITY

10.1. Chris Dabbs submitted a report providing the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update 
report relating to the ongoing work to facilitate the process for Salford to become a Living 
Wage City.

10.2. CD noted that in the Locality Plan for Salford, the partners on the Health and Wellbeing
Board committed to - 

(a) securing for the people of our city a good education and decent jobs

(b) system and wider enablers, including social value

(c) maximising adoption of the real Living Wage and the best possible working 
conditions for our workforce across the city

(d) working towards: introducing the real Living Wage; becoming accredited Living 
Wage Employers; incorporating the real Living Wage within procurement

(e) working with partners to ensure that jobs being created in Salford have the highest 
employment standards, such as working towards or paying the real Living Wage

10.3. CD confirmed details of a number of proposals and recommended actions for the 
consideration of the Board, as follows -

(a) To welcome and support the action being taken by Salford Clinical Commissioning 
Group to spread the real Living Wage in primary care.

(b) To note and welcome the accreditation as Living Wage employers of several 
Salford-based providers of social care.

(c) To note that all but two members of Salford Health and Wellbeing Board are 
accredited Living Wage Employers.

Page 5



Page 6 of 8
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
12 November 2019

(d) To fulfil the Board’s agreement in March 2017 work towards Salford becoming a 
real Living Wage health and well-being system, by encouraging and supporting 
those members that are not yet accredited Living Wage employers to:

(i) pay all staff (both directly employed and sub-contracted) the real Living 
Wage

(ii) become accredited Living Wage Employers with the Living Wage 
Foundation by 2021 at the latest

(e) To note the formation of the Salford Living Wage City Action Group, and to endorse 
Salford’s application for Living Wage City status from the Living Wage Foundation 
under its Making Living Wage Places scheme.

(f) To include specific commitments on the real Living Wage in the refreshed Locality 
Plan that is being developed, including with regard to the Greater Manchester 
Good Employment Charter and the Salford Living Wage City action plan.

(g) To request the Salford Social Value Alliance to continue to monitor progress with 
the real Living Wage in Salford, and report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
progress in autumn 2020

10.4. The Board noted the report and approved the recommendations details in paragraph 
10.3., above. 

11. HEALTH AND JUSTICE STRATEGY FOR GREATER MANCHESTER

11.1. Anthony Hassall submitted a report providing the Health and Wellbeing Board with details 
of the work being undertaken to develop a Greater Manchester Health and Justice 
Strategy.

11.2. Poor health was something that impacted upon both victims of crime and offenders. From 
learning disabilities to drug addiction to poor mental health, there were a surprising 
number of health problems that make you more likely to be a victim of crime or an 
offender. 

11.3. Greater Manchester took the decision to become the first city-region in England to 
develop a Health and Justice Strategy.

11.4. The aim of this strategy was to improve the health of people who were already in the 
criminal justice system, or who were at risk of entering it – either as a victim or offender. 
The aim was that this would reduce the risk of some people becoming a victim, and 
prevent others from getting involved in crime.

11.5. A vision and a set of priorities for Greater Manchester’s Health and Justice Strategy had 
been developed. Consultation on this was undertaken through October 2019 with regard 
to how improves could be made in the support given to vulnerable people who come into 
contact with the criminal justice system in Greater Manchester.

Page 6



Page 7 of 8
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
12 November 2019

11.6. The feedback collected from people during this consultation would be used to shape the 
delivery plan for the Greater Manchester Health and Justice Strategy. 

11.7. The Board noted the report and requested that updates on the matter be presented in due 
course.

12. SALFORD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD CONSENSUS STATEMENT ON E-
CIGARETTES

12.1. Peter Brambleby submitted a report providing an updated statement relating to the use of 
e-cigarettes, prepared by Salford Tobacco Harm Reduction Group, the membership of 
which included, Salford City Council, Salford Commissioning Group, Salford University 
and Salford Royal Foundation Trust.

12.2. PB noted that the key messages included in the statement were - 

(a) We will ensure that smokers in Salford have access to support to reduce and quit 
tobacco smoking completely. E-cigarettes can be a temporary support towards 
stopping smoking. If smokers choose to buy an e cigarette they can use these 
alongside the quit-support and advice. E-cigarettes will not be funded or provided 
by the quit-smoking service.

(b)  We will ensure that access to e-cigarettes is controlled and monitored carefully. 
The use of these products by children, young people or non-smokers will be 
strongly and actively discouraged. E-cigarettes are regulated and are illegal to sell 
to those under 18 so we will ensure that this is enforced and monitored through 
Regulatory Services.

(c) We will ensure that Pregnant smokers are strongly encouraged to quit smoking 
cigarettes or e-cigarettes completely.

(d) This position will be kept under active review and will be updated in the light of any 
new evidence.

12.3. The Board noted the report and requested that updates on the matter be presented in due 
course.

13. SALFORDIAN HOTEL

13.1. Councillor Gina Reynolds submitted a letter received from the Chairman of the Salfordian 
Trust Company Limited.

13.2. The letter included an invitation for the Board to arrange a visit to the Salfordian in order 
to meet members of staff and to view the facilities with a view to assessing its suitability in 
supporting the work of the Board in the area of Social Prescribing.

13.3. Consideration was given to the request from the Salfordian Trust and it was agreed that 
TT and GR would make arrangements in the new year to visit the Salfordian. 

Page 7



Page 8 of 8
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
12 November 2019

14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

14.1. There were no items of any other business.

15. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

15.1. RESOLVED: (1) THAT the next meeting of the Board be held on Tuesday 11 February 
2020 (2.00pm to 4.00pm).

(2) THAT the scheduling for meetings of this Board, as detailed below, be 
noted -

Tuesday 12 May 2020  (2.00pm to 4.00pm)
Tuesday 8 September 2020 (2.00pm to 4.00pm)
Tuesday 10 November 2020 (2.00pm to 4.00pm)
Tuesday 9 February 2021 (2.00pm to 4.00pm)

16. UPDATE PAPERS

16.1. The following paper was submitted for the information of the Board -

(a) Salford Locality Plan Highlight Report - Progress for the period: Quarter 2, 2019/20

Page 8



1

Salford Locality Plan 2020-25

Foreword

Councillor Gina Reynolds and Dr Tom Tasker, 

Joint Chairs of Salford Health and Wellbeing Board 

It is our pleasure and privilege, as joint chairs of Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board, to introduce this 
latest refresh of the Salford Locality Plan.

The Locality Plan is the link between our understanding of needs and opportunities in health and 
wellbeing, and our coordinated response to them. There is a requirement on all Health and Wellbeing 
Boards to produce and publish such a plan, complementing the plans at Greater Manchester level.

This plan will inform, challenge, inspire and energise our collective action across Salford. It is timely to 
look at how far we have come and what remains to be done since the previous version of the locality 
plan in March 2016. Pooling of the great majority of the health and social care budget, and greater 
transparency on the rest, has been a major development of the past few years.  

No plan can cover all eventualities.  There are limits to what we can predict or control.  Some paths are 
made by walking!  To some degree we have to plan for the unknown, guided by values rather than 
certainties - sensitive and responsive to changing circumstances.  In this document we have set out the 
strategic aims so that our intentions are clear.  

The plan has been refreshed through a consultative collaborative approach, involving the public, 
providers, commissioners, and policy-makers.  The next steps are, therefore, to sustain and grow these 
collaborations and to collectively hold each other to account for the outcomes.  

Our greatest resource is the people of Salford.  Our ambition is for their best possible health and 
wellbeing.  We hope that all readers will see that this plan relates to themselves and those they love at 
their particular stage of life, and it also relates to the neighbourhood in which they live or work. Just as 
importantly, it shows where everyone can make a contribution.

Enjoy reading this plan, and as you do, reflect not only what Salford will do for you, but what you will do 
for Salford. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8a



2

Contents
Salford Locality Plan 2020-25................................................................................................................1

Foreword..............................................................................................................................................1

Summary (for design as an infographic) ................................................................................................4

Salford will continue to grow in the next five years ..............................................................................5

Children in Salford will have the Best Early Start ...............................................................................8

Why is it important ...............................................................................................................................8

What we will do....................................................................................................................................8

How we will measure progress.............................................................................................................9

Children and Young People will Develop Well in Salford .................................................................10

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................10

What we will do..................................................................................................................................10

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................12

People will value being and feeling well in Salford ..........................................................................13

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................13

What we will do..................................................................................................................................13

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................15

Carers in Salford will be supported to be and feel well....................................................................17

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................17

What we will do..................................................................................................................................17

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................17

People in Salford will live independent and fulfilled lives into Active Older Age..............................18

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................19

What we will do..................................................................................................................................19

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................20

Salford offers the best possible care for Later life and Dying well....................................................22

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................22

What we will do..................................................................................................................................22

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................23

Salford places will promote health and wellbeing ...........................................................................24

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................24

What we will do..................................................................................................................................24

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................26

Page 10



3

Communities and Neighbourhoods in Salford will promote health and wellbeing ...........................28

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................28

What we will do..................................................................................................................................28

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................30

Partners in Salford will work together to Enable Transformation ....................................................31

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................31

What we will do..................................................................................................................................32

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................34

We will work together to Deliver our Locality Plan..........................................................................35

Why is it important .............................................................................................................................35

What we will do..................................................................................................................................35

How we will measure progress...........................................................................................................37

What will you pledge to do?...............................................................................................................38

APPENDIX 1: Progress from the previous locality plan in 2016 ........................................................40

APPENDIX 2: Overview of Priorities and Indicators 2020-25 ............................................................50

Page 11



4

Summary (for design as an infographic)

Vision: Salford is a place where everyone can enjoy the best opportunities that Salford has to offer.

People in Salford will get the best start in life, will go on to have a fulfilling and productive adulthood, and will be able to manage their health 
well into their older age and die in a dignified manner in a setting of their choosing. People across Salford will experience health on a parallel 
with the current “best” in Greater Manchester (GM), and the gaps between communities will be narrower than they have ever been before.

Our Core Outcomes

1. People will live longer and those years will be lived in good health (Increased healthy life expectancy for all) 

2. The gap in life expectancy between the most and least deprived communities in the city will be reduced (inequalities index)

Starting Well Outcomes:  

• I am a child who is physically and emotionally healthy, feel safe and 
able to live life in a positive way 

• I am a young person who will achieve their potential in life, with 
great learning, and employment opportunities 

• I am as good a parent as I can be 

Living Well Outcomes: 

• I lead a happy, fulfilling and purposeful life, and I am able to 
manage the challenges that life gives me

• I am able to take care of my own health and wellbeing and I am 
supported to care for others when needed 

• My lifestyle helps me to stop any Long Term Condition or disability 
getting worse, and keeps the impact of this condition or disability 
from affecting my life  

Ageing Well Outcomes: 

• I am an older person who is looking after my health and delaying 
the need for care 

• If I need it, I will be able to access high quality care and support 

• I know that when I die, this will happen in the best possible 
circumstances  

Places, Communities and Neighbourhood Outcomes

• I feel safe and connected, and able to influence the decisions that 
affect me

• I feel supported to make healthy choices in the places where I live, 
work, volunteer or visit 

• I have opportunities to contribute, and benefit from, a strong 
economy with quality local jobs

P
age 12



5

Salford will continue to grow in the next five years

The people of Salford

There are just over quarter of a million people living in Salford (254,408 in 2018) and the population has 
been increasing since 2002. Much of the population growth in the city has occurred in the East, around 
Salford Quays and Blackfriars. The city growth is expected to continue with a further 11,000 residents in 
the next five years. 

Salford has a younger population than the average for England; with a third of the population aged 20-
39 years (compared to 26% across England), a lower proportion in older age groups, and proportionately 
more young children. Overall, at the time of the census in 2011, 14.4% of Salford population were from 
BME communities, lower than the national rate of 19.3%. The most diverse parts of the city are found in 
the eastern half, from Eccles town centre to Chapel Street and north to Higher Broughton.

Population of Salford 2008-2018,
with Projection to 2023

Population Pyramid for Salford, with England 
Comparator (2018)

Salford is currently the 18th most deprived local authority area in England (out of 317), and remains the 
third most deprived locality in Greater Manchester as measured by the Index of Multiple Deprivation. 
There are 76,400 people (30.4%) who reside in a highly deprived area of Salford. Between 2015 and 
2019, the greatest improvements have been in the Health domain and the Employment domain, relative 
to other local authorities. This is promising as it shows that improvements can be made in the short 
term. There remain challenges in the Barriers to Housing and Services domain which measures distance 
to key services as well as measures of homelessness and housing affordability. While the Crime domain 
showed a marked worsening from 2015 to 2019, this appears to be largely due to change in recording 
practices between the two time periods. At the start of 20919/20, there has been a reduction of 5% for 
violent crime, 23% for hate crime contributing to an 8% reduction in overall crime compared to the 
previous year.

Page 13



6

Areas of Salford within the most 
deprived 10% nationally

 

Areas of Salford within the most  
deprived 1% nationally

Life expectancy (and Healthy LE)

While life expectancy has been improving in the last few decades, the rate of improvement has started 
to slow down. There remains a gap of around 3 years for males and 2 years for females between Salford 
and the rest of England.  Within Salford, residents living in the most affluent areas can expect to live for 
11.2 years longer for males and 7.2 years longer for females; compared to those in the most deprived 
areas. The main causes of death in Salford are cancer, circulatory disease and respiratory disease.

Male Life Expectancy within Salford (2011-15) Female Life Expectancy within Salford (2011-15)

Salford residents spend a higher proportion of their lives in poor health than average for England, and 
this typically affects the more deprived parts of the city to a greater extent.  Healthy life expectancy is 
5.5 years below the national average and has remained little changed since it was first measured in 
2009-11. The causes of poor health include mental health, mobility and sensory loss. While they may not 
lead directly to death, they represent a very substantial burden of disability, distress and missed life 
chances.

Page 14



7

Percentage of people who reported  having  a 
limiting long-term illness or disability (2011)

Hospital admissions for intentional self harm, 
standardised admission ratio 2013/14 – 2017/18

 

Salford’s older population is likely to grow substantially. The population over 50 years is expected to 
increase from 75,600 in 2014 to 97,100 in 2035, and an estimated 2.5 times increase in people aged 
over 65 living with one or more disabling conditions by 2050. Approximately 21% of the Salford 
population currently have a limiting long-term illness.  If this proportion stays the same, the numbers of 
people with a long term limiting illness will increase due to population growth alone; and potentially 
there will be 35,000 adult carers aged over 16; an increase by more than 10,000 from 2011.  

Page 15



8

Children in Salford will have the Best Early Start

We want children and young people in Salford to be: 

 As healthy and safe as possible.
 Achieve the best educational outcomes they can
 Be well-equipped for adult life
 Have a sense of belonging and worth
 Have aspirations and opportunities to achieve

Why is it important

Our aim is to work in partnership with families to increase safety and reduce risk by focussing on the 
family's strengths, resources and support networks. Salford is working with Greater Manchester on the 
THRIVE Framework for system change; based on five categories; Thriving, Getting Advice and 
Signposting, Getting Help, Getting More Help and Getting Risk Support. Emphasis is placed on 
prevention and also the promotion of mental health and wellbeing across the whole population. 

What we will do

The Transformation projects which are likely to have the greatest impact on young people are:
• Saving Babies Lives - This will increase the number of women receiving continuity of the person caring 
for them during pregnancy, birth and postnatally to 35% of women booked on to a continuity of carer 
pathway by March 2020 and deliver improvements in choice and personalisation so that by March 2021 
all women have a personalised care plan and more women can give birth in midwifery settings. This 
includes antenatal and newborn screening. 

• Salford Early Years Delivery Model - In Salford we are ensuring that children are ready to start school 
by prioritising prevention and early intervention to address health and social inequalities. Support to 
parents is key to promote attachment. Population Health funding has allowed us to test an 
internationally unique approach to a Universal Antenatal Parenting offer in two localities in the City.  

• Early Help – Four locality teams made up of staff from different organisations will work together to 
provide early help to families, ensuring that young carers and their families receive the advice, help and 
services they need, on the basis of an assessment. 

• Integrated Working - Closer working between the City Council and NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning 
Group will continue with particular focus on emotional health and wellbeing, disabilities and speech, 
language and communication needs.

• Transforming Care and Neurodevelopmental Pathway - We will support families with a child with a 
disability, providing earlier detection and support and will link parents to mental health support, 
parenting and peer support. 

Page 16



9

How we will measure progress

Perinatal mental health - 46.6% of Salford women have their first formal antenatal booking before 70 
days gestation thereby the opportunity for earliest possible detection of mental health problems is 
missed in over half the women. This figure is significantly lower than England (51.6%) and its similar CCG 
comparators (58.9%). However 99.1% of new born babies in Salford had a new birth visit regardless of 
whether it was within 14 days or not meaning that postnatally women should have the opportunity to 
discuss their mental health with a health visitor at the earliest chance.

Smoking at time of delivery - 12.8% of Salford women were smoking at the time of delivery in 2016-17, 
significantly higher than the England average (10.7%) but lower than nearest neighbour average (15.7%). 
Smoking in pregnancy has been linked to harmful consequences for the growth and development of the 
baby. Smoking in pregnancy can also cause serious pregnancy-related health problems, including 
complications during labour and an increased risk of miscarriage, premature birth, stillbirth, low birth-
weight and sudden unexpected death in infancy which increase the risk of mental health problems in 
new mothers.

Infant Mortality - Salford’s infant mortality rate for the period 2015-17 was 4.7 per 1,000 live births.  
This is higher than for the North West Region (4.6) and England (3.9). Salford, Bolton and Wigan 
undertook in a sector led improvement approach to reducing infant mortality in 2015. Since then, a 
comprehensive action plan has been overseen by the Safeguarding Partnership and we have been 
working with partners in our tripartite Child Death Overview Panel colleagues to develop an integrated 
approach to reducing infant mortality. Key interventions are safe sleeping practices, especially for more 
vulnerable mothers due to young age, family circumstances or alcohol or smoking which are risk factors 
for sudden infant death. Protective factors are initiation and continuation of breastfeeding, and uptake 
of childhood immunisations.

School Readiness - 67.7% of children achieved a good level of development at the end of Reception 
(2018/19) similar to the average for the North West (68.9%) but significantly lower than England 
(71.8%).  Some catch-up is happening because at the end of primary school children are making the 
expected level of progress and education outcomes are strong and in line with national averages for 
disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged children. Work has been underway to progress the school 
readiness agenda including implementation of the WellCom screening tool across Salford; all Early Years 
providers are trained to identify speech and language and communication needs and a re-specified 
Speech and Language service now has a whole system approach. Universal 18 month check has been 
introduced from September 2019, carried out by 0-5 Early Help Practitioners, supporting earlier 
identification of need.    

Page 17



10

Children and Young People will Develop Well in Salford

The Education strategy for the city strives for children and young people to have the best education 
experience, in well led schools and settings, leading to sustained education progress. It is recognised 
that a range of factors impact on academic progress; for example young people feeling safe, being 
emotionally and physically healthy and feeling a sense of belonging and value within their community. 
Our ‘team around the school’ approach seeks to maximise partnership support for all schools to enable 
learning and promote wellbeing.

Why is it important

Educational attainment is one of the strongest predictors of how long and well an individual will live, 
and helps break the cycle of inequality.  Whilst we have some excellent schools working with parents 
and communities to achieve strong results, educational performance varies greatly across Salford. 

The quality of our education settings is a strength for early years, primary and special provision and 
some secondary schools; 78% of early years, and 86% of primary schools are judged by Ofsted as good 
or better. A high proportion of children in the city are eligible for free school meals and a high number 
have Special Educational Needs. The gap between disadvantaged and other pupils widens at secondary 
school level.  Success rates at GCSE are amongst the lowest in England with fewer children making 
expected progress between primary and secondary school. A-level results have remained static and the 
number of young adults not in education, employment or training is too high. 

Young people’s exclusion from employment, education and training opportunities represents a 
substantial social and economic cost which is experienced by individuals, the economy and wider 
society. Young people who are NEET are a diverse group who vary in their distance from the labour 
market; some are unemployed are actively looking for work, others are ‘inactive’ and not seeking work 
for a range of reasons including caring responsibilities, long-term disabilities or health conditions. 

Around 10% of 5-16 year olds in Salford have sought help for mental health problems. The most 
common presenting factors identified by young people as affecting their mental health and emotional 
wellbeing in 2016-17 were bullying (25%), money management (12%), running away from home (12%), 
general anxiety and stress (10%) and threats of violence (10%). 

Projecting Adult Needs and Service Information (PANSI) estimates that within Salford in 2017 there were 
18,100 people aged 18 to 64 who were survivors of childhood sexual abuse. Being a victim of crime, or 
exposure to violent or unsafe environments can increase the risk of developing a mental health 
problem. People in contact with the criminal justice system have substantially more risk factors for 
suicide (increased prevalence of mental health conditions, substance misuse and socioeconomic 
deprivation) and are recognised as a priority group in the cross-government suicide prevention strategy.

What we will do

• Earlier identification of Emotional Wellbeing needs - As part of our population health investment we 
have developed an evidence-based system for earlier identification of emotional wellbeing needs.  Our 
Emotional Friendly Schools Programme will continue to complement the schools link work provided by 

Page 18



11

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS).  This means teaching staff will continue to be 
supported with their own wellbeing and resilience and better able to identify needs in others.  The 
school link workers provide a named contact for school staff before referrals to CAMHS take place.  

• Childhood Obesity - Salford, like other areas has a high incidence of childhood obesity and we will 
seek creative solutions to activity, nutrition and emotional wellbeing. We are developing an all age 
strategy to reduce obesity which includes an approach to supporting parents to engage in healthy eating 
and physical activity with their children and take an active role in reducing calorie intake with reducing 
sugar based snacks and drinks.  We will link our approach to wider system change across Greater 
Manchester (GM), and our other areas of focus such as the Anti-Poverty strategy, and the Neglect 
strategy.

• Oral Health - Salford has the second worst levels of decayed, missing or filled teeth in the country, and 
a great deal of work is underway to support this agenda. Salford is testing an approach around 
supervised brushing and fluoride application in schools and early years’ settings. Evaluation from this 
work will inform future commissioning.  

• Immunisation - In Salford we have a community childhood immunisation team that identifies children 
who miss their vaccinations and visits them at home to vaccinate. This is unique in Greater Manchester.  
School age immunisations are delivered by a Greater Manchester provider together with school nursing. 
Uptake at this age in Salford, as nationally, is well below needed levels and will be an area for further 
work.

• Domestic Abuse - Domestic violence is one of the “toxic trio” along with substance misuse and mental 
health problems, and it is sadly the norm rather than exception for these three to co-exist. Domestic 
violence, whether witnessed by the child or directly experienced by the child, is one of the commonest 
“adverse childhood experiences” (ACEs).  It can cause lasting damage to a child’s physical, mental and 
emotional health. Tackling domestic violence is a key priority in Salford, and we will work with families 
using a trauma informed approach. 

• No Wrong Door (NWD) - Salford is implementing a version of the North Yorkshire Model. NWD is an 
integrated service for adolescents with complex needs that brings together a team of specialists working 
together through a shared practice framework. The model operates as an edge of care/outreach service, 
focused around a re-purposed children’s home that acts as a hub to bring together a multi-disciplinary 
team: including a clinical psychologist, police, speech and language therapist and other specialist social 
workers. Our NWD service will work with 200 young people each year.

• The Neglect Strategy- As part of this strategy, communities will be supported to identify where 
parents need help.  Practitioners and community members will be trained to recognise where support is 
required and move away from a blame culture.  We will introduce a trauma informed approach and 
support early attachment and parenting. 

• Supporting Transitions - Work on transitions began in 2019 with the aim of improving the experience 
of children and young people in transition from and to a number of services or settings. These include

 Education transitions from primary to secondary school and on to post 16 provision
 Transitions for Looked After Children, young carers, late entrants to services at age 17
 Transition into adult mental health care or adult disabilities services 

Page 19



12

 Transition back in to the city

How we will measure progress

Emotional health and wellbeing - Earlier identification of need from attachment disorders, building 
resilience in schools, tackling “adverse childhood experiences” (ACEs), and developing an approach 
around peer and parent support means we hope to improve outcomes and reduce incidence of mental 
health needs.  According to the Department for Education special educational needs statistics, an 
estimated 3.79% of school pupils in 2018 had social, emotional and mental health needs, significantly 
worse than the rest of the North West and England at 2.35% and 2.39% respectively. 

Childhood Obesity - Every child at Reception and Year 6 are offered the National Child Measurement 
Programme and we are seeing the percentage of children who are overweight and obese rising year on 
year. We will continue to measure if we are making a difference early in childhood and through the 
school years, and we will focus specifically on measures of physical activity, healthy eating and oral 
health.

Immunisation – We will monitor uptake of childhood immunisations, including Meningitis, HPV and Flu 
vaccines. We will promote booster and catch up campaigns where needed especially for groups with low 
uptake.

Education Outcomes – Attainment in English and Maths at Key Stage 4 is considered one of the key 
outcomes for children in Salford (Percentage of pupils achieving 9-4 pass in English and Maths). 
Currently Key Stage 4 outcomes for Salford young people are in the bottom 10% of all LAs nationally and 
this has been the picture for the past three years. Our Education and School Improvement strategy, 
alongside other strategies such as our SEND and Inclusion strategies, sets our aims and ambitions to 
improve education outcomes for our young people.

Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) - In Salford, there are proportionately 
more young people who are NEET than in most other areas of the country, and between November 
2017 and January 2018, an average of 5.8% of 16 and 17 year olds were categorised as NEET each 
month, compared to just 2.6% nationally. In addition, local estimates suggest that more than 15% of this 
age group spent some time NEET over the past academic year. Our NEET reduction strategy and action 
plan sets out our ambitions to reduce these adverse indicators and missed life opportunities. It is 
positive that Salford outcomes for children in care are better than the national average for this group.  

Neglect - Salford is currently undertaking a neglect needs assessment and strategy refresh, this work is 
significant and aims to develop a public health approach to prevention, early identification and support 
at an early stage to enable a strengths based approach to neglect. 

Page 20



13

People will value being and feeling well in Salford 

Mental health is one of the top priorities as it impacts on the individual and wider society, productivity, 
health and care services, and risk of suicide. In addition, we consider cancer (because of its impact on 
length of life), diabetes (because of its impact on quality of life), and learning disability (because of its 
impact on individuals, unpaid carers and services).  

The wider determinants have a huge impact on mental health and wellbeing; for example, employment, 
poverty, homelessness, the correlation between physical and mental health, and dual diagnoses – 
substance misuse and mental health. It is important to provide coordinated services for people with co-
existing mental health and substance misuse issues that address their wider health and social care 
needs. 

Why is it important

The smoking population in Salford has steadily fallen since 2014 but remains higher than the national 
figures. In 2018 there were 39,000 smokers in Salford (20% of adults). Cancer is the biggest killer in 
Salford under the age of 75 years, with 106 deaths per 100,000 that were considered preventable n 
2016-18. 

There are over 16,000 people in Salford living with diabetes. This is a serious condition which, if not 
properly controlled, can lead to serious complications such as heart disease, stroke, kidney failure, 
blindness and amputation.

Applying the general estimates from the 2014 Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey data shows that there 
are potentially almost 31,000 people in Salford with a common mental disorder. Women between the 
ages of 16 and 34 seem to be at most risk. Salford CCG spends £1 in every £6 on mental health 
conditions.

In 2016-17 there were 785 attendances at Salford Royal Emergency Department where suicidal thoughts 
were recorded. There were significantly more females aged 15 to 24. For males, attendances by those 
aged 45 to 54 is significantly higher than the overall male rate. Service user feedback for the All Age 
Mental Health Strategy in 2019 highlighted that they were unsure of where to turn to when feeling 
suicidal and thought that isolation was a key risk for suicide. 

What we will do

• IAPT - We will meet the national access stretch target by delivering much better access rates for 
vulnerable groups, particularly those with long-term conditions and perinatal women.  We will continue 
to use additional investment to reduce waiting times and improve recovery rates. 

• The Living Well Project – This will radically change the way care is delivered. This programme is one of 
four nationally being developed with the Innovation Unit to redesign and co-produce mental health 
services. In Salford this is specifically focusing on people with more complex needs than can be 
supported in primary care but which do not meet criteria for secondary care.

Page 21



14

• Suicide Prevention - Through the all age Salford Suicide Prevention Strategy (2017-2022),  all public 
sector partners in Salford have pledged our commitment to work together to address the devastating 
impact that suicide has on families and communities and ensure that suicide should always be 
considered an avoidable occurrence. This strategy highlights key high risk groups and contains pledges 
to support existing and new prevention and intervention initiatives that promote positive mental health 
and wellbeing. Salford will achieve the ten pillars of a Suicide Safer Community, with an action plan to 
raise awareness, review training and policies, and work with high risk groups and those bereaved by 
suicide. 

• Sexual Health – A joint sexual health plan for Salford is being developed using the World Health 
Organisation definition of sexual health (a state of physical, emotional, mental and social well-being in 
relation to sexuality. It is not merely the absence of disease, dysfunction or infirmity). Sexual health 
requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual relationships, as well as the 
possibility of having pleasurable and safe sexual experiences, free of coercion, discrimination and 
violence.  We will develop a neighbourhood model to improve access to and take-up of contraception; 
emergency contraception and Long Acting Reversible Contraception. This will be an all age strategy that 
will seek to develop clinical outreach for young people and populations at high risk.

• Early diagnosis of Cancer – Reduced waiting times contribute to improving outcomes for patients; but 
for patients presenting with late-stage cancer, a reduction in waiting time will have little impact on 
outcome compared to the benefit of earlier presentation.  The Salford Standard will include a measure 
of cancer early presentations, asking for GPs to audit their own records and lessons learnt. This will be 
followed by a social marketing campaign in Salford to raise awareness, once we have better 
understanding of the factors resulting in emergency presentations and/or late diagnosis.

We will put in place cancer rapid diagnostic centres (RDCs) to play a critical role in helping Salford meet 
increasing diagnostic demand, reduce diagnostic delays and deliver an enhanced patient experience for 
patients referred with symptoms that could indicate cancer. We will deliver the evidence-based “best-
timed pathway” projects for improving the diagnosis of three types of cancers - prostate, lung and 
colorectal. These chosen types are common cancers where diagnostic problems and variation are most 
marked. These projects aim to reduce hospital visits for tests, and cancer to be diagnosed at least 10 
days earlier.

The  ‘Answer Cancer’ programme aims to increase the uptake of cervical, breast and bowel screening 
across the city by raising awareness of the screening programmes. Answer Cancer will specifically work 
with marginalised and targeted populations where the uptake is lowest.

Salford is in the process of developing a new tobacco control plan. This will include the CURE project 
(Conversation, Understand, Replace, Expert and Evidence Based Treatments) to reduce smoking 
prevalence by supporting smokers who are admitted to hospital to quit. The term ‘CURE’ has been 
specifically chosen to ‘medicalise’ tobacco addiction and move away from the stigma of a lifestyle choice 
to disease treatment. The continuation of the project is dependent on successful evaluation.

A lung health check was launched in September 2019 to improve early-stage detection of lung disease 
(including lung cancer). The free health checks in a community setting, are available to people aged 55 
to 74 who are smokers or ex-smokers. The pilot will then move through each area of Salford within the 
next 18 months and will be fully evaluated.

Page 22



15

• Diabetes education - Regular reviews and checks for people with diabetes are key for blood glucose 
control, eye screening, and foot checks. We will continue to deliver education programmes for people 
with diabetes. Salford has been a demonstrator site for tackling type-2 diabetes. The programme aimed 
to focus on the identification, recruitment, intervention and engagement of patients at risk of 
developing diabetes.  This was delivered through a supportive behaviour change and lifestyle 
interventions programme. The digital pilot ran for 12 months and this has now been replaced with a 
face to face programme which is appealing to a different group of patients. More patients should be at 
reduced risk of developing type 2 diabetes, thus improving their health and well-being, reducing the 
need for medication, and reducing the risk of the disease and its complications.

• Learning disability – The Listening to People local monthly forum will continue to positively influence 
service design and delivery. We will deliver ‘Transforming Care’, reducing inpatient beds and supporting 
more people in the community.  Other Salford learning disability priorities are: 

1. Making a Contribution – having friends/relationships, employment options/support, being part 
of the local community, having meaningful lives

2. Person Centred – using Person Centred Planning and bespoke commissioning including early 
support and all-age services/transition

3. Being Safe – including positive risk taking and justice system
4. Housing/Homes – quality and choice of homes
5. Good Health – taking care of their own health and accessing mainstream health services
6. Communication and Advocacy – receiving information and the opportunity to have their say

How we will measure progress

Tobacco Harm - 20% of the adult Salford population is estimated to smoke, a rate that is significantly 
higher than England (15.5%) and Greater Manchester (18.2%). Smoking is relatively high in women when 
compared to England, Greater Manchester and nearest neighbours. 48.7% of people registered with a 
Salford GP with a recorded diagnosis of serious mental illness are reported to smoke. Again this figure is 
significantly higher than England (40.5%). Salford will continue to track smoking prevalence, along with 
targeted interventions for high risk groups, and those who are least likely to access smoking cessation 
services. We will measure the number of smokers who access support of smoking cessation services are 
more likely to quit successfully. The evaluation of the CURE project will identify whether patients go on 
to quit successfully and maintain a healthier lifestyle.

Alcohol harm- Salford had a significantly higher directly standardised rate of alcohol related hospital 
admissions in 2015-16 than England and Greater Manchester. Hospital admissions for mental and 
behavioural disorders due to alcohol were also more than double the England standardised rate. In 
2016-17 there were 525 new presentations to alcohol treatment services. Mental health problems can 
also cause people to self-medicate with alcohol increasing their consumption. This leads to a destructive 
cycle as the increased drinking leads to decreased mental health. Increased consumption of alcohol is 
also often liked to wider physical health and social needs such as self-harm, unemployment, deprivation 
and poverty, housing issues, crime and family breakdown.

Page 23



16

Substance misuse - There an estimated 1,200 opiate users in Salford whilst there were 806 people in 
treatment for opiate use in 2016. 24.7% of users in specialist drug misuse services were concurrently 
receiving treatment for mental health services for reasons other than substance misuse. As with alcohol, 
drug use is associated with wider social harms such as crime to fund drug use, gang violence, 
unemployment, homelessness and family breakdown. 

Mental Health  - Salford are monitoring a number of indicators for IAPT; 75% people seen in 6 weeks; 
95% people seen in 18 weeks; 25% access out of those who have a common mental health problem, and 
50% of people reaching recovery.  Salford is currently delivering access to around 25%, already meeting 
the target for 2021. As of September 2019 the recovery rate of people using IAPT services in Salford was 
45.8%, marginally under the 50% target set by NHS England. Many services are measuring their impact 
on health and wellbeing through indicators such as the WEMWBS scale, Outcomes Start and lifestyle 
indicators.

Suicide prevention – In 2016-18 there were 10.7 deaths by suicide per 100,000; a greater proportion of 
whom were males (15.9 per 100,000). Salford aims to achieve the ten pillars of a Suicide Safer 
Community, preventing subsequent suicides through earlier response to bereavement, and will continue 
to monitor emerging trends through the Annual Suicide Audit and the Child Death Overview Panel 
(CDOP) for suicide in young people.

Breast screening – Women in England who are aged 50 to 70 and registered with a GP are automatically 
invited for screening every 3 years.  The programme is commissioned by NHSE, and GP’s have the 
responsibility to support the programme with local uptake.  Wythenshawe Hospital, Nightingale Centre 
is the provider for Salford, they invite patients for screening and then informs the GP in batches of those 
who didn’t attend.  GPs are encouraged to contact those patients to attend for screening

Cervical screening – All women who are registered with a GP are invited for cervical screening at the GP 
practice.

 Aged 24.5 to 49 years – every 3 years
 Aged 50 to 64 years – every 5 years

Bowel Screening - Screening is offered to men and women aged 60-74 years as the risk of bowel cancer 
increases with age. Men and women are invited to be screened every 2 years. Bolton Royal is the 
provider for Salford (SRFT couldn’t accommodate the service).

Diabetes prevention: It is expected that people will make some lifestyle changes after taking part in the 
diabetes prevention programme and continue to do so after they have completed all sessions, thus 
reducing their risk of diabetes and its complications. Numbers accessing the programme will be 
monitored, and the service outcomes will be reviewed in three years’ time, with a view to re-
commissioning. 

Outcomes for people with learning disability – Evaluation of the Transforming Care programme and 
continuing engagement with the local forum, residents and carers will highlight progress against each of 
the agreed priority areas. We will monitor qualitative outcomes for person-centred care planning, 
advocacy and contribution, alongside uptake of health checks, and percentage of people with learning 
disabilities in employment.

Page 24



17

Carers in Salford will be supported to be and feel well

A carer is someone of any age who supports, unwaged, a relative, partner or friend who, due to physical 
or mental illness, disability, frailty or addiction, could not manage without that support.   

Our vision is a ‘carer friendly’ city where the diversity of our carers is recognised and key partners from 
health and social care work together to ensure that a carer’s wellbeing is maximised through 
appropriate, flexible and accessible support offering the right support at the right time.

Why is it important

Carers play a vital role in our communities and caring is a fundamental part of family life.  But carers are 
too often unseen, their role comes with responsibilities and complex emotions, and they themselves 
frequently need support and respite.

As we deal with an ageing population and longer life expectancies, more than ever we need to support 
people to live in their own homes and communities for as long as possible.  Carers are a key partner in 
making this happen.

What we will do

• The Salford Carers’ Strategy has been developed through a steering group with broad representation 
of local health and social care providers, a number of local voluntary sector organisations and 
Healthwatch Salford. The strategy has been informed by extensive engagement work hearing the lived 
experience of carers across Salford. Carers asked for a wider range of peer support, mentoring and 
befriending networks and informal support options.  These would be best delivered through a 
community resource model, across a neighbourhood area, making best use of community assets, 
technology and social media.

How we will measure progress

 Support for working carers has been highlighted in the carers strategy. The Carers Steering Group 
will oversee and monitor developments in this area to ensure that paid working carers are being 
supported.

 Following a transformation test of change,  the Carers Support service in Salford will now offer 
bespoke support to carers when the cared for person is admitted to hospital.

Page 25



18

People in Salford will live independent and fulfilled lives into Active 
Older Age

Ageing is inevitable but how we age is not. Collectively, we need to act across the life course to ensure 
that everybody has the same opportunities to achieve a good education, good work, financial security, a 
decent home, and to develop and maintain connections to family, friends and a supportive wider 
community. These are the protective factors that underpin good mental and physical health and that 
help people develop and maintain resilience throughout their lives. Those who have not built up this 
resilience are more disabled by their environments – such as poor housing – in later life. 

Salford started using the World Health Organisation Age Friendly Model from 2014; with commitment 
from the City Mayor to an older people-led plan for change, considering all the different aspects that 
affect our lives with age friendly places - our streets, neighbourhoods and communities. An older person 
network meets quarterly, and each year Salford celebrates the work of older people as part of 
International Older Persons Day. 

Page 26



19

Why is it important

Currently in Salford there are more than 35,000 people aged 65 or older and this number is set to rise. 
Whilst many live active lives and bring a valuable resource to the city others have complex health and 
wellbeing needs. The life expectancy for a man living in Salford is 75.5 years and for a woman is just over 
80.1 years. These life expectancies are both below the England average.

By 2024, more than one in four people will be over 60 and our longer lives are one of society’s greatest 
achievements. But while many already enjoy a good later life, others risk ill health, poverty and 
loneliness. Older people often have long term care needs frequently associated with chronic health 
conditions, and may be socially isolated with a poor quality of life.

Loneliness is a key risk factor in the mental health of older people. Age UK has mapped the risk of 
loneliness in the UK and ranked each neighbourhood within England. Applying their data to the 2016 
mid-year population estimates that there are 16,000 adults in Salford aged 65+ living in the most 
deprived national quintiles in respect to the risk of loneliness. This represents 44% of the 65+ Salford 
population. The ONS have also predicted loneliness based on the 2011 Census and place Salford as being 
the 16th worst local authority (of 326) in terms of risk of older adults being lonely.

Applying the Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014 estimates of common mental disorders to the 
Salford population shows that there are potentially 3,700 older adults with a mental health problem. 
This is likely to be an underestimate as it is based on the England average.

The number of people with a recorded diagnosis of dementia aged 65 and over in Salford has remained 
around 1,900 in 2017-18. This represents just over 5% of the Salford GP practice population aged 65 and 
over. 

What we will do

• Active contribution - Many people who are made redundant in their 50s never work again, despite 
trying for years. GM are encouraging employers to invest in and continue to train and employ people 
well into their 60’s. We want to provide workplaces that support health at work, create flexibility in 
roles if needed, and recruit, develop, promote and retain staff of every age. We want to implement 
policies and practices that support unpaid working carers. And we want an inclusive approach to 
supporting older adults to volunteer, including opportunities for older people to provide mentoring and 
peer support. There should be a focus on extending opportunities to remain engaged with creative, 
learning and cultural activities as we age. Language and imagery that stereotypes people in later life as 
feeble, not fit for work, lonely and incapable, or not deserving of health treatment ignores the huge 
diversity of backgrounds, experience and ambition of the millions of people who are older.

• Supporting independence - Adult Social Care (ASC) data indicates that 40% of the people diagnosed 
with dementia are supported in either a residential or community setting, which in turn is 22% of the 
total number of people supported by adult social care services in Salford. There are 239 people receiving 
Home Care and 58 people living in Extra Care who are recorded as living with dementia and are being 
helped to maintain independence. We will implement new ‘strengths based’ approaches to social care 
to enable people’s assessed need to be better match to their own abilities/potential, that of their family 

Page 27



20

and friend, and their local community. We will develop new support and care service models that 
respond to this ‘strengths based’ approach where service providers will proactively build the 
independence potential of people. We will enhance our offer and choice of enabling environments by 
working with Housing partners to improve homes and build new developments that are future proofed 
and technology enabled, for example, new Extra Care facilities and new Supported Housing.

• Falls prevention - Salford Postural Stability and Step Up is a programme for older people to manage 
their health and wellbeing and helps them reduce their risk of falls, especially those caused by non-
medical causes such as home hazards, ill-fitting or inappropriate shoes/slippers and lighting especially at 
night time where there are continence issues. The Fire and Rescue Safe and Well checks also contribute 
to identifying people at high risk of falls. Use of aids and adaptations will be expanded to support 
independence in the home and reduce falls.

Intergenerational work - We are working with Age UK Salford to re-shape their commissioned service to 
respond to our developing neighborhood approaches. This will ensure the skills and experience of Age 
UK Salford is aligned to and embedded in our neighborhood models, strengthening the relationships 
between the VCSE, statutory partners and local older people. There are now nine green and growing 
groups across Salford which have been set up through Age Friendly Salford in community spaces, 
sheltered housing schemes and care homes. One of the unexpected outcomes of the project has been 
the involvement of children and older people working together. The new Intermediate Care Unit that is 
being built on Stott Lane next door to  a nursery and will open in 2021 and creates exciting opportunities 
for further intergenerational work. We will work with the VCSE sector to develop strong connections 
between the generations, for example, between schools and Age UK Salford services, and also between 
schools and care homes.

• Eat, drink and live well – Salford Malnutrition Task Force will deliver the Eat, Drink and Live Well 
project which aims to raise awareness about the risks and signs of malnutrition and dehydration and 
creates opportunities to bring older people together to learn about eating well in later life and sharing 
food together to help reduce loneliness.

How we will measure progress

Dementia prevalence and admissions - The NHS England Dementia Prevalence Calculator estimated 
that in Salford in March 2015 the proportion of dementia cases that were classed as mild was 55%, 
moderate 33%, and severe 12%. Applying these proportions to the number of people estimated to have 
dementia in December 2017 indicates that 1,250 people have mild dementia, 740 have moderate 
dementia and 280 have severe dementia.

Salford will continue to measure dementia diagnosis rates. Over the last 3 years Salford has been in the 
top quartile nationally for dementia diagnosis rates and best performing in the North West. This may 
partly explain the high rate of emergency admissions for dementia compared to similar CCGs and 
Greater Manchester. Salford’s value in 2017/18 (5475 per 100,000) was significantly higher than England 
(3609) and the North West (4101). 

Page 28



21

Falls admissions - Salford has one of the highest rates of falls causing injuries requiring hospital 
admission amongst older people in Greater Manchester. One in three adults aged over 65 fall at least 
once a year. This means there are around 11,667 falls by people over 65 years old in Salford.

Quality of Care provision - There have been very significant improvements in the quality of care 
delivered by Salford care homes, as evidenced by a reduction in the percentage of care homes rated as 
Requires Improvement or Inadequate by the CQC from 62% in 2018 to 17% in 2020.

Homecare providers in Salford also show good CQC performance with over 80% of local provider being 
rated with Good or Outstanding.There have been very significant improvements in the quality of care 
delivered by Salford Care homes, as evidenced by a reduction in the percentage of care homes rated as 
Requires Improvement or Inadequate by the CQC from 62% to 17%.

Salford will continue to respond to the Care Act duty to ensure choice, quality and sufficiency in the 
adult social care market. We will develop a new approach to Market Shaping that will promote service 
co-design and innovation. 

Measures of Active Contribution – The Age Friendly Assessment for Salford (2018) adopted the 
following measures as indicators of inclusion and contribution of older people: 

 Public and private partners signed up to being age-friendly   
 Percentage of people who describe their area as being age-friendly  
 Employment rate of those aged 50-64 is comparable to national average 
 Number of those aged 50-64 who are in training or volunteering  
 The proportion of adult social care users and carers who have as much social contact as they 

would like 
 Rates of over 50 Salford residents who are “active” or “fairly active” 

Page 29



22

Salford offers the best possible care for Later life and Dying well

The term ‘end of life care’ is widely used to describe, not only the approach to care for people in the 
final dying phase, but also the care they require in the last twelve months of life. It relates to supporting 
carers and patients with advanced, progressive, incurable illness to live as well as possible before they 
die. This involves symptom control, including pain management, social, psychological, practical and 
spiritual support. The term supportive care is often used interchangeably with palliative and end of life 
care, but is increasingly being used to describe patients receiving care for a life-threatening illness, but 
not necessarily considered to be in their last year of life.

Why is it important

All individuals who are experiencing a life limiting illness should be supported to live as well as they can 
before they die.  They should be empowered to make important decisions about their care and wishes 
at this time. They should be treated with dignity, respect and conversations about their condition and 
care should be open and honest. If they are not able to make decisions for themselves, then those 
closest to them should be involved in planning their care. Appropriate and culturally sensitive care 
should be available to all those who need it regardless of their background, religion, race and gender or 
characteristics. 

The most recent national survey of bereaved people (VOICES, 2016) found that: 

 75% of bereaved people rate the quality of end of life care for their relative as outstanding. 
 69% of people rate hospital care as outstanding, excellent or good; care homes 82%, hospice 

care 79% and care at home 79%. 
 Ratings of poor quality of care are higher for those living in deprived areas. 
 33% report that the hospital services did not work well together with GPs and community 

services. 
 86% of people understood the information provided by healthcare professionals but 16% said 

they did not have time to ask questions. 
 74% of respondents felt hospital was the right place for the patient to die despite 3% of 

respondents stating patients wanted to die in hospital

What we will do

• Salford aspires to achieve the commitments included in the draft Greater Manchester Palliative and 
End of Life Care Framework. This Framework aims to ensure that models for delivering care are 
modern, fit for purpose, safe and sustainable whilst embracing innovation and technology. There are 12 
commitments, with a further four supporting system wide commitments, which have been co-produced 
by patients, unpaid carers and people with lived experience, and professionals from a range of services 
across Greater Manchester.  The Framework aims to improve outcomes for all individuals who are 
approaching the end of their lives, enabling choice regarding place of care and death, and improved 
quality of care and support in all settings.

Page 30



23

• The GM Framework does not specifically address the needs of children and young people (under 18) 
with palliative and end of life care needs.  While close alliances do exist between adult and children’s 
services, more work is being undertaken with families to support the planning of children and young 
people end of life and palliative care services and the transition to adult services.  

• Specialist palliative care services should be available for face to face contact seven days a week and 
advice should be available 24 hours a day. In-patient specialist palliative care provision should be 
available to those requiring it, with admissions seven days a week. Provision should be sustainable and 
equitable. In Salford, we are committed to embedding these fundamental standards and this is enabled 
through the local investment into the enhanced 7-day specialist palliative care service and hospice 
inpatient services delivered by Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust and St Ann’s Hospice. This has been 
successfully piloted over the past 2 years with the evaluation showing that patients and their carers 
value the enhanced service and hospital admissions are being prevented.

• We will enhance hospice and community support through senior medical provision at weekends, the 
development of an Advanced Practitioner role on the hospice in-patient unit, more nurse-led 
community clinics and a focus on the supportive and palliative care needs of the homeless.

• Salford will continue to support the annual National Dying Matters ‘Let’s Talk About It’ campaign. We 
need to harness the role of the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprises (VCSE) sector in order to 
support individuals with life limiting illness or experiencing bereavement and encourage conversations 
about death to help shift the culture around how we talk about and prepare for death. 

How we will measure progress

Salford Electronic Palliative Care Co-ordination System – Central to our ambition, is the identification of 
those individuals with a life-limiting and progressive illness who are in their last year of life, followed by 
the offer of care and advance care planning conversations, with the system capacity and capability to 
deliver this care and share relevant information digitally. A working group will examine digital tools for 
early recognition of palliative care patients and better coordination across settings to implement 
innovative solutions in this area. 

Salford Palliative and End of Life Care Action Plan - The implementation plan of the GM Framework 
includes a four-year approach, building on existing work within localities. Salford will develop an action 
plan against all domains of the GM framework and continuously assess ourselves against national 
standards, including those that are part of the National Audit of Care at the End of Life (NACEL), NICE 
quality standards and guidelines and the National Ambitions for Palliative and End of Life Care.

Quality Improvement - We will develop and engage in pioneering training and develop programmes for 
specialist and non-specialist staff.  Quality Improvement work, across different disease groups, will be 
undertaken by senior clinicians. We will develop commissioning plans in relation to children and young 
people with palliative and end of life care needs. We will continue to undertake local surveys of 
bereaved individuals and develop action plans for where improvements are indicated. 

Page 31



24

Salford places will promote health and wellbeing

Salford contains a rich and diverse range of parks, open spaces, rivers and canals with a large and 
significant part of the city being made up of green space. This includes over 30 parks and recreational 
grounds, two country parks, six local nature reserves and many play areas for people of all ages to enjoy. 
This provides a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of the people who visit them, whether for 
walking, taking part in other physical activity, socialising, events or to simply use the facilities and green 
spaces provided. 

Regeneration is transforming the city through iconic buildings, new infrastructure and public realm, 
houses, education, health facilities, businesses and shops. Examples include the £550 million Media 
City development at Salford Quays, £26 million Salford City Stadium and future associated development, 
and the start of works to build Port Salford which will potentially create up to 3,100 jobs.

The city’s rich cultural assets include the Lowry through to local community events; which enhance 
wellbeing and contribute to shaping Salford as a place to live, work and visit. RHS Bridgewater is a real 
cultural and green space asset opening in July 2020 and offers an extensive community programme 
(including free entry for Salford residents on Tuesdays).

Why is it important

Good quality natural landscape in urban areas can positively affect how people feel. It can reduce stress 
and sadness, lift mood and make people feel better. The benefits of both green and blue space (open 
water, rivers and canals), and the mechanisms by which they work, are varied. Some are the physical 
benefits from green infrastructure, for example improved air quality, less noise pollution and reduced 
risks from flooding or heat-waves. There are also the benefits to active users of these spaces, whether 
through physical activity or through children interacting with nature, and the impact on mental 
wellbeing, social networks and sustainable communities.

Stable, good quality housing is a protective factor for mental health and can be a vital element of 
recovery. Insecure poor quality housing causes stress, anxiety and depression and exacerbates existing 
mental health conditions. Poor quality housing can contribute to and exacerbate many long-term health 
conditions and poor mental health. 

What we will do

Continued investment and regeneration for the future is enabling further improvement and 
development of our green space to take place to create some inspiring new places that will have 
regional and national appeal and associated health benefits for our city: 

• RHS Bridgewater Garden- RHS Garden Bridgewater at Worsley New Hall covers a vast 154 acres.  It is 
the RHS’s fifth national garden and will create a new high profile asset for the city and region. The 
Garden will attract an estimated 700,000 visitors per annum by 2029, making it the second largest RHS 
garden both in size and by visitor numbers and will build on our visitor economy strengths as well as the 
popularity of horticultural attractions nationally. The first phase of the new Garden is scheduled to open 
in June 2019 with four further phases planned to be completed thereafter. Over time and subject to 

Page 32



25

funding the site will include the restoration of the acclaimed Nesfield terraced gardens, a new 
glasshouse on the former Worsley New Hall and a new Horticultural College and Learning Centre. This 
will forge links with regional educational bodies to run higher level RHS courses, showcase horticultural 
science, offer new apprenticeship and student programmes and links with schools and universities.  
From a health perspective RHS Bridgewater Gardens will help deliver better health outcomes by 
focusing on health priorities and offering a wide range of activities good for general health and specific 
health conditions.  For example, offering a therapeutic garden and personal green space for individuals 
and health groups.  The RHS has established a social prescribing project, the first of many anticipated, 
which is being evaluated by the University of Salford.  We will work to maximise the access and health 
benefits to Salford residents of RHS Bridgewater.

• City Forest Park- Seeks to connect our urban areas and city by providing a high quality landscape 
within the northern part of the Irwell Valley in Salford and extending into Bury. The area is rich in 
biodiversity whilst being roughly the same size and scale as Central Garden in New York and the largest 
public green space in our region. The area is underused but holds enormous potential to create a natural 
space for culture and the arts by regenerating the entire site. With over 160,000 people living within a 
one mile radius it can benefit local communities with positive economic and social impact. .  We will 
consider carefully the health and wellbeing benefits to take advantage of any planned improvements of 
the area.

• Bridgewater Canal masterplan – Over £7 million will have been invested in improvements to the 
Bridgewater Canal from 2010 – 2019, making it one of the largest single investments in the city’s green 
infrastructure over the last few years. By 2019 4.9 miles of towpath will have been upgraded to create a 
pedestrian and cycle friendly route linking a diverse range of communities to wider greenspace, schools, 
and to key employment and leisure destinations including Manchester City Centre.

• The Local Plan will replace the adopted Unitary Development Plan, to set out how Salford should 
develop up to 2035. The plan has specific health policies and a theme of health running through it. It 
identifies land allocations for particular uses or protective designations, sets out the main policies that 
will be used to determine planning applications, and provides support for key infrastructure and the 
protection of the city’s important environmental assets as well as what is expected and encouraged in 
new developments.  Supplementary Planning Documents for Environmental Protection, Affordable and 
Supported Housing, Health and Care Infrastructure Delivery Plans will be produced. We will continue to 
consider wellbeing, health and health services as part of the Local Plan.

• The Green City Programme – This comprehensive four year regeneration programme is designed to 
set the ambition, identify the opportunity and deliver Green Infrastructure within the city.  The 
programme seeks to create a step-change in the way GI is delivered in the city by creating a bold 
statement of intent; pioneering new standards for tree planting and Sustainable Urban Drainage.  The 
schemes will create environmental, social, health and economic benefits, improve air quality and help to 
attenuate flood risk. 

Page 33



26

• Vibrant District centres - The completion of Greengate Square and new innovative projects like The 
Soapworks and The Landing are underway, along with the £650 million scheme to 
transform Pendleton and the other town centres. Swinton is part of the National High Streets Task 
Force. A master plan for Eccles is under development, and neighbourhood deep dives in Walkden and 
Irlam. Licensing strategy will play a role in achieving the balance of mixed economy and family friendly 
places.

• Housing Strategy – This is a key areas of work, as there are clear links between housing and health and 
wellbeing. We want to improve the quality of our existing mainstream housing stock and future-proof 
new homes, ensuring they are built to be accessible and adaptable. With a growing proportion of older 
private renters, we want to improve conditions in the poorest quality private rented accommodation 
and identify ways of supporting low income owner-occupiers to access funds to repair and improve their 
homes. We will continue to work with housing providers and the private sector to deliver new 
affordable homes and tackle homelessness. We will strengthen our approach to supported housing to 
improve existing supported housing stock and build new facilities, including accelerated plans for 
additional Extra Care and to re-accommodate people who are placed out of the city back into Salford. 
We will work with landlords to ensure the services they deliver meet Salford’s agreed standards.

Physical Activity – ‘Transforming Salford into an Active City’ is our framework for reducing the high 
levels of physical inactivity that exist within the population. It is the blueprint for physical activity in 
Salford until 2022 and aligns with the GM Plan for physical activity ‘Greater Manchester Moving’ aiming 
for 75% of people being more active by 2025. Our focus is on active travel for communities, education 
and workplaces.

• Active Travel- Salford is at the forefront of creating active travel routes. Our plans to improve Chapel 
Street East and a number of other exciting schemes are well under way as part of the Made to Move 
‘Bee Network’ and funded through GM Mayor’s Challenge Fund. Our award winning traffic-free West 
Salford Cycle Network, Bridgewater Way, Port Salford Greenway and the loop lines are the ideal location 
to promote walking, cycling, and host to a wide range of activities.

• Climate change – We will work together across partners to demonstrate progress towards tackling the 
climate change emergency and improve our environment to reduce carbon, create sustainable energy, 
reduce waste, recycle and improve air quality. Our refreshed climate change and adaptation action plan 
will be overseen by the Climate Action Board and will reflect the GM five year environmental plan 
launched in 2019. This is in addition to our work on the Salford Air Quality Action Plan and the emerging 
GM Clean Air Plan. A ‘Local Green Deal’ will be part of the Inclusive Economy Strategy.  

How we will measure progress

The Community Safety Plan monitors various indicators for social cohesion, crime, substance misuse 
and antisocial behavior. As measures of positive social capital, we will measure participation in cultural 

Page 34



27

and lifestyle activities delivered by VCSE, local community groups, commissioned services, and the RHS 
programmes.  

Action on the environment will be monitored through the metrics in the Climate Change action plan 
and the Clean Air Plan. The Housing Strategy actions will report on affordable housing delivered and in 
the pipeline, and numbers supported to prevent and support homeless families and individuals. 

In the adult population Salford has seen an overall improvement in physical activity levels but no 
improvement for children and young people which, is the emphasis of a Sport England pilot consisting of 
a programme of six interlinked Salford projects.

Page 35



28

Communities and Neighbourhoods in Salford will promote health and 
wellbeing

Harnessing community strengths takes many forms and is supported by many groups and organisations.  
Salford Together is a consortium covering social care, primary care, community services, mental health 
services and VCSE services. Notable among the contributors are the broader VCSE sector, the Health 
Improvement Service (largely commissioned and provided in-house by Salford Council), and Salford 
Community Leisure (supported by a £1m grant from the Council, but otherwise self-funding).  

Why is it important

We aim to put people and communities at the heart of what we do, concentrating on what is most 
important to them and what strengths exist naturally in the places we serve. Salford is at the forefront in 
Greater Manchester of effective public sector partnerships with voluntary, community and social 
enterprise organisations (VCSEs). This has had many benefits for the city, for example in the recent 
development of the Social Value Pledge, in the promotion of the Living Wage Campaign and in the 
response to the December 2015 floods. 

Salford has a strong and vibrant VCSE sector. In 2017, there were an estimated 1,513 VCSE organisations 
in Salford, 77% of which were working to improve people’s wellbeing, health and care.  87% were small, 
with an annual income of £100,000 or less. 14% were social enterprises.  79% had at least one source of 
non-public funds, demonstrating that they bring additional resources into the Salford care networks.  
Others existed precariously on non-recurring funds: 43% having less than 3 months of running costs in 
reserves.  

The sector is supported by 46,500 volunteers, giving a total of 115,400 hours each week, and an 
estimated 2.4 million interventions with clients, users or beneficiaries in the previous year. Sector 
growth in the last 5 years has been supported by Salford CVS, whose role as a sector leader has been 
crucial in the development of strong and productive relationships between the VCSE and public sector in 
Salford. The Salford VCSE Manifesto highlights the ongoing contribution that VCSE organisations can 
make in Salford and challenges partners to continue to engage with and invest in the sector so that local 
people and communities can help to address the challenges and embrace the opportunities of the 
future as equal partners. 

What we will do

• The Great Eight priorities - Salford partners have committed to work together to tackle the wider 
determinants; and an ambitious programme of work is set out in the city’s Tackling Poverty and 
Inequality Strategy, our Work and Skills Strategy, and our Housing Strategy, and the Salford elements of 
the GM Local Industrial Strategy.  These strategies and the Locality Plan are mutually reinforcing, and 
together form a comprehensive set of actions to underpin improved health and wellbeing of people in 
the city. The city’s approach to economic development and growing a more Inclusive Economy is 

Page 36



29

designed to ensure that more of our resident are able to benefit from the economic, social and cultural 
opportunities in the city. We will enhance the role of Salford’s ‘anchor institutions’ that could 
significantly affect health and well-being in the city. We will pursue further opportunities for good work 
(including opportunities for those further away from the job market), fair remuneration and the real 
Living Wage. 

• Growing the VCSE sector - There are approximately 1,500 community organisations operating across 
the City, The majority are very small (with turnover of less than £100,000 per annum) or are ‘below the 
radar’ organisations that are not formally registered or incorporated. Of those VCSE organisations 
completing the State of the VCSE Sector 2017 survey and indicating that they worked within the health 
and social care sector, over half (54%) were working in mental health. In Salford all the GM Mental 
Health Transformation funding was invested with the VCSE sector. Salford Third Sector Consortium 
commenced delivery of the social prescribing element of the “Wellbeing Matters” programme in April 
2018.

• Wellbeing Matters – Salford VCSE has led a significant transformational programme of work under the 
heading of “Wellbeing Matters”.  The three work streams are Social prescribing, Capacity-building in the 
VCSE, and Adding social value. Salford now has a new infrastructure that links statutory caring services 
to VCSE activities. This work was supported by a £1.12 million grant over two years from the GM Health 
and Social Care Partnership. Pledges of 10% added social value are integral to all grants. Accountability is 
through Salford CVS and the Salford Social Value Alliance.  Delivery commenced in December 2018, with 
a target of 2,400 social prescribing referrals in two years. 226 organisations provide healthy activities.  
135 new volunteers have been recruited.  38 projects received “micro grants” to get started. 
“Community Connectors” are the precursor of “link workers” heralded in the NHS Long Term Plan and 
coming on stream shortly.  

• The five Primary Care Networks (PCNs) - In January 2019, NHS England and the British Medical 
Association published ‘A five-year framework for GP contract reform to implement The NHS Long Term 
Plan’.  This framework sets out a number of commitments for changes to the GP contract starting from 
April 2019, through to March 2024. A key commitment was that by July 2019, all of the population in 
England would be covered by Primary Care Networks (PCNs) as an essential building block of integrated 
care systems, with general practice taking the leading role. In Salford, 5 PCNs have been established on 
the same footprints as the historic neighbourhood working arrangements (Broughton; Eccles and Irlam; 
Ordsall and Claremont; Walkden and Little Hulton; and Swinton). For each PCN, there is now an 
identified clinical lead with three key objectives to extended opening hours and range of GP special 
interests for local people, to reduce professional isolation and facilitate shared learning and good 
practice, and to greatly enhance “social prescribing” through the existing community connectors and the 
incoming link workers. Multidisciplinary teams will work together in each of the neighbourhoods to 
deliver enhanced care wrap around to support patients in the community.

• Elective care reform – Initiatives for Better Care are ongoing. Pathways of care are being reviewed to 
maximise the opportunity of integrated care and to best utilise the current bed base in SRFT and the 
wider hospital system in GM.   

Page 37



30

• The Digital Strategy - Through the city’s Digital Strategy, we will explore the development of a digital 
skills pipeline and health and care skills pipeline. Our Learning City programme seeks to activate a 
grassroots, mass-engagement movement around learning and skills to close gaps in opportunity and 
promote lifelong learning. We will develop My City Salford as the digital enabling platform for all of our 
city and neighbourhood delivery of services. 

• The strategy for Culture, Creativity and Place is being finalised under the auspices of the Salford 
Culture and Place Partnership who have a proven track record in regeneration and wider benefits to 
health and wellbeing. We will continue to work with Salford Community Leisure, Health Improvement 
Service and related partners to broaden reach and demonstrate tackling of inequality, including through 
the use of community activities, culture, arts, sport and physical activity. 

• Coproduction - The value of co-production is recognised where power and decision-making is shared 
equally between decision-makers and citizens (including children and young people). We will continue 
to engage with citizens and communities and work towards genuine co-production where possible on 
our priorities and services. We will work together to safeguard the most vulnerable.

How we will measure progress

A Health and Wellbeing Survey is planned in 2020/21 for Salford residents. This will focus on Lifestyle 
indicators, Place and Community. The UK Census in 2021 will supply detailed up to date information 
about our residents which will be extremely valuable for planning and services. Census findings will be 
released in stages over 2-3 years so the Salford Health and Wellbeing Survey will be timely and more 
focused on the specific health indicators not covered in the census. Delivery of the Locality Plan will 
contribute towards Salford becoming a Marmot City in line with the GM ambition.

Transformation Funding - Salford is nearing the end of a programme of work trialing new services 
funded by transformation monies. This year we will be moving towards having recurrently funded 
services which will incorporate or take the place of new and existing services. New and established 
services are being evaluated and reviewed in ‘bundles’ e.g. Community care, Urgent care. Following 
these evaluations, decisions will be made on the configuration of services going forward and these will 
be implemented from 2020/21. 

Social Impact - Health and social care is one of the three sectors in which the majority of low earners 
work (together with retail and wholesale, and hospitality, tourism and sport). Salford intends to become 
a Living Wage health and well-being system, including all Health and Wellbeing Board members being 
accredited Living Wage employers by 2021. Further commitments through procurement and 
commissioning will be monitored through the council’s Social Impact Report and which could potentially 
be adopted by other partners across the city. As part of the inclusive economy work, measures of 
investment in the local economy will be monitored; such as numbers and growth of social enterprises 
and start-ups, and employment rates for those further away from the job market. 

Page 38



31

Partners in Salford will work together to Enable Transformation 

This Locality Plan cannot fully reflect the vast array of work ongoing day after day within Salford to 
improve health and wellbeing.  Some of this work is linked directly to health and social care services for 
local people, however much is outside this immediate sphere, but with significant impacts on improving 
health and wellbeing. Here is an illustrative, but not exhaustive, list of the range of the local strategies, 
priorities and plans that have a positive effect of the health and wellbeing of people in Salford:

 The City Mayor’s “Great Eight” priorities 

(SCC)

 No one left behind: Tackling Poverty in 

Salford (SCC, Joint Strategy City Mayor 

and Youth Mayor)

 Salford City Council’s Medium Term 

Financial Plan

 Poverty Truth Commission

 Salford Social Value Alliance and 10% 

Better Campaign

 Social Value and Sustainability Policy 

(SCC)

 City Mayor’s Employment Charter (SCC)

 The NHS Long Term Plan

 Taking Charge: The Next 5 Years (GM 

HSCP)

 Our People Our Place:  Greater 

Manchester Strategy (GMCA)

 Quality and Safety Strategy (CCG)

 Social Value Strategy (CCG)

 Equality Strategy (CCG)

 Communication, Engagement and Social 

Marketing Strategy (CCG)

 Innovation and Research Strategy (CCG)

 Primary Care Workforce Strategy (CCG)

 Salford Mental Health All Age Integrated 

Commissioning Strategy (SCC and SCCG)

 Salford CVS Strategic Plan (SCVS)

 Carers’ Strategy

 Suicide Prevention Strategy

Why is it important

The Locality Plan is Salford’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and will be used to inform business 
plans for the key partner agencies. In order to maintain accountability to the stakeholder groups with an 
interest in this Plan, and for oversight by members of the Health and Wellbeing Board, performance 
reporting will include quarterly progress reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board. Reporting will focus 
on themes and outcomes which will show how this Locality Plan is performing in terms of achieving its 
vision for the people of Salford.

While delivery of this Locality Plan depends on the specific initiatives outlined in previous chapters, 
there remain a number of cross-cutting enablers that will facilitate delivery of the Plan through our 
workforce, estate, supportive technology, and our focus on quality and social value.

Page 39



32

What we will do

• For Social value, we will

 Invest in and work collaboratively with VCSE and other local providers to increase reach, 
outcomes and impact through procurement commitments and beyond the statutory minimums 

 Commit to the 11 measures of the 10% Better campaign, run by Salford Social Value Alliance.
 As part of the Inclusive Economy Strategy, we will develop an evaluation model and reporting 

tool to assess return on investment and added social value, with greater precision (including 
ascribing monetary value in business cases and tendering where possible)

 Develop a “Social Capital Account” for Salford and assess its components, growth, deployment 
and return on investment

• For quality care, we will:

 Continue to drive improvements through the refreshed integrated Quality and Safety Strategy. 
Revised priorities to continue to drive improvements in safety will be agreed by senior leaders 
from organisations across Salford.  

 Continue our support to care homes 
 Continue the focus on improving medicines safety
 Re-focus on safer handover work to support the interface between hospital and care homes
 Undertake improvement work targeted at supporting vulnerable adults 

• For elective care, we will:

 Continue to engage with the Greater Manchester initiative for Improving Specialist Care (ISC) in 
Cardiology, Paediatric Surgery, Breast Services, and Neuro-Rehabilitation; so that when new 
models of care are agreed and implemented, the needs of Salford’s residents are fully 
accounted for.

 Work with the Greater Manchester Elective Care Reform programme to reduce demand for 
elective care, standardise the approach to referral and make more efficient use of available 
capacity (Ophthalmology, Gastroenterology and Dermatology)

 Respond to local priorities for elective care transformation through the Salford Scheduled Care 
programme. We will progress projects to address local issues for example changes to local 
elective orthopaedic pathways and the establishment of community based alternatives to 
hospital cardiology clinics.

 Seek to reduce the total number of Salford residents waiting for elective care, eradicate waits of 
52 weeks or more, and a long term aim of avoiding one-third of outpatient attendances through 
the use of technology and only offering appointments that are clinically necessary.

Page 40



33

• For our estate, we will:

 Complete the Locality Asset Review and refresh the Salford Locality Estate Strategy. Business 
cases will be developed for the hub schemes in Lower Broughton and Irlam and Cadishead to 
ensure these areas are served by high quality premises similar to those in other areas of Salford.

 Embark on a programme of utilisation improvement and cost avoidance across the Salford 
community and primary care estate, as a key element of the Salford Best Value programme, 
including digitalization and mapping of sessional bookable rooms across. The CCG will 
investigate digitisation of patient records as a means to releasing scarce estate capacity for 
clinical use.

• For our workforce, we will:

 Become England’s first living wage city with plans to double the number of living wage 
employers by 2022

 Maximise diversity, access and participation ensuring this includes young people in Salford by 
further expanding and embedding apprenticeships and other routes to health and care careers, 
as well as supporting the skills development of existing staff  

 Expand the workforce and the proportion of roles delivering community based care
 Review and maximise the contribution of the non-registered and social care workforce (carers) 

through the delivery of a focused action plan to address the issues faced by this workforce

• For our supportive technology, we will:

 Enable free wifi access for school age children through Connected City network upgrades, 5G 
roll out and Fibre initiatives

 Improve digital maturity in health and social care through a Digital Roadmap to eliminate paper 
and need for fax communications, digitise medical records, and deliver the target for 30% 
outpatient appointments to be delivered via non face to face means. 

 Engage with care homes and smaller providers bring them into the NHS and care digital family 
and paper light processes

 Ensure single sign on for all professionals in Salford to the Salford Integrated Record (now the 
GM Care Record)

 Add social care data to the care record and develop the record for maximum benefit in 
dementia, frailty, the 0-25 programme across GM, and integrate child protection systems to 
replace dozens of legacy systems

Through research and innovation, we will develop and innovate on our programmes of:

 Population Health (currently focused on early cancer diagnosis – uptake of screening and 
prevention – Immunisation/vaccination)

Page 41



34

 Safety Improvement (currently focused on medicines safety (particularly Antimicrobial 
Resistance), Safer Care Homes and data intelligence for safety)

 Social Value & Engagement (currently focused on reducing the environmental impact of health 
and care)

 Workforce Development (currently focused on new roles in primary care)
 Northern Care Alliance We note and support the commitment to “data-driven, population 

health risk stratification”.

How we will measure progress

Progress has been made in a number of indicators from the previous locality plan and others are 
ongoing. This is summarised in the Appendix 1. 

An overview of the main priorities and indicators for 2020-25 is given in Appendix 2.

We will monitor the financial implications of the Locality Plan. The impact of delivering and investing 
in the priority areas identified in the locality plan has been assessed and closes the financial gap within 
Salford locality. The table below shows that that £72m of the 2023/24 locality gap could be closed 
based on current plans and schemes that have already been identified. 

Closing the Locality Financial Gap 

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£m £m £m £m

Baseline Position: Do Nothing Locality Gap -£52 -£65 -£80 -£93

Impact of Best Value: Children's Redesign £6 £6 £6 £6
Impact of Best Value: Adults Transformation £5 £5 £5 £5
Impact of All other Best Value Schemes £2 £4 £4 £9
Impact of Provider Efficiencies and Reform £12 £25 £39 £52
One Off Funding for Providers (Provider Sustainability Funding) £10
Impact of Interventions £35 £40 £54 £72

Remaining Gap: Recurrent Locality Shortfall After 
Interventions -£17 -£25 -£26 -£21

Whilst significant work has been undertaken to date to identify opportunities and schemes that will help 
to address the locality’s financial challenge, the full financial gap has not yet been closed.  Closing the 
financial gap in full will be predicated on the service models delivering the expected outcomes and 
reducing demand pressures, the ability of providers to achieve year on year efficiency savings, and 
availability of non-recurrent investment for alternative models of care. 

Page 42



35

We will continue to work together to maximise the benefit of our pooled budget and partnership 
arrangements to close the locality gap.

Page 43



36

We will work together to Deliver our Locality Plan

We can all take steps to improve our own health and wellbeing. In delivering the Locality Plan, everyone 
will play their part. “Making a contribution” is one of the five “ways to wellbeing”; along with the other 
four ways: taking notice (mindfulness), learning, connecting with others, and being active.  

Why is it important

From the outset, this refresh has been a collaborative effort through the involvement of members of the 
public, VCSE, elected members, employees and leaders of statutory agencies like NHS and Council, and 
experts from the fields of education and business.   A significant theme that emerged from consultation 
was that of focussing on strengths and assets rather than needs and limitations. The plan therefore has 
a strong emphasis on prevention and maintaining health and wellbeing, alongside the provision of 
services for those in need.   

Under the auspices of the Health and Wellbeing Board a learning event was conducted in July 2019 on 
the theme of co-production: what it meant, who was involved and what difference it could make.  There 
have also been well-attended public meetings – one in particular was live-streamed on Facebook and 
Twitter with contributions coming in from those following remotely.  A large on-line survey brought in 
further insights.   Systematic feedback has been gleaned from Healthwatch over the past three years.  

We have asked specific questions about values and aims, and invited ideas for innovation and 
improvement.  In addition to this ground-level local feedback we have taken note of guidance and 
expectations of Greater Manchester and its partnerships, of the NHS, of national policies and legislation, 
and of published evidence of effectiveness from the professional and scientific literature.  

All sectors of the NHS were consulted: primary care, community care, mental health and hospitals, with 
especially large contribution from primary care and Salford’s NHS Clinical Commissioning Group, as is 
appropriate in their role as planners and providers.  The major elements of the NHS Long Term Plan and 
the priorities of Greater Manchester have been included, with a special focus on mental health.

What we will do

Monitoring the locality plan since its inception in 2016 has been a standing agenda item for the Health 
and Wellbeing Board.  This role will continue.  This Plan is supplemented by an implementation plan 
setting out measurable milestones and accountable officers.  Progress will also be reported via the 
network of Boards, Governing Bodies and Commissioning Committees that make up the partnerships in 
Salford.  Beyond that, there are lines of formal and informal accountability to Greater Manchester, 
regulators such as Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission, and Government Departments.  

Page 44



37

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board will: 

•Provide leadership and direction and actively promote collective responsibility for delivering 

outcomes.

•Provide a publicly accountable forum for decision making.

•Challenge each other on what we are doing to reduce inequalities, improve health and wellbeing and 

ensure sustainable services.

Commissioners and providers of health & care services will:

•Provide and commission services which support the priorities of the Salford Locality Plan

•Make plans with people, understanding their needs and involving them in designing joined-up 

services around the needs of local populations.

•Target resources for maximum impact.

•Work collaboratively in the interests of Salford and provide the best quality services possible, making 

the most effective use of our collective resource in the city.

•Ensure that sufficient resource is allocated to prevention and to interventions which aim to reduce 

demand both in the short and long term.

Page 45



38

Partnership Boards, Groups and Key Projects will:

•Support local communities to be healthy, safe and sustainable.

•Ensure equality of opportunity to access the resources required to improve life chances.

•Work together to protect vulnerable members of the community.

•Ensure resources are targeted for greatest impact.

•Promote a strength-based approach to creating local solutions.

•Work together to strengthen our new joint arrangements and models.

Local Communities will:

•Be engaged in designing and delivering the services that affect their lives.

•Play their part in looking after the local area and developing their strength and connectivity. 

Individuals will:

•Value being and feeling well

•Take responsibility for their own health and wellbeing by understanding and implementing those 

lifestyle choices that will keep them independent and well.

•Feel part of the wider community in Salford and Greater Manchester.

•Access the services they need in a timely and appropriate way.

How we will measure progress

Overall oversight of the key plans and programmes aimed at delivering the priorities within the Locality 
Plan sits with the Health and Wellbeing Board. We will use governance structures and multi-agency 
strategic groups in place across the city to monitor whether programmes are on track and there is 
momentum around delivery.

Page 46



39

What will you pledge to do?

I will use ‘My City Salford’ to find local services, events, advice and support in Salford 
www.mycitysalford.com 

I will drink less and use the online resources available to help me 
www.nhs.uk/oneyou/for-your-body/drink-less/ 

I will keep learning and take/sign up for a course on...

I will use the Active 10 app to incorporate 10 minute bursts of brisk walking into my daily 
life www.nhs.uk/oneyou/active10/home

I will shift from ‘Couch to 5k’ and download the app to help me www.nhs.uk/oneyou/apps/#days-off

I will Know my numbers and go and get my blood pressure checked www.bloodpressureuk.org 

I will go for my flu jab when called to protect myself and my family

I will stop smoking using the NHS smokefree app for 4 weeks, meaning I am 5 times more likely to 
quit for good www.nhs.uk/smokefree

I will go for my cancer screening appointment when I’m invited so that I am 'Clear on Cancer' 
www.nhs.uk/be-clear-on-cancer

As a family we will make healthy home cooked meals for less using apps that are available to help us 
www.nhs.uk/change4life/recipes  www.nhs.uk/Tools/Pages/easy-meals.aspx

I will take control of my day to day stress and anxiety using simple techniques using the Thrive' app 
www.thrive.uk.com

I will take up the invite to have an NHS Health Check so that early signs of developing heart disease, 
stroke, diabetes and other chronic conditions can be spotted www.healthcheck.nhs.uk

Page 47

http://www.nhs.uk/oneyou/active10/home
http://www.nhs.uk/smokefree
http://www.nhs.uk/change4life/recipes


40

As an organization, we will work towards achieving the Workplace Wellbeing Charter 
www.wellbeingcharter.org.uk 

As a school we will introduce the Daily Mile www.thedailymile.co.uk

I will replace short car journeys with walking or cycling at least once a week

I will look after my emotional wellbeing and use the resources on My City Salford site to help me 
www.mycitysalford.com

I will make use of the top tips for ‘Stay Well’ www.nhs.uk/staywell and ‘One You’ campaigns 
promoted during the year www.nhs.uk/oneyou/ 

I will make use of the top tips for recycling, housing and health as promoted on ‘My City Salford’

I will explore volunteering opportunities to contribute to my local community

I will aim to only use emergency services such as A&E and ambulances when absolutely necessary

I will make better use of local green space and parks and gardens to help improve my overall 
wellbeing

I will look after myself as I get older, by incorporating exercise into my week to keep me strong and 
making sure I stay connected to my community

 

Page 48



41

APPENDIX 1: Progress from the previous locality plan in 2016

Strategic Intent in 2016 
Locality Plan

Update (at November 2019)

Too many people live in 
highly deprived areas.

“Highly deprived” is defined as the most 
disadvantaged 10% of small areas in the country.  
45 of Salford’s 150 small areas meet this 
definition (compared to 43 previously).  31% of 
the population (77,733 residents) live in those 45 
areas. The overall position is little changed in the 
last few years but with some movement 
between areas, and some progress on health 
and employment indicators, offset by 
deterioration in others.  The slightly faster 
growth in population in highly deprived areas 
has also contributed to the upward trend.

Reduce the number of 
children in poverty.

Child poverty has seen a fall from 26.8% to 
21.1% between 2014 and 2016.  Despite a 
growing population there are at least 2,000 
fewer children in poverty in 2016 (latest figure) 
compared to 2014. Halving child poverty in nine 
years is not on track but the trend suggests it 
could be at 19.2% or 2,400 fewer children in 
poverty by 2021 compared to 2014.

The current national child poverty indicator has 
been discontinued.  A new measure will be 
introduced in Spring 2020. It is unclear how this 
will allow trends to be tracked.

P
age 49



42

Our success rates at 
GCSEs are amongst the 
lowest in England

This remains the case.  We have the 3rd lowest 
average Attainment 8 score and 3rd lowest 
average Progress 8 score out of 150 LAs in 
England (2019)

8.8 per 1,000 working 
age population were in 
receipt of Job Seekers’ 
Allowance (JSA) over 12 
months 

That has fallen to 4.4 per 1000 in 2017. Future 
data are likely to be not comparable due to 
Universal Credit replacing JSA.

Reliable trend data isn’t available due to the full service roll out of 
Universal Credit, which took place in Salford in September 2018.

People living in poorer 
areas live up to 14 years 
fewer than those living 
in our richer areas.  
(2013-17 data: 10.9 
years for females, 11.4 
year for males)

The inequalities gap in life expectancy has 
narrowed to 7.2 years for women and remains 
unchanged at 11.2 years for men (2015-17), 
though the gap is still too wide and unjustifiable.

Life expectancy for males and females is highest 
(best) in Worsley, Boothstown, and Claremont 
(and Clifton for females only).  It is lowest 
(worst) in Barton, Broughton, Irwell Riverside, 
and Pendleton

 

P
age 50



43

Smoking rates will 
reduce, with the effect 
of 7,500 fewer smokers

Smoking rates have been steadily falling for a 
number of years. In 2016 the rate was 20.3% of 
adults (39,300 smokers). Reducing this by 7,500 
would mean 31,800 smokers by 2021, equivalent 
to a rate of 15.8% adult smokers. The rate in 
2018 was 20.0%, which, due to population 
increase, is 200 smokers more than the 2016 
baseline.  

Quit rates amongst expectant mothers have 
fallen faster.

P
age 51



44

400 fewer overweight 
11 year olds

In 2016 there were 985 overweight or obese 11 
year olds in Salford, equating to 39.6% of those 
measured. To achieve a reduction of 400 would 
require a rate of approximately 21%. The latest 
figure is for 2019 when 1039 (37.6%) 11 year 
olds were overweight or obese.

At least 56 fewer 
premature deaths from 
cancer (under age 75) 
per year

There has been a falling trend in premature 
deaths from cancer over the last 15 years. In the 
last few years that improvement has slowed. In 
order to reduce deaths by 56 per year Salford 
would need to see a rate of around 68 deaths 
per 100,000 population. The latest rate is 106 
deaths per 100,000 residents (2016-18). Current 
projections suggest a reduction of around 30 
premature deaths per year compared to 2016.

Indicator: Under 75 mortality rate from cancer 
considered preventable.

P
age 52



45

31 fewer premature 
deaths per year from 
infectious diseases like 
flu, measles and 
hepatitis

The indicator definition was changed in May 
2016, having previously included pneumonia 
(ICD 10 J12-J18).  There has been a slight rise in 
preventable mortality in recent years. In order to 
reduce deaths by 31 per year Salford would 
need to see a rate of around 4 deaths per 
100,000 population. The latest data gives a rate 
of 19 deaths per 100,000 residents (2016-18). 
Current projections suggest an increase of 
around 8 deaths per year compared to 2016.

Indicator: Mortality rate from a range of 
specified communicable diseases, including 
influenza.

20 fewer premature 
deaths from heart 
disease per year

There has been a falling trend in deaths from 
heart disease over the last 15 years. In the last 
few years that improvement has slowed. In 
order to reduce deaths by 20 per year Salford 
would need to see a rate of around 54 deaths 
per 100,000 population. The latest data gives a 
rate of 64 deaths per 100,000 residents (2016-
18). Current projections suggest we are on 
target to achieve our ambition.

Indicator: Under 75 mortality rate from 
cardiovascular diseases considered preventable.

P
age 53



46

6 fewer premature 
deaths from preventable 
liver disease per year

There has been a falling trend in deaths from 
liver disease over the last 15 years. In the last 
few years that improvement has slowed. In 
order to reduce deaths by 6 per year Salford 
would need to see a rate of around 19 deaths 
per 100,000 population. The latest rate is 24 per 
100,000 (2016-18). Current projections suggest a 
reduction of around 2 deaths per year compared 
to 2016.

Indicator: Under 75 mortality rate from liver 
disease considered preventable.

17 fewer premature 
deaths from respiratory 
diseases, like pneumonia 
or lung disease per year

There has been a fluctuating trend in deaths 
from respiratory over the last 15 years, with a 
slight increase in recent years. In order to reduce 
deaths by 17 per year Salford would need to see 
a rate of around 27 deaths per 100,000 
population. The latest rate is 39 deaths per 
100,000 residents (2016-18). Current projections 
suggest a reduction of around 6 deaths per year 
compared to 2016.

Indicator: Under 75 mortality rate from 
respiratory disease considered preventable.

P
age 54



47

95% of people who go to 
A&E will be seen within 
four hours

SR FT last hit 95% in August 2015. Over the last 
available 12 months (Oct-18 to Sep-19) Salford 
Royal has seen 82.9% of patients within the four 
hour target. In order for Salford to have hit the 
95% objective this would have meant seeing an 
extra 14,350 patients within four hours.

92% of people will wait 
no longer than 18 weeks 
for treatment after a GP 
referral

SRFT last met the 92% target in August 2018. 
Over the last available 12 months (Oct-18 to 
Sep-19) 88.6% of patients have been referred to 
treatment within 18 weeks. In order for Salford 
to have hit the 92% target then a further 18,350 
patients would have had to have been referred 
within 18 weeks.

P
age 55



48

Increase the number of 
people diagnosed with 
early dementia

in the early stages of the 
disease will increase to 
90%

There are no reliable figures for “early” diagnosis 
of dementia, but the overall dementia diagnosis 
rate in Salford is currently (2019) 84.8% which 
implies a higher than average detection rate 
than for England (68.7%). The Salford value was 
the 8th highest in England.

The number of people 
who are checked for the 
early signs of cancer will 
increase by 30%. 

The proportion of people who were checked for 
early diagnosis between 2012 and 2017 varied 
between (40% and 52%). Based on that 
experience, the most ambitious projection for 
the next five years (i.e. by 2022) would be an 
increase by 17% from the 2017 value.

2017 figures: Salford 46.8%, England: 52.2%

Nationally the best performers manage around 
61% early diagnosis. We’d need to exceed this 
rate to increase the number diagnosed early by 
30%.  (source PHOF 2.19)

There has been an annual increase of around 
2.1% in the numbers screened for cancer. About 
two-thirds of this is due to population growth 
(1.5% annually for these cohorts). 

P
age 56



49

There will be £45m 
annual investment in 
mental health services 
to make sure people get 
the help they need as 
quickly as possible

Comparable figures in health and social care in 
mental health are difficult to source, but mental 
health is by a wide factor the largest area of 
spend by Salford CCG, accounting for about £1 in 
every £6.

Graph or infographic to be inserted

Emergency admissions 
to hospital will be 
reduced by 20%

The most ambitious achievable reduction in next 
five years would be 11%, based on the Q4 
2018/19 number of admissions of 9,663

The trend over recent years has been an annual 
increase of around 1.3%.

10,178

7,500

8,000

8,500

9,000

9,500

10,000

10,500

Emergency Admissions by Quarter, Salford Royal Foundation Trust
2015-16 Q2 to 2019-20 Q3

Source: NHS England

P
age 57



50

85% of over 65s will 
have the flu vaccination 
every year

This was an ambitious projection. Using the 
exponential smoothing methodology, we may 
estimate the flu coverage to be around 76% in 
the next five years, based on the experience of 
the coverage between 2011/12 and 2018/19

2018/19 figure: 73.6% of over 65s.  Some 
vaccinations done privately may be missing from 
the uptake figures.

(England rate 72.0%)

P
age 58



51

APPENDIX 2: Overview of Priorities and Indicators 2020-25

Priorities Indicators
Starting Well
Children in Salford will have the Best Early Start:
Saving Babies Lives
Salford Early Years Delivery Model
Early Help and Integrated Working 
Transforming Care and Neurodevelopmental Pathway

Perinatal mental health
Pregnancy and Newborn screening 
Low Birth Weight and Smoking at time of delivery
Infant mortality
School readiness at age 5
Early childhood vaccinations

Children and Young People will Develop Well in Salford
Earlier identification of Emotional Wellbeing needs
Childhood Obesity and Oral Health
Immunisation
No Wrong Door
Domestic abuse
Neglect strategy

Childhood obesity at Reception and year 6
School immunisation rates
Attainment in English and Maths at key Stage 4
Children in care outcomes and transitions
Young people NEET and Teenage conceptions
Safeguarding outcomes 
Hospital admissions due to substance misuse and self-harm

Living Well
People will value being and feeling well in Salford
Access to IAPT services
The Living Well pilot
Suicide Prevention
Early diagnosis of Cancer
Diabetes education
Sexual health
Supporting people with Learning Disability and Mental 
illness

Smoking prevalence in high risk groups, Smoking attributable mortality
Alcohol related hospital admissions, Alcohol related mortality
Successful completion of treatment for alcohol, opioids and non-opioids
Access to IAPT and recovery
Mortality rate from Suicide and injury undetermined
Cancer and cardiovascular disease incidence and mortality
Bowel, Breast and Cervical Cancer Screening rates
New diagnoses of sexually transmitted infections, Contraceptive use
Salford Standard outcomes in primary care
Gap in employment rate for people with Long term conditions, Learning Disability, 
and Mental Illness

Carers in Salford will be supported to be and feel well
Supporting Working carers
Carers in hospital
Neighbourhoods model and use of Technology

Respite care
Health checks for carers
Measures of wellbeing for carers

P
age 59



52

Priorities Indicators
Ageing Well 
People in Salford will live independent Active Older Age
Active Contribution
Supporting Independence
Intergenerational work
Eat, drink and live well
Falls prevention

Life expectancy at age 65
Dementia prevalence and admissions
Admissions due to falls and broken neck of femur
Excess winter mortality and Flu immunisation uptake
Quality of Care in care homes and home care providers 
Measures of Active Contribution

Salford offers best care for Later life and Dying well
Palliative and End of Life Care Framework
Children and young people end of life 
Enhanced specialist palliative and hospice inpatient 
service
Hospice and community support
National Dying Matters ‘Let’s Talk About It’ campaign

Place of death
National Audit of Care at the End of Life (NACEL), 
NICE quality standards and guidelines 
National Ambitions for Palliative and End of Life Care.

Places, Communities and Neighbourhoods
Salford places will promote health and wellbeing
New green developments like RHS Bridgewater
The Local Plan & Supplementary Planning Documents
Housing Strategy
The Green City programme
Vibrant district centres
Physical Activity and Active Travel
Climate Change

Community safety indicators, including substance misuse, violent crime, hate crime 
and antisocial behaviour
Participation in lifestyle activities and cultural activities
Adults undertaking the CMO minimum recommended physical activity per week
Affordable housing and new housing delivery
Homelessness preventions and Households in temporary accommodation
Clean Air Plan - exceedances in NOx and particulates
Carbon footprint or reductions

Communities and Neighbourhoods in Salford will 
promote health and wellbeing
The Great Eight priorities and a Marmot City
Supporting the VCSE sector
Wellbeing Matters
Primary Care Networks
Enhanced Care in the community
Digital Strategy 
Strategy for Culture, Creativity and Place

Health and Wellbeing Survey 2020/21, and the UK Census 2021
Male and Female Life expectancy and ward inequalities
All age all cause mortality, and Mortality considered preventable
Childhood poverty, Food and Fuel poverty 
Evaluation of new health care models
Investment into VCSE sector
Progress towards Living Wage health and wellbeing economy
Social Impact reports
Numbers and growth of social enterprises and start-ups

P
age 60



53

Priorities Indicators
Enablers
Partners in Salford will Enable Transformation
Social value
Quality care
Estates and Workforce
Supportive and Assistive Technology
Improving Specialist Care and Elective Care reform
Salford Scheduled Care 

Research and innovation
Antimicrobial resistance and medicines safety
Safer care homes and quality audits
Waiting Times and Numbers waiting
Numbers of outpatient attendances 
Environmental impact of health and care 
Locality Financial monitoring

We will work together to Deliver our Locality Plan
Role of the Health and Wellbeing Board
Commissioners and providers of health & care services 
Partnership Boards, Groups and Key Projects
Local communities and Individuals

Quarterly themed reports to H&WB Board
Annual Locality report and Core JSNA
Annual Public Health Report

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Salford Thrive Plan
2015 – 2020

Salford’s Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Service Transformation Plan

Update March 2020

Page 63

Agenda Item 9a



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

2
V1 (03.02.20)

Contents

Foreword

1 Executive summary P.

2 Introduction and local context P.

3 Service Activity and performance P.

4 Finance and Investment P.

5 Salford All-age Mental Health Strategy update P.

6 Our Ambitions – what we have achieved last year? P.

7 Summary of Priorities for next year (2020-21) P.

8 Appendices P.

9 Glossary of Abbreviations P.

Page 64



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

3
V1 (03.02.20)

We want the Children and Young People of Salford to live happy, confident lives and to 
reach their full potential. It is important that they develop resilience and emotional health and 
wellbeing as they move into adulthood and that they are able to contribute fully to our 
society. 

It seems that despite improvements made over the years there is still evidence that too 
many of our Children and Young People struggle with mental health issues and that they are 
not always able to access services which might support them early in their need meaning 
that they end up in crisis and requiring longer term and more in depth interventions from 
specialist services. In Salford we are committed to improving this..

We are absolutely committed to, and recognise the value and importance of promoting good 
mental health in Children, Young People and their families and to make sure everyone 
knows where to get help and what services are on offer. 

We want our children and young people to Thrive and have decided to entitle our latest 
report ‘Salford Thrive Plan update 2020’ (previously known as ‘CAMHS Transformation 
Plan’) this combines all work in Salford focused on children and young people’s emotional 
health and wellbeing and child and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS) 
transformation into a single plan, reflecting the progress made in Salford for integrated 
commissioning arrangements for this joint local priority. This plan goes on to describe this 
work in more detail and its content is to be welcomed as we go on a journey with the 
Children and Young People in our City.

In Salford we now have an Integrated Commissioning Agreement across health and care 
and Pooled Budgets since April 2019, this allows us flexibility and freedom to ensure a 
joined up whole system response to meeting the emotional health and wellbeing needs of 
our population. 

We work closely with our partners across Greater Manchester to support developments and 
seek shared understanding and solutions to commissioning, shared learning and 
development of innovation. 

We want to listen and respond to the voices of the City and co-produce solutions for children 
and have been working with a number of community groups to develop approaches to 
improve that, via our Seldom Heard groups supported by Salford CVS, Health Watch and 
our local youth council. We constantly check and recheck our direction of travel but we have 
more to do. 

We have had a number of inspections and reviews which help check our compliance with 
National Requirements including a CQC Inspection in 2018 for our CAMHS service which 
was judged as Outstanding and SEND Ofsted and CQC inspection in 2019 (for which we are 
awaiting the final report). We have also contributed to a Local Government Peer Review 
process 2019 which spoke highly of the levels of cooperation and integration in the City. 

We are proud of our collaborative work with our partners and commissioned services our 
performance and delivery is improving, we are working closely on our performance 
monitoring and quality standards and are keen to progress this with the wider system. 

Foreword

Page 65



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

4
V1 (03.02.20)

We are proud of the work we have achieved in partnership over the last five years. We have 
more to do in terms of development of our Thriving Families Neglect work, our inclusion 
strategy and work on Adverse Childhood Experiences, supported by more integrated 
neighbourhood working. All of these developments will really help shape a system which 
seeks to prevent mental distress, build resilience and respond when a need is identified 
building on family strengths. 

Charlotte Ramsden    Steve Dixon
Strategic Director People              Chief Accountable Officer

Salford City Council Salford CCG

Page 66



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

5
V1 (03.02.20)

We have made a conscious decision to re-title our latest update report ‘Salford Thrive Plan’ 
(update March 2020).  The report continues to cover Salford’s child and adolescent mental 
health services (CAMHS) transformation work but we feel that ‘Thrive’ best represents our 
direction of travel and ambitions for children’s and young people’s emotional health and 
wellbeing in the City.  We are fully committed to delivering on Thrive in Salford and have now 
adopted the name/brand to describe our delivery plan, our work programme and our 
partnership arrangements for this. Salford  Thrive is now a single transformation plan for 
children’s emotional health and wellbeing, reflecting the progress made in Salford by the 
Council and CCG for integrated commissioning arrangements for this joint priority. 

Salford’s Thrive programme is focused on enabling as many young people to Thrive as 
possible, through supporting the whole system with improved understanding and awareness 
of children’s emotional health and wellbeing / mental health needs and improving the 
confidence of the whole workforce in identifying needs and helping young people and / or 
managing risk support.

We have made real progress over the last year in delivering on our ‘Ambitions’ and this 
report provides a comprehensive update of what we have achieved against the priorities we 
set ourselves last year.  The Salford Thrive Plan provides our framework and delivery plan 
for achieving our priorities, supported by increased investment year on year into children’s 
and young people’s emotional and mental health through CAMHS transformation funding 
which continues to add value and increase capacity, thus improving access to information, 
advice, help and risk support for those that need it.  Our investment to date into Salford’s 
Thrive programme is outlined in section four, and the impact and activity of commissioned 
services and our wider Thrive partnership offer is detailed throughout the report from section 
3 onwards. This investment is integral to successful delivery on both local and national 
priorities and this report provides evidence of how we are exceeding on National targets for 
improving access to services and are how we are doing compared to other localities in 
Greater Manchester.

From April 2019, Salford City Council and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) have pooled 
budgets and established integrated governance and commissioning arrangements across 
adults, children and young people’s services, public health and primary care.  Our Thrive 
commissioning plans and children’s mental health contracts are the forefront of testing 
integrated arrangements.  In 2019, our new joint governance has supported 
recommendations and a single business case for continued investment and implementation 
of the Salford Thrive Programme.  From 2020, this provides recurrent funding to the services 
and projects we have been piloting in Salford that have collectively delivered improved 
access to mental health support in Salford.  This report describes what our services have 
achieved to date as well as the progress we are making on developing a ‘whole workforce’ 
and ‘whole systems’ approach to improving Children’s and young people’s emotional health 
and wellbeing.  This approach is based on the principal of access to good quality information 
and advice and early intervention to prevent needs escalating and of problems becoming 
entrenched/more difficult to resolve, and therefore more difficult and expensive to treat. 

Approval of recurrent funding for the services and projects outlined is this report is critical to 
continuing to make progress and to enable us to take the next steps in out integrated 

Executive Summary

Page 67



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

6
V1 (03.02.20)

commissioning plans for children’s emotional health and wellbeing and  mental health 
services and pathways.  This provides the platform to help achieve greater flexibility and 
impact with our local resources (our money and workforce), so we can move the systems 
and support to where it is most needed.  Over the next few years, we want to move 
resources ‘upstream’ to support universal services and families with wrap-around support 
though access to timely and effective consultation and advice, and to increase access to 
‘Early Help’  through our Early Help Hubs.  We want this approach to place the young person 
at the centre but also to consider the needs of their parents/families/carers and to consider 
the issues that cause or exacerbate young people’s mental health, such as benefits and debt 
issues, family relationships and parental mental health needs. 

Our commissioned providers and local service delivery teams have already actively and 
positively engaged in discussions and planning around how we could develop more 
integrated  ‘Thrive’ teams and services in Salford through co-location and collaboration in 
our neighbourhoods.  Plans for establishing a single CAMHS budget and contract from 2021 
are in development and will be an important enabler for achieving this vision of an integrated 
‘Thrive’ system.  Our Thrive Plan is dependent on continued co-operation of professionals, 
services and delivery teams in co-designing, shaping and transforming services, and joining 
up our efforts around improving children’s and young people’s mental health.  Only through 
this programme approach will we be able to truly address the challenges in the children’s 
emotional / mental health system such as access and referral pathways, communications 
between services and with families, waiting time pressures and increasing demand for 
services, many ‘front doors’ to services and access to expert consultation and support for 
children’s professionals so that they do not always need to refer young people on to 
specialist services. 

Page 68



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

7
V1 (03.02.20)

Salford Thrive Implementation, Service Re-design and Commissioning

Salford has already made good progress in improving access to mental health support 
through service redesign and partnership working and this is reflected in our performance 
data and achievement of national access targets.  CAMHS is delivered in Salford by 
Manchester University Foundation Trust (MFT).  CAMHS provides the core of our mental 
health offer in Salford and has worked hard to adapt services to support the development of 
a more collaborative / multi-agency model of care, working with other providers and delivery 
teams including 42nd Street, GMMH, Primary Care and Community Paediatrics, and with 
Council teams (e.g. Social Care, Educational Psychology, Youth Justice Service and SEND) 
and with schools directly.  Current plans in development such as the integrated Neuro-
Development Pathway will test this approach further and MFT are now well positioned and 
ready to take the next big step towards delivering a fully integrated Thrive offer in Salford.

Proposals to further integrate our CAMHS offer are currently in development.  Alongside this, 
we are also developing options regarding future contracting arrangements; moving away 
from current arrangements which separates individual elements (finances, quality and 
performance expectations) of the CAMHS offer, in favour of a more integrated model which 
aims to utilise all of the available resource more flexibly, within a fixed financial envelope. 

This approach is expected to support system transformation by enabling services to move 
capacity and resources to where they are most needed and to ensure the right mix of 
skills/services, and by shifting resources upstream to strengthen our ‘advice and information’ 
and ‘getting help’ offer.

Negotiations are scheduled to take place during Quarter 4 of the 2019/20 financial year, in 
line with the annual NHS Contract refresh, to enable the new arrangements to be in place 
from 2020/21.

A focus on developing an integrated Thrive offer in communities, aligned to other 
neighbourhood early help resources, will be a priority for us in 2020-21.  Our Integrated 
Community Response Service (ICRS) was co-designed in this way from inception and has 
laid the ground for how we might utilise our core services to develop fully integrated 
neighbourhood-based early help teams.  The vision is that our commissioned children’s and 
young people’s mental health services are encouraged and empowered to help deliver this 
and will help create community based ‘Thrive hubs’ aligned with our Early Help teams and 
schools clusters.

Children’s and Young People’s Mental Health Service Reviews

During 2019, evaluations were completed of all Salford’s services and pilots funded via the 
CAMHS Transformation Plan budget to date (see Table X below).  These services have 
been commissioned by Salford CCG and Salford City Council to meet locally identified 
needs (through the 0-25 needs assessment and CAMHS Transformation Plan 2015-2020) 
and to deliver on both the GM Health and Social Care and GM Children’s and Young 

Introduction and Local Context

Page 69



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

8
V1 (03.02.20)

People’s mental health priorities, and on national expectations linked to Future in Mind, the 
NHS Five Year Forward View.  These services and pilots have been critical to our successful 
delivery on the National Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), namely the CYP Access Target 
and Eating Disorder service targets (covered in section 3) and to providing an improved local 
offer.

In December 2019, a comprehensive report and combined business was made via Salford 
CCG and Council’s joint Service and Finance Group which included a summary of the 
evaluations of projects and services funded and commissioned to date via the CAMHS 
Transformation Plan budget.  This made a single business case for recurrent funding in 
relation to these and other targeted CAMHS services in order to build on the progress made 
to date in Salford’s implementation of ‘Thrive’ programme. 

The services / investments included within the business case are as follows:

Service  / Pilot Provider(s)

1. Integrated Community Response Service (ICRS) – pilot 
(Joint Commission with MHCC)

42nd St, MIND in Salford, Self-
Help Services and MFT

2. CAMHS: LD increased investment MFT

3. CAMHS: Single Point of Contact pilot MFT

4. CAMHS: Schools Link Pilot MFT

5. CAMHS: Community Eating Disorders Service (joint 
commission with MHCC) MFT 

6. All Age Liaison Service (joint commission with Bolton CCG) GMMH

Further information about these services and reviews is included later in this report.

Salford Safeguarding Children Board (Salford Safeguarding Children 
Partnership)

The overarching focus of the 2018-19 SSCP Business Plan was on the implementation of 
the new statutory safeguarding arrangements and Early Adopter Programme within Salford.  
In addition the board will have four key priority areas including; neglect, child sexual 
exploitation, missing from home, care and education and complex safeguarding plus three 
key areas of assurance; early help, children affected by domestic abuse and emotional 
health and wellbeing.  These will remain subject to continual review and revision as new or 
recurring issues and trends are identified.  However fundamental to all of the work areas is 
children and young people’s mental health which remains a key priority for the board.  The 
SSCB will continue to seek assurance from the EHWB Partnership regarding the 
implementation of the Ambition Priorities for 2018/19. 

Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership: The Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership 
was established during 2019-20 in line with the revised statutory requirements to oversee 
the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Children arrangements within Salford comprising of three 
statutory partners; Salford City Council, Greater Manchester Police and Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  All three partners have equal and joint responsibility for local 
safeguarding arrangements and are committed to working together so that every child in 
Salford has a safe and happy childhood.  The partnership provides leadership and joint 
accountability to provide protection, support and representation for those in greatest need. 

Page 70



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

9
V1 (03.02.20)

Working with Greater Manchester and other partnerships in Salford, the SSCP will continue 
to foster multiagency working by undertaking working groups, events and training supporting 
an efficient, whole-systems partnership approach to ensure safeguarding children is a 
priority and everybody’s business. 

The purpose of these local arrangements is to support and enable local organisations and 
agencies to work together in a system where:

 children are safeguarded and their welfare promoted
 partner organisations and agencies collaborate, share and co-own the vision for 

how to achieve improved outcomes for vulnerable children
 organisations and agencies challenge appropriately and hold one another to 

account effectively
 there is early identification and analysis of new safeguarding issues and 

emerging threats
 learning is promoted and embedded in a way that local services for children and 

families can become more reflective and implement changes to practice
 information is shared effectively to facilitate more accurate and timely decision 

making for children and families.

The Partnership identified has identified three key priority areas plus three key areas of 
assurance as identified in table X below.  Children and young people’s emotional and mental 
health remains a key priority for the board.  The Salford Thrive Partnership has continued to 
act as the ‘expert reference group’ under the 0-25 Board and they will provide the assurance 
to the Safeguarding Partnership. Child Protection Plans for emotional abuse; self-harm A&E 
admissions and mental ill-health are key elements of safeguarding children.  The SSCP will 
continue to seek assurance regarding the implementation of the Ambition Priorities for 
2018/19. 

Table X – Salford Safeguarding Partnership priorities 

Themed Priority Area 1: Neglect
Themed Priority Area 2: Complex Safeguarding
Themed Priority Area 3: Communications and Engagement
Assurance Area 1: Early Help
Assurance Area 2: Children Affected by Domestic Abuse 
Assurance Area 3: Emotional Health and Wellbeing

We recognise that safeguarding children can only be achieved by inter-agency and 
community partnership working and not in isolation.  This has been an area of strength over 
the past year. In the inspection of local authority children’s services (October 2018) Ofsted 
reported that “Multi-agency arrangements for children are effective and these lead to a good 
range of interventions that keep children safe” and “Leaders ensure there are strong 
partnership arrangements in place across the city, based on a detailed understanding of the 
needs of local communities”.

0-25 Programme update 

The 0-25 programme was initially focused on three city-wide commissioning test cases and 
two neighbourhood based pilots.  One of the test cases was focused on improving the 
effectiveness of emotional health and wellbeing support for young people aged 0-25 and 

Page 71



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

10
V1 (03.02.20)

their parents, and CAMHS, through improved commissioning and pathways.  It also aimed to 
provide a test case for increased integration across the children and young people's 
emotional health and wellbeing system, from 'Early Help' to specialist support, to support 
more children and young people in Salford to 'thrive'. 

Much work has progressed on the 0-25 programme.  Our Peoples Directorate works together 
to optimise connectivity and consider how best to support children and young people today, 
to ensure lifelong outcomes.  Through our ongoing focused collaborative working we will 
continue to invest in innovation and evidence based interventions. In the coming year this will 
include the continued delivery and evaluation of the Start Well population health programme.  
Detailed in the previous refresh.  The Start Well Programme of work comes under four 
headings and is supported by thirteen bespoke projects; 

1. Vulnerability and Safeguarding, developing better system approaches within the 
Bridge, there is also a Youth Justice project that is taking a trauma informed approach to 
service delivery, including supporting wider family resilience and wellbeing. 

2. Start Well Parenting, five projects all working to support better attachment and 
development, pre and post birth. 

3. Early Identification and Prevention, looking at speech and language as a fundamental 
building block to securing good outcomes 

4. Children are Thriving - five projects developed to look at emotional health and 
wellbeing

The learning from these pilots will help shape Children’s services as we progress. 

Best Value: our joint working approach in Salford is a key strength and this year will see the 
delivery of a range of services to support children and young people who have increased 
vulnerabilities.  The programme consists of:  Route 29 (previously known as No Wrong 
Door), a model developed in North Yorkshire known as ‘No Wrong Door’, is a way of working 
to support children on the edge of care to prevent them from going into care.  The model is 
now being implemented by six of the ten local authorities in Greater Manchester including 
Salford. Too many of Salford’s young people go into care in children’s homes in other parts 
of the country and have to leave their school, family and friends behind and don’t always get 
the support they need. ‘Route29’ aims to change this. A team of specialists, including 
psychologists, a speech and language therapist and a police officer, will be based at ‘the 
hub’ (formerly The Grange Building, Brookhouse, Eccles).  The team will help young people 
in foster care where the placement is about to break down, or those on the edge of care 
where parents feel they can no longer cope.  Instead of going to a children’s home, the 
young person would come to the hub and get the professional support they need.  Where 
necessary, they would stay overnight on a short term basis, but generally they would stay at 
home and get help from the hub during the day, for as long as they need it.  A group of 
young people have been involved in developing the programme from the very start.  They’ve 
advised what support is needed, sat on interview panels to recruit ‘Route29’ workers and 
chosen the interior design for the hub building.  CAMHS are working with the Route29 team 
to provide mental health advice and support when needed, and have successfully recruited a 
dedicated and experienced clinical psychologist to enhance the multi-agency team who will 
hopefully be in post from the beginning of February 2020.  This CAMHS psychologist is a 
very experienced and has experience across the children’s services provision. 

Transforming Care Salford (based on the Ealing Model) - Taking the principles of the well-
established model developed in Ealing, Transforming Care Salford (TCS) is a specialist 

Page 72



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

11
V1 (03.02.20)

service providing support to a small number of children and young people who have learning 
disability, autism and who are displaying distressed behaviours.  These children are at risk of 
coming into the care system, due to the complexity of need and crisis the family are in. 

The TCS model provides psychology led assessments, interventions and intensive 
behaviour support via positive behaviour plans.  In addition to this to support the wider family 
resilience, wider opportunities to secure additional respite are offered via an individual 
budget approach. 

Best Value plans include an improved responses to domestic abuse and trauma as it 
was recognised that these are some of the underlying causal issues that often exacerbate 
until families reach crisis point.  When children and adults face poor mental health and family 
risk at such a level, this can result in a breakdown of external placements and social care 
intervention is needed.  The Best Value proposal considers those children who are known to 
have experienced domestic abuse and adversity, and will be supported by a bespoke offer 
that fits with the wider Thrive programme.  Due to the insidious nature of abuse and the 
complexity of disclosure, it is necessary to increase / reinforce the universal offer to ensure 
access to appropriate mental health support is available.  Therefore offering services that 
can intervene earlier to mitigate the harm of adversity and trauma will help reduce future 
service demand and will work with the developing response to those children and young 
people who are known to have experienced domestic abuse and trauma.  This will be 
underpinned by the wider Aces and trauma informed work stream which includes workforce 
development.  

The Thrive programme and offer is key to building a more resilient system and to helping to 
mitigate the escalation of mental health needs and reducing further growth, by ensuring the 
right service is available at the right time.  

The Family Partnership Model is at the centre of our Early Help approach.  It is an 
innovative method based upon an explicit model of the helping process that demonstrates 
how specific helper qualities and skills, when used in partnership, enable parents and 
families to overcome their difficulties, build strengths and resilience and fulfil their goals more 
effectively. 

Empowering Parents Empowering Communities (EPEC) parenting courses in local, 
socially disadvantaged communities for parents with children aged 0-4 years. EPEC 
combines local professional parenting expertise using evidence-based methods with a 
parent-led approach that builds community resilience.  This will form part of our ongoing 
development of resilience and neighbourhood working. Placing wellbeing and empowerment 
at the heart of our delivery. 

Further information on parent support and early years work is detailed under Ambitions 3 
and 4 later in the report. 

Mental Health Needs Assessments

Local Needs Assessment: Update

Page 73



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

12
V1 (03.02.20)

Salford has produced a comprehensive Mental Health and Wellbeing Health Needs 
Assessment1 (HNA) as part of its Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).  This draws on 
epidemiological and comparative data for Salford in conjunction with stakeholder views to 
identify areas of unmet mental health need for the Salford populations.  It also looks at the 
mental health throughout the life course from perinatal health to the mental health of the 
older population.  The chapter on children and young people sets out a comprehensive set 
risk factors and related prevalence rates.  The HNA gives an overall prevalence figure of “an 
estimated 3,363 children aged 5 to 16 in Salford with mental health disorders”.. The HNA 
also estimates “1,287 children aged 5 to 16 with an emotional disorder in Salford.”  This 
chapter also includes figures and analysis of services for children and young people in the 
city.

Locality Plan

Salford’s Locality Plan has been refreshed for 2020.  This is due to be published in early 
Spring 2020 and will be available on the Locality Plan web page2.  The Locality Plan sets the 
ambition for Salford for the next few years.  It is a plan for health and wellbeing, not only for 
illness and dependency; for strengths and not just for frailties; for opportunities and not only 
for needs; and for ideas not just for certainties.

It takes a look at progress, which is considerable, and at the remaining challenges, which 
are also considerable.  It brings a renewed emphasis on prevention, personal involvement 
and care closer to home, and explores what people in Salford have told us these phrases 
mean to them.  

Chapter 4 of the revised plan sets out the progress made since the original Locality Plan was 
written and published. Some specific ambitions and progress made relevant to this review 
are:

Child poverty has seen a fall from 26.8% to 21.1% between 2014 and 2016.  Despite a rising 
population there are at least 2,000 fewer children in poverty in 2016 (latest figure) compared 
to 2014.  Halving child poverty in nine years is not on track but the trend suggests it could be 
at 19.2% or 2,400 fewer children in poverty by 2021 compared to 2014.  The current national 
child poverty indicator has been discontinued.  A new measure will be introduced in Spring 
202  0. It is unclear how this will allow trends to be tracked.

Comparable figures in health and social care in mental health are difficult, but mental health 
is by a wide factor the largest area of spend by Salford CCG, accounting for about £1 in 

every £6. 

1 https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/394967/salford-mental-health-and-wellbeing-hna.pdf 
2 https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/transformation/locality-plan

Reduce the number of children in poverty     (Salford Locality Plan (2016)

There will be £45m annual investment in mental health services to make 
sure people get the help they need as quickly as possible

(Salford Locality Plan (2016)

Every child needs to feel they belong and are valued, and to be 
protected from the “toxic stress” of adverse childhood experiences 
(ACEs)

Page 74

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/394967/salford-mental-health-and-wellbeing-hna.pdf
https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/transformation/locality-plan


Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

13
V1 (03.02.20)

The plan emphasises the importance of emotional wellbeing for children and young people. 
As part of our population health investment we have developed an evidence-based system 
for earlier identification of emotional wellbeing needs.  

Ref Appendix 1 – for summary and update of local needs assessments (January 2020).

Child and Adolescent mental health services (CAMHS)

CAMHS provides the core of our mental health offer in Salford and has worked hard over the 
past year – 18 months to adapt services to support the development of a more collaborative / 
multi-agency model of care, working with other providers and delivery teams including 42nd 
Street, GMMH, Primary Care and Community Paediatrics, and with Council teams (e.g. 
Social Care, Educational Psychology, Youth Justice Service and SEND) and with schools 
directly. Current plans in development such as the integrated Neuro-Development Pathway 
will test this approach further and Manchester University Foundation Trust (MFT) are now 
well positioned and ready to take the next big step towards delivering a fully integrated Thrive 
offer in Salford.

Over the last year, CAMHS service activity data shows: 

There has been a continued increase in referrals and also in the number of referrals 
accepted. This suggests that the service has received more appropriate referrals following 
improved support provided through the pilot role and function of the Single Point of Contact 
(SPoC) and the wider education and engagement work across the system around what 
specialist child and adult mental health services (CAMHS) can provide. The SPoC post that 
has been funded and trialled for the last 24 months has succeeded in improving the 
appropriateness of referrals to CAMHS, and signposting to alternative agencies and 
pathways that are available in Salford. This role has also generated improved relationships 
and more timely opinions around CAMH concerns to both social care and GP partners, which 
has resulted in an improved overall patient experience and journey, i.e. to receiving the right 
advice at the right time and reducing the amount of time that a child young person or family 
are required to tell/share their story. 

There has been an increase in new appointments being offered, as a result of increased 
staffing and importantly the introduction of CAPA (choice and partnership approach) and the 
dedicated Single Point of Contact and wider duty team that also responds to all new 
referrals. The number of young people that ‘do not attend’ (DNAs) has slightly increased yet 
given the increased appointments being offered this would be expected.  New procedures 
and reminder services are being implemented to help reduce DNAs.  There has also been an 
increase in the number of follow-up appointments being offered to young people and 
families, though again the DNA rate has increased slightly.  These figures have informed a 
review and service redesign around the quality of the intervention at the first appointment 

Service Activity and performance against national targets

Page 75



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

14
V1 (03.02.20)

and the need for further appointments, are they at the right time, place or with the correct 
clinician.  The importance of patient and family/carer engagement and collaborative care 
planning and choice of therapeutic intervention has also been an important area of 
development over the last 12 months.  The use of routine outcome measures and clinically 
informed interventions is now embedded within the patient experience at Salford CAMHS.

Table X – Core CAMHS Service Data
 

Measures 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20  

Cases open at end of 
period 1,658 1,531 1,743 1,892 1,499 1,522 

Referrals 1,556 1,659 1,819 1,794 2,139 1,612 

% referrals accepted 86% 78% 77% 77% 80% 78% 

New appointments 1,381 1,405 1,269 1,443 1,678 1,102 

DNA rate (new) 16% 13% 13% 13% 14% 19% 

Follow-up appointments 11,197 10,354 8,635 8,798 9,144 6,997 

DNA rate 15% 14% 12% 14% 16% 14% 

Choice and Partnership Approach (CAPA) model was implemented in 2019 with a central 
referral access point and 1 + 2 appointment structure.  This, with the support of our patient 
and parent participation group, is helping us to deliver a more effective and appropriate / 
responsive CAMHS service for the population of Salford.  The top five primary diagnoses 
remain: ADHD / hyperkinetic disorder, ASD, depression, attachment problems and 
generalised anxiety disorder. 

The average waiting time to first appointment was 6 weeks in the last year.  Increased 
demand and waiting times are the main challenges associated with commissioned children’s 
and young people’s mental health services.  These issues have been reported through CCG 
and Council governance over the past two years and continue to be a challenge.  In 2016 
and 2017 CAMHS (average) waits exceeded the NHS standards of 12 weeks to a first 
appointment and 18 weeks for a second, as can be seen in the tables below.  Waiting times 
have now stabilised though a combination of service improvement and additional investment 
and capacity.  The aim during 2020 is to improve the patient journey further as young people 
are requesting more community based local appointments away from the traditional clinic at 
the Pendleton CAMHS site.  The ambition is to develop satellite clinics within the developing 
neighbourhood ‘early help hubs’ or other appropriate community venues, including schools if 
possible.  This would also support a reduction in the number of DNAs, ensuring local 
accessible and timely services for young people and their families.  The development of the 
SPoC role within social care and Early Help Hubs is an exciting area of development, also 
aiming to ensure CAMHS provides support for the team/professionals working with young 
people, instead of only providing CAMHS appointments for the child and family.  This will 
reduce the number of assessments and referrals to different teams/services over time.  
Combined with the education and training development work with the wider children’s 

Page 76



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

15
V1 (03.02.20)

workforce and the collaborative partnership working across all the ‘Thrive’ system will reduce 
the reduce the need for formal/traditional referrals to CAMHS, and help ensure the right 
support/treatment at the right place and at the right time.

Table X - 2016/17 CAMHS waiting times

Table X - 2017/18 CAMHS waiting times

Table X - 2018-19 CAMHS waiting times 

8
9

13

10 14 14 13 14 13 14 13 13

10 10
13 13

17 17
21 19 18 19

22 20

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
Average Ref. to 1st  contact / Appt   (11 wks target) Average Ref to 2nd  contact / Appt   (17 wks target)

Waiting Times (weeks)

6 5 5 4 4
5 4 3 3 4 3 3

11 12 12 11
8

11
9 8 9 9 8 8

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
Average Ref. to 1st  contact / Appt   (11 wks target) Average Ref to 2nd  contact / Appt   (17 wks target)

Waiting Times (weeks)

13
16 15 15 15

17
15 14

12
14 13 12

9 10 9 11 10 11 8 9 9
8 8

6

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
Average Ref. to 1st  contact / Appt   (11 wks target) Average Ref to 2nd  contact / Appt   (17 wks target)

Waiting Times (weeks)

Page 77



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

16
V1 (03.02.20)

Table X - 2019-20 CAMHS Waiting times year to date

It is important to note that increases in waiting times are aligned with significant increases in 
demand across all children’s mental health services.  GM is developing a new data report for 
CAMHS activity and performance to help better understand this and monitor changes.  Whilst 
this is still in development and contains data yet to be validated / collected by GM providers, 
it serves to support locally monitored CAMHS data which shows unprecedented levels of 
demand / significant increases in referrals in Salford.  In fact the GM report shows Salford as 
having the highest level of referrals by CCG per 1000 of the population in GM at 68.86, and 
shows Manchester Foundation Trust as reporting by far the most significant number of 
referrals per month compared with other GM providers.  In spite of increasing demand 
(number of referrals), CAMHS has managed to stay within NHS targets for waiting times of 
12 weeks to first appointment and 16 weeks to second.  In 2018 to April 2019, referral to 1st 
appointment for a Salford young person was on average 4.9 weeks with referral to 2nd 
appointment being .10.8 weeks.  The GM report from April 2019 to Dec 2019  shows 
continued improvements in Referral to treatment times, with waits to 1st  appointment being 
4.2 weeks on average and the referral to second appointment being  9.4 weeks. 

Salford CAMHS are proud to be identifying trends and training needs across the service to 
ensure we are able to respond to local needs with evidenced based clinical interventions and 
appropriately trained clinicians.  In 2019-20 CAMHS staff have trained in DBT (Dialectical 
Behaviour Therapy) and EMDR (Eye Movement Desensitisation & Reprocessing) therapy as 
both interventions have been identified as a need within local demographics.  EMDR therapy 
is a phased, focused approach to treating traumatic and other symptoms by reconnecting the 
client in a safe and measured way.

Pressures in both core CAMHS and in the Learning Disability (LD) service and associated 
increased waiting times resulted in recovery plans being agreed with MFT.  This involved 
additional investment to provide temporary additional capacity in both services to help 
stabilise waiting times, plus longer term additional capacity and service reorganisation in the 
LD service element.  The CCG has also built in additional capacity / funding into the CAMHS 
budget for 2018-19 to allow CAMHS to undertake more activity in year.  A combination of 
funding from CCG and MFT investment to CAMHS has enhanced the workforce by14.8 WTE 
since 2016 bringing total staff capacity to 54.50 in December 2019.

Salford City Council and CCG fund a number of targeted CAMH services.  These include the 
Emerge team offering community based mental health services to young people aged 16-
17yrs; a CAMHS post embedded within the Youth Justice Service (YJS), a learning 
disabilities service and support for Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) young people.  The 
Emerge team offers accessible community based mental health services to young people 
aged 16-17yrs, providing a range of direct therapeutic interventions from individual talking 

4 4 4 4 4
2

3 3
4

8 8 9 8 8 9
7 7

8

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Average Ref. to 1st  contact / Appt   (11 wks target) Average Ref to 2nd  contact / Appt   (17 wks target)

Waiting times (weeks)

Page 78



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

17
V1 (03.02.20)

therapies and group work to specialist psychological and psychiatric assessments and 
medication and appropriate transition to follow-on services as necessary.  The Learning 
Disability service ensures that the mental health needs of children and young people with 
learning disabilities are identified, assessed and treated.  The service assesses and 
diagnoses development delay and autism spectrum conditions.  A range of evidence-based 
therapeutic interventions are offered on both an individual and group basis.  The Black and 
Multi-Ethnic (BME) post has been under review during 2019 and has been re-specified to 
provide support a variety of functions within the service to ensure all services are accessible 
and engage all vulnerable groups.  CAMHS provision needs to ensure provision is culturally 
appropriate and that all CAMHS practitioners are aware of the high level of mental health 
need amongst vulnerable/minority groups, including migrant families and particularly 
refugees and asylum seekers.  This is now being addressed by the whole service re-design, 
and ensuring CAMHS staff have the appropriate skills and confidence to engage and request 
appropriate interpreters and culturally sensitive approaches.

Table X – Targeted CAMHS services activity update

Service Cases 
open Referrals % Ref 

accepted
New 

appoint. DNA rate Follow-up 
apps DNA rate

Emerge (16-17ys)  
2014-15 144 222 88% 294 31% 1061 18%
2015-16 88 212 92% 256 27% 1040 22%
2016-17 106 207 93% 304 37% 633 22%
2017-18 97 254 93% 184 29% 683 15%

2018-19 97 285 88% 149 33% 680 17%

2019-20 YTD 64 122 95% 75 33% 270 21%
BME
2014-15 4 4 100% 14 14% 73 7%
2015-16 3 2 100% 4 0% 26 15%
2016-17 2 1 100% 11 27% 89 11%
2017-18 1 13 100% 8 25% 19 8%

2018-19 5  5  100%  4   0% 74  14%

2019-20 YTD 1 0 0% 0 0% 2 0%
LD
2014-15 87 100 99% 188 20% 733 13%
2015-16 49 81 99% 158 18% 621 17%
2016-17 48 98 96% 134 24% 595 28%
2017-18 71 175 99% 185 29% 337 11%

2018/19 55  168  100% 179  25%  518  12%

2019-20 YTD 73 116 99% 106 17% 528 10%
YJS
2014-15 17 20 100% 37 22% 137 20%
2015-16 17 19 89% 31 29% 118 24%

Page 79



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

18
V1 (03.02.20)

2016-17 26 43 98% 41 2% 138 12%
2017-18 0 54 100% 59 12% 139 11%

2018-19  5 15 100% 17 10%  115  7%

2019-20 YTD 6 7 100% 6 25% 59 8%
CAMHS LAC*
2019-20 YTD 73 64 91% 81 2% 841 5%
* CAMHS LAC services were integrated from 2019-20 and data is therefore amalgamated from April 
2019. 

CAMHS LD Service – this service is continuing to develop in response to the transformation 
of the neurodevelopmental pathway across Salford in line with GM standards.  Throughout 
2020 this service will continue to work with wider partner agencies to support a 
comprehensive multi agency learning disability service.  Through internal re-design, in 2019 
CAMHS offered an ADHD clinic based offer for referrals and management of children and 
young people with ADHD this has included NICE evidenced based assessment process, 
parental support groups and effective psychological and pharmaceutical management of 
ADHD (Attention deficit Hyperactivity Disorder).  This is now a nurse led clinic and early 
indications through service user feedback are that these changes has been received 
positively.  Our participation group and expert by experience groups have helped in ensuring 
these clinics are effective and as our service users would like.  In 2020 we aim to extend the 
offer of clinic to offer extended appointments to 8pm at night, at our service users request, 
and also continue to implement the 16-18 clinics to aid with the transition to adult services.  
This work has been a collaboration with the wider commissioned educational and mental 
health services within Salford to ensure effective and seamless transitions.

In terms of ASC (Autism Spectrum Condition), CAMHS have continued to support the wider 
Children’s services to develop an integrated Neurodevelopmental pathway.  This exciting 
offer is intended to go live from March 2020 with one central referral point for all referrers 
who have concerns in regards to neurodevelopmental conditions.  This is a needs led 
pathway and CAMHS will support the multi-agency assessment and diagnostic panel. 
CAMHS internally throughout 2019 have been working with our young people’s participation 
group and past CAMHS patients to understand the patient journey and expectations to 
ensure the new service offer is patient friendly clear and understandable.  By co-ordinating 
and re-designing staffing structures and pathways, and the introduction of clinical support 
workers to the CAMHS team we are confident that a comprehensive evidenced based 
diagnostic pathway with improved access and support through therapeutic interventions will 
be available in 2020 and this will enhance the current offer that has been challenged through 
increased referrals and lengthy waiting times over the past 5 years.

42nd Street Service Delivery 

42nd Street supports young people aged 11 to 25; 42nd Street’s bespoke ‘young people’ 
focused provision provides continuity and choice for a significant proportion of young people, 
including young adults experiencing mental health difficulties.

In 2018/19 42nd Street received 466 referrals compared to 346 in 2017/18  Over the past 2 
years from April 2017 – March 2019 26% of referrals were young people aged 16-17 and 
29% were 18-25s.  42nd Street offered 265 assessments and supported 475 individual 

Page 80



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

19
V1 (03.02.20)

young people with ongoing therapeutic support in 2018-19 and maintained very low DNA 
rates of 9%. 

Table X – 42nd Street service activity update

Measure 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19  2019-20 YTD

Referrals 206*
212

(inc. schools 
231)

292
(inc. schools 

304)

335
(inc school 

338)

466
(inc school 

615 )


302
(inc school 355 )

YP offered an 
initial 
assessment

103
129

(inc. schools 
147)

179
inc. schools 

191)

144
(inc school 

146)

265
(inc school 

287)


177
(inc school 207)

YP attending 
an initial 
assessment

82
85 

(inc. schools 
99)

131 (inc. 
schools 143)

183
(inc school 

198)

244
(inc school 

265)


165
(inc school 193 )

DNA 
(sessions) 16%

19%
(inc. schools 

18%)

21%
(inc. schools 

20%)

20%
(no school 

data)

10%
(inc school 

15%)


8%
(inc school 23%)

Follow on 
work: no. of 
unique young 
people

126
100

(inc. schools 
127)

130
(inc. schools 

156)

317
(inc school 

327)

292
(inc school 

313)


299
(inc school 411)

DNA 
(sessions) 7%

6%
(inc. schools 

5%)

7%
(inc. schools 

6%)

7% (no 
school 
data)

9%
(inc school 

19%)


9%
(inc school 15%)

42nd Street has worked very hard on their infrastructure over the past year implementing a 
new performance management system ‘PCMIS’ and is now flowing data to the Mental 
Health Data Set (MHSDS) and contributing towards the National CYP Access targets. In 
2018, 42nd Street also introduced Telephone Service Assessments which has had a 
considerable impact on both waiting times and DNA rates; in Q4 2017/18 the average 
waiting time from referral to assessment was 21 weeks, and in Q4 2018/19 this wait had 
reduced to 12 weeks. In 2017/18 the average DNA rates at assessment were 20.5% and in 
2018/19 these were 10.5%

However, the continued increase in demand for 42nd Street’s core service in Salford has 
continued to impact on waiting times. 

Table X – Waiting times (average no. of weeks waited) 2018/2019  
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Page 81



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

20
V1 (03.02.20)

Referral to assessment 25 23 15 12 

Ref to treatment (Psycho-social) 45 41 27 19 

Ref to treatment (Counselling) 38 36 31 40 

Table X – Waiting times (average no. of weeks waited) 2019/2020 year to date  
Q1 Q2 Q3

Referral to assessment 9 8 9 

Ref to treatment (Psycho-social) 34 50 62 

Ref to treatment (Counselling) 30 48 40 

Staffing capacity:  An agreement to increase core service capacity from 2 FTE to 4.4 FTE 
was not fully realised in 2018/19 because despite a successful recruitment drive a key FTE 
member of staff in the counselling team was on long term sick due to personal issues.  This 
resulted in the assessment and psychosocial waits reducing but not the counselling waiting 
time.  In 2019/20 the team experienced  sickness and changes in the psychosocial team  
which again impacted on the waiting times for this part of the service, the counselling waiting 
times have remained relatively consistent, with fluctuations shown when cases are picked up 
of the waiting times and entering support. 

Increased Complexity:  42nd Street has seen an increase in the complexity of young people 
seeking 1-2-1 support.  Complexity is now measured at assessment and first session of 
therapeutic support on a scale of 0-12, with 12 being the highest level of complexity. 
Complexity impacts on the service as the more complex presentations often require support 
beyond 12 weeks, in fact recent analysis has shown that on average young people are in 
contact with the service for 24 weeks during ongoing therapeutic support, which in turn 
impacts on the throughput of cases and waiting times. Across 42nd Street’s wider GM 
delivery footprint (Manchester, Trafford and Tameside and Glossop) levels of complexity at 
assessment average a score of 5 and ongoing service average 6. Monitoring suggests that 
complexity levels in Salford are above those recorded across other localities with averages 
of 6.75 at assessment and 6.5 for ongoing work. 

Table X i) and ii) - Top 5 presenting needs on Mental health & Wellbeing for 2018-19

Page 82



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

21
V1 (03.02.20)

Additional presenting issues 2018-19:

Other Issues % Home & Social %
Money management (debt, etc.) 10% Bullying 24%
Parent/carer substance abuse 6% Threats of violence 10%

Leaving home due to other reason 6% Threats and harassment 9%

Parent/carer mental health 23% Young carer 6%

Family money issues 10% Familial physical abuse / attacks 5%

Table X i)  and ii) - Top 5 presenting needs on Mental health & Wellbeing for 2019/20

Page 83



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

22
V1 (03.02.20)

Additional presenting issues 2019-20:

Other Issues % Home & Social %
Money management (debt, etc.) 10% Bullying 15%
Parent/carer substance abuse 0% Threats of violence 0%
Leaving home due to other reason 0% Threats and harassment 0%
Parent/carer mental health 15% Young carer 23%
Family money issues 20% Familial physical abuse / attacks 0%

Work to reduce waiting times:  42nd Street is now a national trailblazer sight trailing the 4 
Week Wait (4WW) initiative focused on increased investment and system change in Trafford 
with the learning being applied across all areas – including Salford.  The service was 
recently been reviewed by the NHS Service Improvement Team (SIT) who concluded that 
the 42nd Street could do very little in terms of processes and operations to improve waiting 
times but that improvements seen in Trafford could be attributed to increased staffing ratios 
for both the core service and in schools, that matched the predicted capacity for the service. 
The team also commended 42nd Street for their transparency and support for young people 
whist waiting for a service including deploying an engagement team and exploring innovative 
digital solutions. A full report is available detailing recommendations for the service and 42nd 
Street is continuing to develop a more comprehensive access policy and tools to better 
forecast the relationship between referral, access, engagement, DNA and waiting times 
which will enable the service to set more realistic waiting time targets.  

Outcomes:  The national YP- CORE target for clinically significant improvement or recovery 
is 50%. 42nd Street recovery rates are consistently higher than nationally and ranged from 
69% - 100%. During the year, 42nd Street also implemented additional recovery measures 
(ORS/CORS – (Child) Outcomes Rating Scale) and this is being monitored against national 
benchmarks.  Recovery rates in 2019/20 thus far have demonstrated 42nd Street has 

Page 84



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

23
V1 (03.02.20)

achieved an average of 65% significant and reliable change, reaching levels as high as 79% 
in Q3 2019/20.

Recent developments - Salford delivery: 42nd Street has now established a central base 
at the Beacon and key community locations for delivery in Salford from Q1 2019/20. 
Previously staff were traveling to multiple venues for appointments which was very time 
consuming and resulted in reduced productivity and decreased morale. These changes have 
had a significant impact team dynamics, integrated working, productivity and morale.

GM Crisis Care Pathway – Safe Zones: 42nd St have recently been commissioned and 
funded by GM as partner to the successful Children’s Society bid to deliver ‘Safe Zones’ in 
the ‘Central’ (Manchester and Salford) Cluster. This is in recognition of the key role that the 
service plays in delivering community based emotional and mental health support for young 
people and an alternative / VCSE  offer to statutory/core CAMHS.  42nd Street has recruited 
a FTE Mental Health Practitioner who started in Q3 2018/19 and is now beginning to take 
referrals from the Rapid Response Team. In 2019/20 this role will be reviewed in terms of 
the value added to the Salford Integrated Community Response (ICR) team and the impact 
on both step down provision and prevention of escalation to A and E.

42nd Street deliver a number of commissioned and non-commissioned services and projects 
in Salford, over and above the core young people’s mental health service. A full break down 
of the total 42nd Street total workforce capacity for all services and projects in Salford can be 
seen in the table below.

Table x – total 42nd street Salford service capacity

Funding source Salford Staffing FTE
Core Service 
Delivery

2014-
15

2015-
16

2016-
17

2017-
18

2018-
19

2019-
20

Notes

Mainstream CCG 
Funding (121) 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6

Spilt between 
Counselling & 
psychological 
support

Mainstream CCG 
Funding (Group 
work)

0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4

Increase capacity 
(121) 2.4 2.1

Spilt between 
Counselling & 
psycho-social 
support

Sub Total 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 4.4 4.4
ICRS-CMAHS 
transformation 
funding

2 2 2
Additional staff 
started in Sept 
2017 

Sub Total 0 0 0 2 2 2
Additional Projects
CAMHS 
Transformation 
funding until Mar 
2018 (VCSE, MH 
Grant funded 2018-
19)

0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6

Started Oct 2016, 
completed Dec 
2017

LIF: online 
development 0.6 0.6 Spilt across 3 

MHPs

Page 85



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

24
V1 (03.02.20)

Sub total 0 0 0.6 0.6 1.2 1.2
TOTAL 2.0 2.0 2.6 4.6 7.6 7.6

Further developments including 42nd Street’s online offer and work with the Orthodox Jewish 
community are covered in under Ambition 4.

Other Service Activity - Adult Mental Health commissioned services
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Step 2 services are available for those 
16yrs and upwards, consisting of Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners (PWPs) delivering 
low intensity CBT. PWPs are trained to assess common mental health disorders and 
collaboratively devise treatment plans with people experiencing mild or moderate: 
depression, panic disorder or generalised anxiety disorder. The main focus of this treatment 
is guided self-help or Cognitive Behaviour Based approaches. In Salford the Step 2 service is 
provided by Six Degrees Social Enterprise. The Step 2 IAPT service in Salford receives over 
8,000 referrals a year. The highlights are presented in table X below

Table X - IAPT data 

Measure 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 
YTD

No. of 16-17 year olds referred 105 127 112 107   
No. taken into treatment 19 25 20 35   
 - Of which number recovered -8 -9 -6 -6   

No. stepped up for further input 
into GMMH 9 12 26 11   

No. seen one session only 27 33 16 35   
No. not seen (either DNA, 
cancelled  or not suitable)

50 
(48%)

69 
(54%)

50 
(45%)

26 
(24%)   

There are two teams within Salford that support people who are experiencing forms of 
psychosis, or loss of touch with reality; the Early Detection and Intervention Team (EDIT) 
and the Early Intervention in Psychosis Team (EIT).  EDIT is a specialist psychological 
therapy service that works with young people aged 14–35 years who are experiencing 
distress and symptoms such as hearing or seeing things that others cannot, paranoia, 
unusually high or low moods, sleeping too much or too little and difficulty concentrating and 
being easily distracted. It is aimed at detecting and providing cognitive therapy for people at 
high risk of developing mental health problems (e.g. psychosis). EIT works with people aged 
14-65yrs who have experienced a first episode of psychosis, also providing support to the 
families of people who are using the service. The service aims to address problems at the 
earliest opportunity to reduce the impact on a person’s quality of life. The service provides a 
range of evidence based interventions designed to help people manage the effects of 
psychosis and continue with their lives. See table X below.

Table X – EDIT/EIT data 

Indicator 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 
YTD

No. of under 18yr olds 
referred to EIT/EDIT 24 38 39 18 49

Page 86



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

25
V1 (03.02.20)

% (Total) referrals 16% (150) 7% (493) 11% (355) 9% (211) 12% (424)

No. to EIT 13 22 14 189 235

No. to EDIT 11 16 25 22 81

Work is ongoing at a GM level to support the development of a single GM mental health 
inpatient offer and to support more local control of bed allocation. This will help to ensure 
patients are not being placed far from home in order to receive a service. This is aligned to 
the recent national service review of child and adolescent mental health, perinatal and adult 
mental health beds undertaken by NHSE. See Section 7 for more information on the GM 
work.

Performance against national Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 

Performance assurance reports throughout 2018 and 2019 have demonstrated that Salford’s 
CAMHS Transformation Plan and associated investment has made a real impact and is 
providing improved support for children and young people’s mental health. There is 
increased access to help for those that need it and more young people receiving support 
than ever before. The Salford Thrive programme consistently delivers and indeed exceeds 
national targets set out in the Five-Year Forward View. This is evidenced in our full year 
2018-19 performance and in 2019-20 performance to date, as outlined below.

Commissioners are responsible for reporting performance against 3 national Children’s 
mental health KPIs / measures,  relating to: improved access to NHS funded community MH 
services for children and young people and timely access to children and young people 
eating disorders. 

At Quarter 2 2019/20 commissioner performance against all national targets was as follows 
(performance information for Quarters 3 and 4 of the 18/19 financial year is included for 
comparison).

Table X – Salford performance against National KPIs  2018-19 and 2019 to date

Indicator Description Target Data Source Q1 
19-20

Q2
19-20

Q3
18-19

Q4
18-19 Traj.

At least 34% of CYP with 
diagnosable MH condition 
treated in NHS funded 
community MH service 
*performance is 
cumulative across the 
year, working towards a 
year-end total

Quarterly 
-  8.5%
Annual 

(2019-20) 
– 34%

Nationally 
Published – 
Cumulative 
(Quarterly 
Snapshot 

Performance 
in Brackets)

33.6% 37.4% 36.8%
(9.6%)

45%
(8.2%)



Page 87



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

26
V1 (03.02.20)

% of CYP with eating 
disorders seen within 1 
week (urgent)

75% Nationally 
Published

100% 
(1/1) 

100%
(2/2)

100% 
(3/3)

100% 
(2/2)



% of CYP with eating 
disorders seen within 4 
weeks (routine)

80% Nationally 
Published

80% 
(4/5)

100%
(7/7)

100% 
(14/14)

90.9% 
(10/11)



*Please note that finalised September 2019 data has now been published on NHS Digital. Our 
cumulative Q1-Q2 position for Salford CCG is at 33.6% against the 34% annual target, which we are 
on track to achieve. Provisional October 2019 data is also available which shows cumulative 
performance (April – October) at 37.4%. October finalised data is was released on 9th Jan. Please 
see table below for details.

Table X – cumulative performance at Oct 2019

2019-20 Mental Health | Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young People’s 
Mental Health Services

Reporting Period (2019) Status No. Denominator % Cumulative
April Final 450 8.3%
May Final 380 15.2%
June Final 345 21.5%
July Final 290 26.9%

August Final 195 30.5%

September Final 170 33.6%

October Final 205

5445

37.4%

Source: MHSDS NHS Digital

Table x  – Salford Community Eating Disorder performance 2018/19

 Eating Disorder Service Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

No. of CYP with ED (urgent cases) referred with a 
suspected ED that start treatment within 1 week of referral 3/3 1/1 3/3 1/1

(Local Target 2017-18 75%) 100% 100% 100% 100%

No. of CYP with ED (routine cases) that wait 4 weeks or 
less from referral to start of treatment 5/6 7/7 14/14 9/10

(Local Target 2017-18 80%) 83% 100% 100% 90%

Table x –  Salford Community Eating Disorder performance 2019/20 Year to Date

Eating Disorder Service Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

No. of CYP with ED (urgent cases) referred with a 
suspected ED that start treatment within 1 week of 
referral

1/1 2/2   

(Local Target 2017-18 75%) 100% 100%   

Page 88



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

27
V1 (03.02.20)

No. of CYP with ED (routine cases) that wait 4 weeks or 
less from referral to start of treatment 4/5 7/7   

(Local Target 2017-18 80%) 80% 100%   

These targets are monitored both locally and at GM level as is shown in the table below, 
which highlights Salford within the top 3 performing CCGs in 2019-20. The picture is the 
same for our Community Eating Disorder Service performance and the joint Manchester / 
Salford service is held up as the model of good practice for GM and has helped to shape 
standards and a model specification for GM as part of a peer review which reported in 2019.

Table X – GM performance Table – CYP access

Greater Manchester: A Snap Shot Picture - Data shows children and young people 
receiving treatment at June 2019 (defined by 2 or more contacts)

Clinical Commissioning Group
Actual no. of CYP 

receiving 
treatment (YTD)

Total no. of CYP 
with a 

diagnosable 
mental health 

condition

% access rate 
forecast outturn.

Target 34% 
(2019/20)

(by 2020/21 35%)

Salford 
performance has 

exceeded our 
2021 target of 
35% already

Page 89



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

28
V1 (03.02.20)

  ENGLAND 106,944 1,046,246 34.0%
 Greater Manchester 8,015 59,099 45.8%
 Bolton 610 6,484 31.5%
 Bury 525 3,877 45.9%
 Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale 945 5,086 60.3%
 Manchester 1,790 12,364 50.1%
 Oldham 660 3,965 56.0%
 Salford 830 5,445 54.4%
 Stockport 755 5,400 46.3%
 Tameside & Glossop 535 5,485 32.4%
 Trafford 520 4,593 37.1%
 Wigan Borough 655 6,400 36.5%

The GM forecast outturn for 2019-20 and 2020-21 is reported monthly via the GM Future in 
Mind Group (CAMHS Commissioners) and shows Salford as likely to continue to exceed 
annual targets. See table below (provided in December 2019). 

Table X – forecast outturn – access by end of 2019-20

Greater Manchester: A Snap Shot Picture
Data shows children and young people receiving treatment at August 2019 (defined by 2 or 
more contacts)

Clinical Commissioning Group
Actual no. of CYP 

receiving 
treatment (YTD)

Total no. of CYP 
with a 

diagnosable 
mental health 

condition

% access rate 
forecast outturn.

Target 34% 
(2019/20)

(by 2020/21 35%)
  ENGLAND 201,327 1,066,433 35.0%
 Greater Manchester 14,925 59,099 46.9%
 Bolton 1,175 6,484 33.6%
 Bury 1,000 3,877 47.9%
 Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale 1,770 5,086 64.6%
 Manchester 3,455 12,364 51.9%
 Oldham 1,175 3,965 55.0%
 Salford 1,660 5,445 56.6%
 Stockport 1,480 5,400 50.9%
 Tameside & Glossop 975 5,485 33.0%
 Trafford 910 4,593 36.8%
 Wigan Borough 1,125 6,400 32.6%
Source: NHS Digital (MHSDS)

Greater Manchester Tier 4 (inpatient) CAMHS

Table X – Number of Admissions by CCG 2018-19. Source: NHS North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit, Greater Manchester STP CAMHS 

Page 90



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

29
V1 (03.02.20)

0
5

10
15
20
25

NHS 
Bolton 

CCG

NHS 
Bury 
CCG

NHS 
Heywood, 
Middleton 

and 
Rochdale 

CCG

NHS 
Manchester 

CCG

NHS 
Oldham 

CCG

NHS 
Salford 

CCG

NHS 
Stockport 

CCG

NHS 
Tameside 

and 
Glossop 

CCG

NHS 
Trafford 

CCG

NHS 
Wigan 

Borough 
CCG

Q1 2018/19 8 5 4 6 9 2 4 7 3 2
Q2 2018/19 14 2 5 18 9 4 8 4 3 6
Q3 2018/19 23 7 10 8 4 10 13 6 7 8
Q4 2018/19 14 6 3 19 5 10 2 5 1 10

Table x – Number of Admissions by CCG 2019-20. Source: NHS North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit, Greater Manchester STP CAMHS 

0

5

10

15

20

25

NHS 
Bolton 

CCG

NHS 
Bury 
CCG

NHS 
Heywood, 
Middleton 

and 
Rochdale 

CCG

NHS 
Manchester 

CCG

NHS 
Oldham 

CCG

NHS 
Salford 

CCG

NHS 
Stockport 

CCG

NHS 
Tameside 

and 
Glossop 

CCG

NHS 
Trafford 

CCG

NHS 
Wigan 

Borough 
CCG

Q1 2019/20 7 6 7 16 1 7 4 5 7 12
Q2 2019/20 7 9 3 20 7 4 1 6 1 4

Finance and Investment

Page 91



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

30
V1 (03.02.20)

From April 2019, Salford City Council and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) have pooled 
budgets and established integrated governance and commissioning arrangements across 
adults, children and young people’s services, public health and primary care. Our Thrive 
commissioning plans and children’s mental health contracts are the forefront of testing 
integrated arrangements. In 2019, our new joint governance has supported 
recommendations and a single business case for continued investment and implementation 
of the Salford Thrive Programme. From 2020, this provides recurrent funding to the services 
and projects we have been piloting in Salford that have collectively delivered improved 
access to mental health support in Salford. 

Approval of recurrent funding for the services and projects outlined is this report is critical to 
continuing to make progress and to enable us to take the next steps in out integrated 
commissioning plans for children’s emotional health and wellbeing and  mental health 
services and pathways. This provides the platform to help achieve greater flexibility and 
impact with our local resources (our money and workforce), so we can move the systems 
and support to where it is most needed. Over the next few years, we want to move 
resources ‘upstream’ to support universal services and families with wrap-around support 
though access to timely and effective consultation and advice, and to increase access to 
‘Early Help’  through our Early Help Hubs. We want this approach to place the young person 
at the centre but also to consider the needs of their parents/families/carers and to consider 
the issues that cause or exacerbate young people’s mental health, such as benefits and debt 
issues, family relationships and parental mental health needs. 

The following tables provide an update on our investments into children and young people’s 
mental health services and in our Thrive Programme to date through core Council and CCG 
budgets, via CAMHS Transformation investment and other local / GM funding streams that 
have supported our Thrive offer. The first table shows recurrent or core Council and CCG 
contracts only. The tables that follow outline the additional non-recurrent investments in 
services that has supported the funding of new projects and services as well as additional 
workforce capacity across the whole system, including in commissioned services. From April 
2020, a significant proportion of our transformation investments will become recurrently 
funded following approval of a combined business case for Salford’s Thrive programme.

Table x -  Service investment (core Council and CCG commissioned services)

Funding Source 42nd Street Core 
CAMHS

Targeted 
CAMHS

In-patient 
Beds Totals

2014-15 £50,908 £2,424,866 £305,416  £2,781,190
2015-16 £112,708 £2,356,622 £305,416  £2,774,726
2016-17 £112,706 £2,246,120 £305,416  £2,664,242
2017-18 £113,833 £2,447,000 £305,416  £2,866,249
2018-19 £113,382  £2,730,831 £305,417  £3,149,630 

CCG

2019-20 £116,967 £3,265,691 £305,417  £3,688,075
2014-15 £61,800 0 £432,408  £494,208
2015-16 0 0 £370,871  £370,871
2016-17 0 0 £370,871  £370,871
2017-18 0 0 £370,871  £370,871
2018-19 0 0 £370,871   

LA

2019-20 0 0 £370,871  £370,871

Page 92

file:///C:/Users/catarina.lima/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E18452DD.xlsx#RANGE!A239


Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

31
V1 (03.02.20)

2014-15    £569,756 £569,756
2015-16    £656,754 £656,754
2016-17    Unavailable  
2017-18    Unavailable  
2018-19    Unavailable  

NHSE

2019-20    Unavailable  

Table X – Local Transformation Plan (LTP) investment in 2015/16 and 2016/17

Scheme 2015-16 2016-17

Total LTP Investment available £267,000 £562,735[1]

Community Eating Disorder Service £62,500 £193,539

 Integrated First Response (formerly Rapid Access / Home 
Treatment Team) £27,500 £132,128

Single Point of Contact in CAMHS 0 £49,159

Whole School Approach to Emotional Wellbeing £100,000 £75,595

Prevention, early intervention & community support

Tues / Thurs LGBTQ+ Support Group £29,500

Emotional wellbeing early help support in west locality 

£40,000

£47,750

Capacity Building (inc. training)
i-THRIVE research*

£7,000
£26,720

Project implementation support £30,000

Miscellaneous

Additional monies for CYP-IAPT backfill £3,000

Total 267,000 £557,391[2]
[1] In addition we received a non-recurrent allocation of monies in 2016/17 from NHSE totalling £134,000 to support initiatives 
to drive down average waiting times for treatment and reduce length of stay in inpatient care through more robust 24/7 crisis 
care support pathways reported in the 2017 plan refresh.

Table XX - LTP Investments – 2017/18

Service / Project Cost 2017-18
Neuro Development Pathway Pilot £83,000
CAMHS School Link phase 2 £170,693
CAMHS Single Point of Contact £31,128

Page 93

file:///C:/Users/catarina.lima/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E18452DD.xlsx%23RANGE!A239
file:///C:/Users/catarina.lima/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E18452DD.xlsx#RANGE!A269
file:///C:/Users/catarina.lima/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E18452DD.xlsx%23RANGE!D221
file:///C:/Users/catarina.lima/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E18452DD.xlsx%23RANGE!D221
file:///C:/Users/catarina.lima/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/E18452DD.xlsx%23RANGE!D221


Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

32
V1 (03.02.20)

CEDS £39,110
ICRS £103,049
ICRS Evaluation £10,000
All Age Liaison £48,000
Innovation online therapeutic pilot £90,158
IAPT £30,000
OJC project developments £26,600
Homestart Early Attachment pilot £31,800
LGBTQ Youth Group £29,500
Engagement Activities £23,325

Table X – LTP Investments 2018/19 and 2019-20, and Investment Plan for 2020-21

Service / Project Actual 
2018-19

Actual spend 
2019-20

Proposed 
spend 2020-21

CAMHS LD increased investment 96,891 76,141 76,141
Community Eating Disorder Service 161,000 161,000 161,000
Integrated Community Response 
Service 142,973 157,798 162,076

All age Liaison 83,699 149,400 149,000
42nd Street increased investment 143,862 145,137 145,138
IAPT contributions 30,000 0 0
Post: Single point of contact 24,120 48,239 48,239
Engagement: Drama Workshops 9,975 9,975 9,975
CAMHS School Link Programme 
Phase 3 0 170,693 170,693

CAMHS LAC (Including I-Start pilot) 118,038 0 £113,000
Parent Peer Support 0 23,352 0
Total £810,558 £941,735* £1,035,261

*Budget surplus to be carried forward and contribute towards planned 2020-21 investment

Table X -  0-19 Service investment
Service 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

HV & FNP £4,888,000 £4,888,000 £4,805,576 £4,805,576

School Nursing £867,864 £865,117 £874,634 £874,634

Combined contracts £5,351,258 £5,270,472 £5,270,472

NHS Long Term Plan (LTP)
The LTP was published in January 2019 and builds on the 5 Year Forward View for MH 
which runs to 2020/21 and sets out a transformation plan that (a) commits mental health 
investment to grow faster than NHS budget in each of next 5 years, (b) creates new ring-

Page 94



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

33
V1 (03.02.20)

fenced GM investment worth at least £2.3b annually by 23/24, and (c) for CYPMH services 
to grow faster than overall NHS funding and total MH spend. An NHS Long Term Plan 
Implementation Framework, was issued June 2019, to support arrangements for delivery of 
LTP commitments and the previous requirements in the 5YFVMH. The NHS Mental Health 
Implementation Plan 19/20 –23/24, issued July 2019, provides a detailed framework to 
ensure delivery of the LTP at the local level outlining planning & delivery requirements, 
indicative funding and additional workforce required. 

The implementation plan and proposed allocations to GM and CCG budgets is currently 
working its way through GM and local governance processes. At the time of writing this 
report it was therefore not possible to confirm the agreed budget allocations for Salford, 
however, CAMHS commissioners have been briefed on expectations and deliverables and 
CAMHS Transformation budgets are expected to increase from 2020 to ensure continued 
delivery of national access targets (for CYPMH Access and Eating Disorder Services). 

As Salford has consistently delivered on its targets, it is anticipated that there will be some 
flexibility on how the additional funding can be used as long as access targets are achieved. 
It is expected that there will be a targeted allocation for statutory Eating Disorder Services 
which comes with the specific requirement that all GM CCGs adopt and implement new GM 
standards and GM specification for commissioned CYP Eating Disorder Services, which 
includes the recruitment of a dedicated Paediatrician and ensures non-interruption of care 
for young people at age 18 where they are on a care plan. These requirements are feeding 
into commissioning plans for the joint Manchester Salford Eating Disorder Service and will 
be varied into the contract in 2020/21. Once LTP budget allocations have been agreed with 
local CCGs, Salford will be able to provide firm proposals for how the additional funding 
should be used to ensure we deliver on the extended access targets set out in the GM 
Implementation Plan.

Potential future funding requirements 

There are other services and pathways commissioned in GM that may, in the future, have 
implications for / influence our local commissioning plans, but through GM governance 
arrangements such as GM CYP Mental Health Board, GM Future in Mind (CAMHS) 
Commissioner’s/ Long Term Plan Group and GM Crisis Care Board these will in time be 
better understood. The examples below are not exhaustive but may include:

 Workforce Development / GM Thrive academy
 GM Crisis Care Pathway - the full funding is currently provided via GM Health 

and Social Care budgets but it is expected that we may incur costs in future 
years.

 GM mental health in education programme – links to Salford schools 
EFS/CAMHS Link offer. 

Salford Mental Health All Age Commissioning Update

Page 95



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

34
V1 (03.02.20)

Supporting good mental health in Salford has always been a high priority. As a city facing 
challenges around poverty, physical health and education, we have similar challenges 
around the number of people with emotional wellbeing and mental health needs. It is 
estimated that 36,357 people in the city are likely to have a mild to moderate common 
mental health problem. Local people tell us that mental health is a priority area for the city 
and that they recognise the need to focus on building resilience (the ability to manage 
difficulties and challenges) in the community and supporting people with timely access to 
high quality mental health services. This commissioning strategy sets out how mental health 
needs will be supported in Salford until 2023 and focuses on emotional wellbeing and mental 
health throughout people’s lives, including children and young people, adults and older 
adults. 

The recommendations outlined in the strategy are based around the ‘Thrive’ model of 
support which outlines advice, getting help, getting more help and risk support. This 
approach is currently used within children’s services and provides a way of describing the 
local support offer. People may need different levels of support throughout their lives. The 
model provides a framework to focus on people’s needs and to take into account the wider 
determinants of health and their impact on mental health and the recognition that 50% of 
mental health problems are established by age 14 and 75% by age 245.

The key objectives outlines in the new all age strategy include:

 Objective 1: Develop an observable culture shift towards person centred mental 
health care

 Objective 2: Build resilience in childhood to improve the ability to manage 
emotional wellbeing throughout their lives and through to older age.

 Objective 3: Ensuring that ‘health’ includes an equal importance on mental and 
physical health.

 Objective 4: Identify as early as possible when people need more support to 
maintain good mental health and wellbeing.

 Objective 5: Achieve the targets set out in the NHS 5 Year Forward View for 
Mental Health

 Objective 6: Ensure equality of access and promotion of mental health and 
mental wellbeing services.

 Objective 7: Review and redesign mental health care pathways across the life 
course 

 Objective 8: Improve how we work together.

The implementation of the strategy and action plan has been overseen by an All Age Mental 
Health Strategy Group. This has included membership from Integrated Commissioning 
(children and adults), Mental Health Provider Trusts, VCSE sector representation, Public 
Health and Health watch. Progress to date has included: 

 Implementation of a VCSE sector mental health grants programme 
 Inclusion of a mental health focus in the new Salford Carers Strategy 

Page 96



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

35
V1 (03.02.20)

 Co-designed model of support developed for adults falling between primary care and 
secondary care, based on the approaches used in Lambeth Living Well. This will be 
piloted in Q4 2020. 

 Implementation of perinatal IAPT provision to support people in the perinatal period 
to access timely and appropriate talking therapies support.

 Review of adult eating disorders services

Future priorities include: 

 Continued co-production of the adult Living Well model, looking to extend to a month 
pilot in one area of Salford from Q1 2020

 18 month test of change for two adult crisis beds in the community 
 Development of a pilot approach to trial different approaches to supporting people on 

the rehab pathway 
 Continued monitoring of transition for people moving from CAMHs to adult services

Our Ambitions: what have we achieved in the last year?
Page 97



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

36
V1 (03.02.20)

GM Thrive Programme Update

Priorities for 2019-20 were:
 Deliver on Green Paper expectations for improved mental health offer in schools, linked 

to Salford EHWB in schools programme
 Review and specify CAMHS School Link and offer 
 GM i- Thrive and workforce plan including i-Thrive  Children’s Wellbeing Practitioner 

Academy training plan, aligned to
 Continued development and roll out of our Thrive Network and Salford Training and 

development plan
 Citywide roll out and evaluation  of the Solihull antenatal course 
 To develop a protocol around building emotional resilience and providing care leavers 

with coping strategies
 Implementation of an ACEs pilot and training programme for Salford to support 

professionals in identifying trauma in childhood and building resilience

Ambition 1: Update

Page 98



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

37
V1 (03.02.20)

The aim of GM Thrive was on strengthening and developing closer relationships with leaders 
within provider and commissioning networks, supporting the identification of a range of local 
implementation leads and the creation of  “THRIVE informed” local teams to better support 
the local implementation process. 

The programme was initially focussed on delivering a GM i-THRIVE Training and 
Development agenda over a three-year period, linked to the National i-THRIVE Academy, 
with the ambition of providing training for a minimum of 100 front-line staff per year – 10 per 
locality to be trained as trainers to support delivery of THRIVE-like services. The GM team 
would coach and mentor local leads through THRIVE informed transformation processes 
and work flexibly with each LTP to develop a wider understanding of each locality’s needs 
and requirements and draw from both the resources in the THRIVE toolkit and the expertise 
within the National i-THRIVE team in order to provide each LTP with a tailored package of 
support.  

Utilising the i-THRIVE framework the GM team have developed a learning 
network/community of practice alongside action learning groups, and have facilitated joint 
learning days to address common issues and challenges, to share knowledge about service 
improvement, innovations, and good practice within individual localities. Salford has been an 
active participant in GM work, attending Thrive Academy workshops and GM Thrive Leaders 
network. Salford has benefited from GM Thrive funding to support peer leadership in our 
schools and early help networks and to extend our engagement with you people in Salford’s 
Thrive work.

Achievements to Date:

 Establishment of full programme team, programme office (Clinical Lead, Programme 
Manager, Project Coordinator,  Assistant Psychologist, Data Coordinator)

 GM i-THRIVE Training Academy established – 4 National i-THRIVE modules 
delivered to approx.  200 staff across 10 GM localities.  

 THRIVE leads in all 10 GM localities &  Bi-monthly THRIVE leads meeting
 Regular communications  & 1:1 meetings with THRIVE leads
 THRIVE engagement events taken place in all 10 GM localities – pathway mapping 

workshops taken place in most localities
 Direct input into GM Trauma and Adversity Programme
 Outcomes framework created 
 Surveys for outcomes framework drafted and tested and workforce surveys 

disseminated. C&YP Surveys to be undertaken by psychology Assistants - 8 out of 
10 localities covered

 GM community of practice set up with 250+ multi-sector members
 3x community of practice events taken place (GM wide & multi-sector)
 Subject Matter Expert funding distributed to support Thrive implementation in 

localities

Salford Thrive Network
The Salford Thrive Network continues to grow and develop, with regular email bulletins 
circulated to the Network group, providing updates on resources, training opportunities and 
events. 

Page 99



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

38
V1 (03.02.20)

In June 2019, a Thrive Network1 day conference focused on “Trauma and adversity, risk 
and resilience” took place at the Lighthouse, Eccles. The key aims of the day were to 
explore the background and current context of trauma and adversity (Adverse Childhood 
Experiences ACEs) and to provide the opportunity to consider how to take a Risk / 
Resilience lens to services.

The morning session included presentations by Jane Case, Senior Programme Manager 
Integrated Commissioning who provided an overview of Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) and Paul Wallis, CAMHS Clinical Lead for GM i-THRIVE who presentation on 
trauma and adversity, the impact on service and the GM approach.

In the afternoon delegates offered the opportunity to attend workshops which included: 

1. Identifying risk and building resilience
2. ACES: The Harpurhey model
3. Trauma informed schools
4. Developing trauma informed services and assessments

To evidence the impact of the event participants were asked at the start of the day to rate 
their understanding of ACEs, with the exercise undertaken at the end of the day, the 
following chart shows the pre and post scores:

The event was widely promoted via the Thrive Partnership and Network and via the 
Emotional health and wellbeing webpages with 132 people attending on the day. 

t the event delegates were asked to complete pledges 
supporting a trauma informed approach, these included:  

 Facilitate training for staff
 Further explore how we can develop resilience in 

children and families
 Recognise signs in young people
 Considering ACE's as part of everyday work
 Trauma informed policy for school
 Staff wellbeing drop-ins
 Take into account parent trauma
 Model trauma informed approach in workplace
 Be more vocal about this approach
 Listen to young people and their needs

4%

30% 24% 27%
15%

7%

91%

0% 0% 2%

Full knowledge A lot Some A bit None at all

Pre Post

Page 100



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

39
V1 (03.02.20)

GM Workforce Strategy and Development
Staff from Salford CAMHS have continued to contribute to the development of the GM 
workforce strategy, identifying local training and development needs, and considering 
collaboration in GM-wide initiatives.  In the past year a range of staff in Salford CAMHS have 
trained in the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS), commissioned by GM and 
delivered by experts in the field.  This will contribute to an expanded resource in the 
assessment and diagnostic process for young people with ASC.  In addition a number of 
staff have received training in Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT), skills which are 
important to the treatment and management of young people who self-harm, and Eye 
Movement Desensitisation Re-processing (EMDR), a NICE approved treatment for young 
people presenting with PTSD.  These specialist trainings reflect the service focus on 
ensuring that the workforce are equipped to manage and treat risk and complexity, in the 
context of the multiple variety of presentations to the service.

There is a recognised need to build capacity and skills in the wider workforce, particularly 
school staff, in the earlier identification and signposting of ASC and LD.  With the expansion 
of the neurodevelopmental offer, enhanced training in the Salford CAMHS team, for example 
in ADOS, as well as the CYP-IAPT LD/ASC course, there will be an increased focus on 
outreach into schools.  In addition Salford are collaborating with wider-GM plans to ensure 
increasing alignment of pathways around Neurodiversity, including the potential 
development of training packages for early-years workers.

Staff from CAMHS will also benefit from further GM-wide approaches to workforce 
development, as GM-wide training programmes emerge over the next 6-12 months 
focussing on the GM Workforce strategy aims of supporting Supervision, Training, 
Leadership and Well-being.  As evidenced the development of SPOC, Salford CAMHS is 
also collaborating with the GM iTHRIVE team to look at expanding the offer around 
prevention, advice and signposting.  A range of workers from across Salford CAMHS have 
now accessed GM iTHRIVE Training Academy Modules on Advice and Signposting, Shared 
Decision-Making, Ending Treatment and Risk support.  These training approaches are 
aimed to impact on clinician behaviours in specialist teams, but also influence the delivery of 
services from early intervention in community-based settings to working with complex and 
enduring issues for young people involved in the No Wrong Door Programme.  In addition 
the GM iTHRIVE Academy has recruited a number of staff from both Salford CAMHS, 
STARLAC and youth services to assist in the sustainable delivery of these modules, 
adopting a train the trainer approach.  Salford partners, including CAMHS, have also been 
working closely to look at the Trauma and Adversity agenda, piloting training in the YOS 
team, presenting at the 6-monthly Salford iTHRIVE event, and collaborating on the 
developing GM approach to upskilling and informing the workforce and community on key 
concepts relating to Trauma and ACEs.

Staff from Salford and MFT CAMHS have been collaborating with 42nd Street and community 
leaders to support the newly launched training programme being offered to education staff 
from the Orthodox Jewish Community.  This programme based on youth-work training aims 
to enhance awareness of mental health and emotional well-being for children and young 
people in the community and CAMHS staff are involved in both delivering teaching as well 
as offering reflective consultation over the next 12 months.  

Page 101



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

40
V1 (03.02.20)

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Training update
Salford have continued to support practitioners to follow the CYP-IAPT course, and in the 
last year 1 core practitioner began the IPT-A training, whilst another completed her Post-
graduate CBT training and is now bringing these skills into practice within the Salford team. 
In addition Salford CAMHS continues to benefit from CYP-IAPT trainees who have 
completed the CYWP course, and in the coming years the Education Mental Health Workers 
will have a significant role interfacing between schools and specialist services. 

For 2020 we are looking to recruit to train 2 staff to follow the CYP-IAPT LD/ASC course 
which has successfully run for the past 2 years now.  These practitioners will gain high 
quality training in formulation, assessment and treatment for children and young people with 
a range of conditions, and will contribute to Salford’s expanded Neurodevelopmental 
pathway.  In addition we are hoping for one of the new clinicians in the core team to train on 
the introductory Enhanced Evidence Based Practice course.  We maintain close links with 
the course with staff from the CAMHS team contributing to teaching and supporting the 
supervision of trainees in service.

Workforce expansion and capacity
Salford CAMHS continue to work towards increasing the local CAMHS workforce and are 
delivering on 5YFV targets set in GM for workforce expansion across all 10 localities. , A GM  
audit is planned in 2020 to assess how localities are progressing against the target to date.  
So far the GM target has been focused on the specialist CAMHS workforce but this is set to 
change going forward and to consider the whole children’s mental health workforce.   Over 
the past 1-2 years, we have continued to invest more across all our services and both 
CAMHS and 42nd Street have increased their staffing capacity considerably (see section 3, 
for details for both services).

Table XX- Greater Manchester CAMHS Workforce expansion targets (2016-2021)

CAMHS Workforce Expansion Medical Nursing Allied 
Health

Total 
Clinical

Greater Manchester (100%) 9 65 37 111

Bolton (10.1%) 0.9 6.6 3.7 11.2

Bury (6.5%) 0.6 4.2 2.4 7.2

Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale (8.0%) 0.7 5.2 3 8.9

Manchester (21.1%) 1.9 13.7 7.8 23.4

Oldham (8.1%) 0.7 5.3 3 9

Salford (9.5%) 0.9 6.2 3.5 10.5

Stockport (10.0%) 0.9 6.5 3.7 11.1

Tameside & Glossop (8.3%) 0.7 5.4 3.1 9.2

Trafford (7.4%) 0.7 4.8 2.7 8.2

Wigan (11.0%) 1 7.1 4.1 12.2

Page 102



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

41
V1 (03.02.20)

TOTAL 9 65 37 111
Salford’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Training Programme

Now in its 3rd year, the Salford emotional health and wellbeing training programme has continued 
to deliver training opportunities to support staff and volunteers in their roles. Ensuring that the 
workforce has the confidence and understanding of how to identify needs and to have the skills to 
respond and support effectively children and young people with their emotional wellbeing.
During 2019-20 programme has delivered:

Mental Health First Aid (MHFA):  A comprehensive offer to both schools and the wider workforce 
has been delivered over the last 12 months. The training offer to schools and the wider workforce / 
volunteers has been the 1 day Youth MHFA Champion and the 2 day Mental Health First Aider 
courses. Up until March 2020, 21 courses will have been delivered with 364 places available, 
currently the attendance rate stands at 82%.

Participants’ feedback:

“I am more acutely aware of the issues that affect young people 
and I continue to grow in confidence”
“I feel much more confident to address mental health issues and 
not afraid of making things worse”

LGBTQ+ Awareness: The LGBT+ Inclusivity Training has been developed by IYSS in partnership 
with 42nd Street and CAMHS specifically for Salford and is aimed at professionals working with 
young people or adults, and looks at how to support LGBT+ people in their work. Following 
evaluation and feedback from 2018-19 delivery the training programme has been revised, offering 
three 3 levels – workshop, foundation and intermediate.

2019-20 delivery: 8 courses have been booked, running until March 2020 with 250 places available 
with an average attendance rate of 73%.

Participants’ Feedback: 

“This training is fantastic as everything discussed is relevant and 
interesting”
“Really interesting training that kept attention throughout”
“I would like to thank the two training leads, who were engaging, 
knowledgeable, highly professional and sensitive to the fact that 
delegates can be nervous around this type of discussion”

5.0 4.9

8.3 8.3

Personal Confidence Knowledge & Understanding

Pre training Post training

Impact of MHFA training:

Page 103



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

42
V1 (03.02.20)

Risk & Resilience Training

Following the successful ‘Trauma and adversity, risk and resilience' 1 day conference in June,  a 
wider training offer has been developed to raise awareness of the adverse childhood experiences 
which cause trauma in a child's life, learn more about how to recognise and respond to people who 
have experienced trauma and understand what a trauma informed approach is.

2019-20 delivery has included a series of short Risk and Resilience briefing sessions open to all 
staff, with 120 people attending; a 1 day Risk and Resilience training session going into more detail, 
providing a parents perspective and discussing chronology best practice. Over 100 people attended 
the training with representation from a wide range of services and providers. 

Participants were asked what key messages they took from the training:

 “Building foundations in child mental well-being to help with 
long term health / well-being”
“The importance of language”
“To look at children’s behaviour and experiences through a 
trauma informed lens”

EHWB Training Survey: As part of the planning for the delivery of the 0-25 EHWB training 
programme an online survey was undertaken to find out what the additional training needs 
are within Salford with regards to children and young people’s emotional health and welling.

The short survey was circulated via the Salford Thrive Network (over 300 workers), along 
with anyone who has attended any of the previous EHWB training delivery over the last 3 
years. The response rate was quite low, with only 31 people completing the survey, however 
the Thrive Network event in June 2019 also provided an opportunity to gain feedback and 
was included in the findings.

Participants were asked to identify the main mental health or emotional wellbeing concerns 
that arise in their work with children and young people and this information will support future 

11% 14%

45%

26%

4%0% 0% 1%

36%

63%

1 2 3 4 5

Pre Training Post Training

Aware of the range of Adverse Childhood experiences 
1 = no awareness and 5 = full awareness)

Page 104



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

43
V1 (03.02.20)

developments and planning for both the Thrive Network and training programme, full results 
below:

Counselling in schools Small Grants programme 2018-19
18 Salford schools were awarded small grants as match funding for commissioning 
counselling from the Approved Provider register. A total of £61,500 was awarded, to 4 
secondary schools and 14 primaries, though two schools subsequently did not proceed. 
Participating schools provided termly updates on progress and impact of commissioned 
provision. It was a funding condition that schools had to commission via the Salford School 
Counselling ‘Approved Provider register’ to ensure that the providers met local safeguarding 
and quality standards. The schools commissioned a number of different approved providers, 
including: Place2Be, Barnado’s, Child in Mind, Child Action North West, 42nd Street, and 
Caritas.

An interim and final evaluation was undertaken with 13 of the schools to review impacts and 
benefits of offering counselling in schools. This highlighted that providers and schools used a 
range of different measures to assess impact and improvement in wellbeing for individual 
young people received counselling. Out of the 13 schools involved in the review, 9 used the 
Strengths and Difficulties (SDQ) questionnaire, 3 used Outcomes Rating Scales (ORS) and 
2 used My Star. Others that were used once were Rickter Scale (for parents), Goal Progress 
Chart and Attitude to Learning (for teachers to complete). Schools and providers also 
provided feedback on the main improvements/benefits of counselling services These 
included: improved behaviour, attendance, engagement and concentration in school,  peer 
relationships and family relationships, improved happiness, improved school performance. 
Provider assessments also reported reduced mental health issues such as self-harm, 
suicide ideation, and self-hate, improved mood and emotional regulation, and reduced levels 
of anxiety/distress.

There is strong evidence of the benefits of offering access to quality assured counselling in 
schools and this provides early access to support and prevents issues from escalating, often 
reducing the need for onward referral to specialist services, but ensuring access to mental 
health services when children are identified at risk or in need of specialist support.

28

22

28

31

27

16

16

31

24

13

27

12

18

ADHD

ASD

Anger / aggression

Anxiety

Behaviour

Bereavement

Bullying

Confidence / self esteem

Depression

Eating disorders

Self harm

Suicide

Trauma

Page 105



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

44
V1 (03.02.20)

Future plans: £11,000 of the Population Health Small Grant funding has been ring-fenced 
and matched with CCG funding to commission a full review and needs assessment of 
children’s counselling provision in Salford. It is envisaged that this research and report will 
be undertaken by summer 2020 and will be key to informing future investment in counselling 
for children and young people in Salford. The review will include all CCG/Council 
commissioned counselling provision, including bereavement and palliative care, and will 
include non-commissioned provision delivered by charities or via GM/National services. 

For Solihull Antenatal training and Whole School Approach to emotional health 
(including EFS and CAMHS School link updates) – see under Ambition 2 below.

Ambition 3: Future Priorities

See our draft priorities for 2020-21 in Section 7

To be reviewed with Thrive Partnership 11 Feb 2020

Page 106



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

45
V1 (03.02.20)

Early Help Project 
The West neighbourhood was a trailblazer in improving Early Help staff awareness and 
confidence around children’s emotional health and wellbeing, and this learning is now rolling 
out across other neighbourhoods in the City.  42nd Street, our 3rd sector commissioned 
young people’s mental health service, undertook a needs assessment of emotional and 
mental health support skills, de-escalation and trauma and adversity awareness. This helped 
shape the agenda for two development days for the Early Help workforce, delivered by 42nd 
street that covered theory and practical skills for supporting children and families if they are 
experiencing the crisis of trauma that is a current or historical experience. Both days were 
very well received and the experience of an alternative training provider has added to the 
rich skills of the wider workforce in our city. Attendees were from Salford City Council Early 
Help and school staff, SEND support staff and third sector workers.

42nd Street provided 2 workshops at the first event with 77 attendees and a keynote lecture 
that delivered theory including brain development and examples of good practice around 
trauma and adversity. There was an evaluation/feedback session at the close of the day. 
Based on this feedback a further 5 workshops were added in the second event, for 80 
attendees. A consultant (Harriet Williams) delivered the keynote lectures; 42nd Street staff 
delivered 6 of the workshops and a consultant (Lisa Wisher) delivered the workshop in Non-
violent resistance. 

Priorities for 2019-20 were:
 Early Help implementation plan and rollout city wide
 Continued delivery and review of the Solihull Antenatal Programme
 Develop strategies to better support  young people not in education, employment or 

training (NEET) with improved emotional wellbeing 
 Consider recommendations from the ASD employment pathway research project 
 Review and re-specify the  CAMHS BME post, involving BME young people to 

understand needs
 Monitor and review approved counselling in schools provider register and small grants 

fund
 Continued delivery of the Little Pot of Health, Healthy Schools Fund
 Roll out and monitor EFS accreditation to all schools in Salford
 Work with post-16 learning providers to develop and roll out EFS programme 

(Emotionally Friendly Settings)
 Develop and implement Early Years and post 16 versions of EFS
 Develop a vulnerability index tool to assist schools to identify vulnerable pupils in line with 

GDPR compliance
 Review the implementation of primary to secondary school transition processes to 

establishing a set of good practice standards to support pupils, especially vulnerable 
pupils

 Review and specify CAMHS School Link and CWP offer 

Ambition 2: Update

Page 107



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

46
V1 (03.02.20)

Early Help Thrive Leads (Subject matter experts):  two city council staff undertook GM 
training to become Thrive Leads or ‘subject matter experts’. In addition to delivering 
awareness raising and training, the commitment includes embedding Thrive within the 
working practice of their teams and wider Early Help service. Their role is to lead and 
champion the Thrive delivery model. One element of this work is to ensure that all staff 
access Mental health First Aid training, so they are able to identify and tackle low level 
mental health needs in their daily practice (training for approx. 120 staff). Following training 
the service will undertake two Thrive development days to engage the service as a whole 
and to take stock of current working practices and identify opportunities together where 
Thrive practices can be embedded to improve outcomes for service users.  Through this 
work, there has been a need identified for Early Help teams to have access to supervision. 
This is also recognised as a GM priority and will be taken forward as a priority in Salford for 
2020-21.

Solihull Antenatal update 
Over the last year the Solihull Antenatal Project has progressed predominantly in line with 
the planned project time line.  The training plan has seen a further 11 front line practitioners 
from Early Help and Health Visiting trained in the One Day Solihull Antenatal to be able to 
deliver to parents.  Following this 7 practitioners completed the Train the Trainer course to 
be able to train up staff, which is part of the plan to keep the model sustainable in the future.

The Pilot delivery of the Antenatal programme to parents in the West and North localities has 
continued, there has been some drop off in numbers which is being analysed but it appears 
there is a variety of reasons including clear information at point of invitation, weather factors 
and session content and delivery.  Interim plans are being looked at to support this and the 
evaluation of this data is being included in the Research project to give us more clarity. 

The Research Project with the University of Manchester began recruitment of parents in July 
2019, this remains ongoing. A cohort of parents are currently participating in the project and 
data is being collated. There has been some difficulty in recruiting and retaining participants 
due to barriers accessing follow up questionnaires online and time required to complete 
these.  This has been raised and reviewed with the research team and a new plan is now in 
place to ensure recruitment numbers can be increased and further data can be collated.

A Lead Midwife from Central Manchester is supporting the project one day a week to make 
links with all midwifery providers, to support strategic buy in and operational roll out.  This is 
also supporting the promotion and delivery of the pilot to raise attendance.  This role is key 
to bringing midwifery partners on board. 

2020 plans include:

 To deliver bespoke Foundation and Antenatal training for identified Central Midwives 
 First High Level Data to be received from the Research Project Feb 2020
 Quality Assurance Process to be developed to ensure consistency and fidelity is 

maintained citywide. 
 The full citywide roll out initially planned to be implemented April 2020 may need to 

be pushed back to allow for research findings to be reported first.

Whole school approach to emotional wellbeing in Salford
(Delivers on Ambitions 1 & 2) 

Thrive in Education Group:  The group is acting as an expert reference group for the 
whole school approach, overseeing the below projects and determining the direction for 

Page 108



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

47
V1 (03.02.20)

development on various other strands of EHWB work with schools. The groups meets termly 
and comprises of the following representatives: primary and secondary schools, School Co-
ordinators, Inclusion Manager and Virtual Headteacher, VCSE representative, Alternative 
provision lead, EHE lead, local authority commissioning staff, Educational Psychologist and 
the CAMHS School link lead.

CAMHS – Schools Link Pilot:  Salford was selected and funded by a joint DfE and DoH 
initiative as one of 26 national pilots in 2016-17 to test ways to improve links between 
CAMHS and schools. The initial pilot provided £50,000 national funding as match for CCG 
CAMHS Transformation monies to work with 10 Salford schools and involved delivery of 
training and engagement sessions by the Anna Freud centre to improve understanding of 
the issues/barriers between CAMHS and schools, increase awareness of school 
professionals around CYP mental health and of CAMHS services and pathways. The project 
recruited a dedicated CAMHS School Link Worker to offer further training and support and to 
develop and improve relationships between CAMHS and Schools, and to establish safe 
processes for direct referrals to CAMHS by dedicated and trained mental health leads in 
schools. Via CAMHS Transformation funding the service has evolved and grown with rollout 
to a further 23 schools in year two and aimed to engage a further 30 in year three. In 2018, 
the scope and funding was extended to include consultation and liaison and training to 
schools and the wider CYP workforce, and targeted clinical interventions for vulnerable Year 
6 pupils through two new ‘i-Reach’ posts (newly qualified CYP EHWB practitioners) in 
schools settings. This service has also been key to improving school ADHD pathways. The 
project has now been evaluated and is this is summarised in section 2 below. 

The specific issues that the pilot aimed to address were articulated by schools in the initial 
workshops:

 Teachers not able to make direct referrals to CAMHS
 Teachers not routinely informed about a child’s progress, outcomes of assessments, 

discharge plans and concerns
 Teachers asked to complete questionnaires in isolation with limited explanation  of 

relevance to child’s assessment management
 Teachers feeling  their views as educators not valued or appreciated within CAMHS 

systems
 Teachers feeling communication is poor, roles are unclear and expectations of each 

other are uncertain

Service Evaluation and impact

The project has now been delivering for over 3 years and has adapted and extended its offer 
to continue to meet the needs of schools, increasingly as part of a whole system ‘Thrive 
offer’ and working in partnership with other stakeholders to target resources effectively to the 
schools that most need support and to ensure an integrated package of support across 
CAMHS, the Educational Psychology Service, Integrated Youth Services, Counselling 
Provision, Odd Arts, VCSE sector funded projects for schools, schools nursing etc. The local 
offer has also evolved to adapt to the changing national and GM landscapes, in particular 
the GM healthy schools / rapid pilot (see under Ambition 2 for details). At the time of the 
most recent evaluation (July 2019), 66 schools were engaged in CAMHS School Link and 
continue to receive targeted support.

As well as offering consultation, training and support to individual schools and staff, the 
project is represented both locally and at a broad range of GM reference groups. The 

Page 109



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

48
V1 (03.02.20)

relationship between CAMHS and schools seems to have improved considerably over the 
past 3 years and the role of the dedicated CAMHS Link practitioner is know well established 
and utilised. This was tested by commissioners through an independent survey monkey 
undertaken as part of the evaluation process, with strong support from schools and children 
for the service to continue. See full evaluation report for more detail.

All schools engaged in the project are required to identify at least one designated Mental 
Health Lead (often but not always a SENDCo), who attend an initial 2 day training course 
and are then offered bespoke training for staff across a range of topics, including: ADHD, 
Self-Harm, Anxiety, Low mood, PTSD, Eating Disorders, SDQ Training, and Oppositional 
Defiance Disorder. Some training has been co-delivered with other professionals such as 
The Educational Psychology Service or 42nd Street. In 2018-19, the project delivered 22 
bespoke workshops for schools.

The CAMHS i-Reach project is a development of the CAMHS School Link offer and followed 
ongoing feedback from primary schools about the lack of access to support for children 
under 11 who present with needs that are not deemed severe or complex enough to warrant 
a CAMHS referral. The newly introduced Children and Young People’s wellbeing 
Practitioners (CYWPs) adapted from the adult IAPT Psychological Wellbeing Practitioner 
model, presented an opportunity to target support to primary school age children identified 
as likely to be vulnerable at transition to secondary school. CYWPs are graduates with 
experience in mental health settings with 12 months training, including 4 days clinical 
practice in CAMHS and 1 day per week at the Cognitive Therapy Centre. CYWPs are trained 
to deliver evidenced based interventions for the following presentations and receive ongoing 
clinical supervision and governance as per the IAPT CYWP model through CAMHS 
experienced clinicians.

Summary of performance data for 2018-19 and Q1 of 2019:

New Referrals 132 (90% accepted)
New Appointments attended 243
Follow up Appointments attended 627
Actual Clinical Attended Contacts 952
Average time to First Contact 4.7 weeks
Average DNA rate 9%
Email consultations 231

Project Evaluation and future plans

Schools have actively engaged and benefited from involvement in the CAMHS School Link 
programme and the evaluation and feedback provides strong evidence that schools are in a 
much stronger position than they were 4 years ago, with much improved relationships with 
CAMHS, the ability to refer directly and to access timely consultation and advice and have 
benefited and continue to received quality targeted mental health related training. At 
November 2019 70 schools have engaged across phase 1-3 of the project, with at least one 
designated and trained mental health lead in each school. With 9 schools scheduled to 
attend training in January and March it is envisaged that the numbers schools engaged at 
the end of March 2020 will rise to 90.

The initial concern regarding direct referrals from schools to CAMHS was that it would ‘open 
the floodgates’ and that the increase in demand would be significant. However, performance 
data has shown that this has not been realised, with feedback from CAMHS that referrals 

Page 110



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

49
V1 (03.02.20)

form schools, particularly regarding ADHD have been of a much higher standard than from 
other referring professionals that have not benefited from dedicated training and support. 
This learning has informed other service developments include the role of the Single Point of 
Contact. 

The July evaluation report has provided strong evidence to support a business case to 
Salford Council and CCG in December 2019 for service continuation and scale up of the 
CAMHS School Link team, subject to confirmation of additional funding for children’s mental 
health in Salford from 2020. Recommendations for continuation via recurrent funding have 
been included in our 2020-21 Thrive delivery and budget plans.

Ref Appendix 2 – full summary of service evaluations 2019.

Emotionally Friendly Settings (EFS, formerly known as Emotionally Friendly Schools):

In 2018, EFS received GM population Health funding to develop an EYFS and Post 16 
version of EFS, and to further promote the programme and develop the accreditation.  This 
supported additional educational psychology provision and dedicated business 
management. to oversee the development of the service which is also key to co-ordinating 
the wider Thrive in education work and forging links across the schools support system.

To date, 76 of the 97 schools in Salford have completed EFS programme (78%), with a 
further 12 currently going through the process and 9 schools have completed their 
accreditation with 8 achieving bronze and 1 silver and 7 schools have registered to go 
through the accreditation process. 25 schools are currently working towards either bronze or 
silver accreditation. There are 8 schools from outside of Salford that are working on the 
programme. The EYFS and Post 16 versions of the programme will be launched in Spring 
2020.

EFS schools all have ‘EFS champions’ to support emotional health and wellbeing 
development in their school, one of whom must be on the senior leadership team.  Therefore 
schools engaged with EFS are already meeting the requirements of the Mental Health Green 
paper as they already have designated senior leaders for mental health.

Co-delivery of EFS and the CAMHS School link project, where EFS lays the groundwork for 
a setting environment and ethos that promotes good mental and emotional health in pupils 
and staff; and CAMHS school link programme educates schools on when and how additional 
specialist support should be accessed for more vulnerable pupils, has provided a  unified 
approach that has promoted inclusion and provided a foundation and direction for 
improvement in emotional health and well-being in schools. 

Population health funding for EFS only runs up to end of March 2020.  An evaluation of the 
project is currently being produced, making recommendations and suggesting options for 
future funding of the programme. Current/ future priorities for EFS include:

 Evaluation of the impact of EFS in schools
 Review of the accreditation, including the potential for external accreditation
 Continued engagement with Salford schools to pursue a whole school approach to 

emotional health and wellbeing and to achieve accreditation
 Rollout of the EYFS and Post 16 versions,
 Continued development of the website and social media communications, and 
 Developing the programme as a product to sell to make it self-funding.

Page 111



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

50
V1 (03.02.20)

Subject Matter Experts project – education peer leaders:  An element of the funding 
provided through GM for subject matter experts in Salford has been used to help develop 
peer networks between schools that promote EFS accredited schools to support other 
schools within their area as subject matter experts or education peer leaders.  The lead is 
also engaging with schools who to date have failed to access any of the services provided 
through the whole school approach. In 2020 we aim to have established peer led Thrive 
Network groups for primary and secondary education leaders to share learning and good 
practice and to support schools that may be in development.   

7 minute briefing and Schools matrix:  The 7 minute briefing summarises the offer 
available to schools and is kept regularly updated. In addition a schools matrix helps us to 
track which schools are engaging with various EHWB projects in the whole school approach.  
This allows monitoring of engagement levels and targeted work to engage those schools that 
are accessing little or no EHWB support/training.

EHWB Schools 
(Overview) update 14.11.19.xlsx

GM Mentally Healthy Schools and Colleges:  A GM Mental Health in Education (MHiE) 
Strategy (which will include the preferred model for Mental Health Support Teams (MHST), 
workforce needs assessment, GM Standards linked to THRIVE and Ofsted, a training ladder 
proposal and Link Programme support) is being developed through engagement with the 10 
GM CCGs, Community CAMHS Teams, Local Authority Education and Social Care Teams, 
Schools and FE colleges, MATs and wider system teams such as Educational Psychology.

The offer includes:
 1 full day of Mental Health Practitioners (MHPS)/Education Mental Health Practitioners 

(EMHPS) in each school/college and is integrated into the whole school dynamics, and 
pastoral and leadership teams. EMHPS have completed assessments, have small case 
loads and have been planning and delivering group work.  The MHPS are experienced in 
psycho-social therapeutic approaches/modalities and advocacy for one to one work.  
This encourages a whole school approach across sectors which is changing the practice 
and cultures in education settings. Trainee EMHPS are able to shadow and learn directly 
from experienced locality practitioners improving their system wide, year round  
knowledge and approaches that will work for children, young people and families within 
schools and communities. In total 8 EMHPs, 21.75 FTE qualified and experienced MHPS 
and 10 qualified senior managers will work across GM, covering all 10 localities and 4 
CCG Trust areas. 

 Each school/college has a Mental Health lead that has been trained consistently by 
Place2Be and is supported by the MHST to develop a whole school approach.

 Each local partner is already commissioned by their local CCG and are part of the local 
pathways for CAMHs. The role of the MHSTs supports staff in settings to better support 
their young people, avoids unnecessary referrals to specialist CAMHS, and promotes 
appropriate referrals and conversations.

The second cohort of GM EMHPs have been employed by PCFT and will work closely with 
the PCFT CAMHS Team, this project is currently shaping it's delivery model which will align 
with the GM strategic model for delivery of mental health support in education settings. In 
Salford, the following schools have accessed the project and received support via GM:

Phase 2 Phase 3
Irlam and Cadishead Academy UTC@MediaCityUK

Page 112



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

51
V1 (03.02.20)

Buile Hill Academy The Clifton Centre Pupil Referral Unit

New Broadwalk Pupil Referral Unit St Augustines CE Primary School

St Patricks RC High School St Pauls CE Primary School Crompton Street

Summerville Primary School Beis Yaakov Jewish High School for Girls

Christ Church CE Primary School
Note: no Salford schools were chosen to access phase 1 of the project due to the significant work that 
Salford were already doing to target emotional health and wellbeing in schools

Not in education employment and training (NEET) young people
NEET young people’s emotional health and wellbeing was identified as a gap via the All Age 
Mental Health strategy and required assessment work.  This has informed the start of some 
targeted work in 2019, which is outlined below.

Connexions lead adviser identified and working with specific caseload of NEET young 
people (age 16 and 17) suffering from poor mental health.  These young people may be 
currently accessing mental health services or may not.  The adviser now sits on the Thrive 
partnership and informs partners of the extent of mental health within the NEET cohort. 
Connexions also now ‘flag’ young people with diagnosed mental health concerns onto their 
database so we can track and monitor this cohort.  They also ‘flagged’ suspected, mental 
health concerns as professionally judged by their advisers, which helps us to monitor the 
wider extent to which the NEET cohort may be suffering from poor mental health and inform 
services.

‘Emotionally Friendly ‘Settings’ has started to be developed on the back of Emotionally 
Friendly Schools, working with post-16 providers and services to support post-16 young 
people.  This is currently being piloted with Salford City College at the Worsley Campus, 
where staff have had their whole staff training, action planning meeting and have a draft 
version of the manual at present. The manual is now with a design team and a final version 
is expected soon so this can be rolled out/offered to other post 16 settings.

Salford City College are offering a broader range of provision which is more supportive 
than the mainstream offer, which supports  vulnerable NEET young people including those 
experiencing mental health difficulties.  This is through their Princes Trust provision and 
Passport programmes, which provide a highly supported stepping stone into mainstream 
programmes at the appropriate time.

Salford City Council has recently submitted an Innovation Fund bid to the CCG bid to 
provide transition support for young people in yr 11 who have been identified as 
suffering with their mental health which can affect their post-16 transition from school into 
their next destination.  If successful this will be delivered through a ‘Transition Mentor’ who 
can provide intensive support to specific vulnerable settings where young people are already 
identified as suffering from poor mental health or settings where the likelihood of their mental 
health deteriorating is more likely such as in alternative provision settings, where their 
education has been a negative experience.

ACEs – Trauma and Adversity work 

Page 113



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

52
V1 (03.02.20)

ACEs stands for Adverse Childhood Experiences and is the term used to describe a wide 
range of stressful or traumatic experiences that children can be exposed to whilst growing 
up. ACEs range from experiences that directly harm a child (such as suffering physical, 
verbal or sexual abuse, and physical or emotional neglect) to those that affect the 
environment in which a child grows up (including parental separation, domestic abuse, 
mental illness, alcohol abuse, drug use or incarceration). What must be remembered is that 
ACEs can be prevented.

In 2019 the report Resilience Building: A system wide approach to addressing Trauma and 
Adversity in Salford was presented, with the recommendation to develop a strategy and 
action plan to embed this work within Salford. The report highlighted that the recognition of 
Adverse Childhood Experiences and development of a Trauma Informed response to 
adversity are key to reducing poor outcomes for children and families. Key to underpinning 
this work would be the development of the ‘Salford Way’, an approach to support the 
normalisation of the early identification and prevention of additional traumas in a child’s life, 
linking in with existing developments and providing a universal language to aid practitioners 
to recognise their own and other’s needs.

Greater Manchester Thrive hub are developing proposals for a Greater Manchester 
approach to workforce development, and investment is being sought to establish a 
programme hub. A community of practice is being established to join up innovation across 
the conurbation, with Salford fully engaged in this work.

The Salford Thrive conference in June 2019 focused on “Trauma and adversity, risk and 
resilience”, introducing the background and context of trauma and adversity and provided an 
opportunity to consider how to take a risk and resilience lens to services. The event was 
widely promoted via the Thrive Partnership, distribution list and the 0-25 EHWB webpages 

with 132 people attending on the day form arrange of teams, service and organisations.

As part of the event evaluation, delegates were asked to consider what they you would like 
to see covered in the future linked to ACEs and the needs of their services or schools, this 
feedback will be used in the development of a wider training programme and supporting 
resources / tools.  An ACEs page on the Partners in Salford website was created, providing 
professionals access to information, resources and links to online learning. 

Children's Service 

Education  

Health 

Housing 

VCSE 

Conference delegates by sector:

Page 114

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-0-25-advisory-board/emotional-health/aces/


Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

53
V1 (03.02.20)

Training: Bespoke training has been delivered to a number of professionals and teams 
including Social Care, Youth Justice Services, Strengthening Families team, Family Nurse 
Partnership and the Health Improvement team. 

To raise awareness and further engage the workforce in the Salford trauma informed 
approach, a series of 90 minute briefings were help with 120 professionals attending.

Following discussions with the SSCP training lead a one day training offer on Trauma and 
Adversity, Risk and Resilience, to support the roll out trauma informed approaches across 
Salford which included the principles of Adversity and Trauma informed care, Salford parent 
panel, learning from parents – The Camden Conversations, understanding the parent 
perspective, with the afternoon session looking at chronology best practice. The event had 
representatives from Children’s Services, early years, education, health, housing, VSCE and 
mental health and youth service, with 108 people attending on the day.

A comprehensive 2 day training, Practice informed by Trauma, was delivered in November 
2019 by an external consultant. Staff from the Youth Justice Service along with Head of 
Service / service leads completed the training to support the development of the Salford 
Way. Further training will be commissioned throughout 2020-21 to support the workforce. 

Work is progressing in developing a strategic approach to this agenda and this includes 
gathering a range of resources, tools, online training and films to continue in the 
understanding and knowledge of the workforce, with further training opportunities being 
made available to up skill staff.  

Other work streams that are supporting the work programme include Operation Encompass 
which has been rolled out across schools in Salford. This notification system assists with the 
early identification of risk and supports trauma informed responses to children and young 
people following a domestic abuse incident.  A full review will be undertaken to assess what 
a trauma informed response looks like within a school settings and how to ensure good 
quality interventions are undertaken, following which, a bespoke training offer will be made 
available to the wider school system. 

As part of the ongoing work in developing the Living Well offer (adult mental health 
provision), an audit was undertaken which looked at adult cases. A deep dive identified that 
all of these cases had experienced adversity in childhood. As part of the development of the 
listening lounge there are opportunities to shape and inform provision within the adult’s 
agenda to break the cyclical nature of ACEs.

Third Sector Grants Programme
Salford CCG is a significant investor in the voluntary community and social enterprise or 
‘Third sector’ in Salford. This investment has helped to establish an annual programme of 
investment of £3m non-recurrent funding over a three-year period (2017/18, 2018/19, 
2019/20) into third sector/partnerships working with the sector such as schools. This annual 
investment provides a range of grant funding opportunities and recognises the valuable 
contribution that such organisations make to health and wellbeing. In October 2019 the CCG 
agreed a further extension to the programme - £1million per annum for a 5 year period 2020 
– 2025.

The main aim of the Third Sector Fund is to enable Salford CVS to use their position in the 
city to reach voluntary organisations, community groups and social enterprises in all parts of 

Page 115



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

54
V1 (03.02.20)

the city (by neighbourhood and also in terms of communities of identity) that, with a small 
investment, could help address some of the key health priorities in Salford, as articulated in 
the Salford Locality Plan:

 START WELL: Ensure all children have the best start in life and continue to develop 
well during their early years

 LIVE WELL: Local residents achieve and maintain a sense of wellbeing by leading a 
healthy lifestyle supported by resilient communities

 AGE WELL: All local residents can access quality health and social care and use it 
appropriately

The fund takes the five ways to wellbeing as its core criteria - Connect / Be Active / Take 
Notice / Learn / Give. 

In the period 2018-2019 the Third Sector Fund invested in 203 voluntary organisations, 
charities, community groups, social enterprises and primary schools. Grants awarded 
ranged from £250 to £50,000, across a range of regular tailored funds: Wellbeing Fund, 
Impact Fund, Impact Fund Partnership Challenge, Volunteers’ Expenses Fund, Volunteers’ 
Week Activity Fund, Healthy Schools Fund, Healthy Schools Fund Community Partnership 
Challenge. Additional investments were made via Specific Grants Calls, designed to be 
responsive to emerging city priorities. These included: Grow Well Fund (with match funding 
provided by the RHS); Living Well with Dementia Community Fund; Youth Wellbeing Fund 
(with a panel including young people); Healthy Holidays Fund (delivered in partnership with 
Salford Foodshare Network and Salford City Council).

GM Mental Health Transformation Funding: has supported the development of a GM 
Mental Health VCSE Grants Programme in Salford of c£331k per year, for a three year 
period to provide grants for local Salford VCSE organisations to support the achievement of 
Salford CCG’s 5 Year Forward View for Mental Health targets, the GM mental health 
priorities and the local priorities set out in the Salford Mental Health Strategy to enable us to 
go further, faster in creating opportunities to improve the mental wellbeing of the local 
population. Bids can be across the full life course and must address emotional wellbeing 
and/ or mental health.  In 2019/20 this funding has supported a number of projects which 
deliver children’s mental health work including 3-year award to 42nd Street to work 
collaboratively with community leaders to deliver a bespoke accredited training programme 
for education staff from the Orthodox Jewish Community.

In 2020/21, an additional £200k will be invested to deliver grants to address the specific 
mental health related challenges for children transitioning between primary and secondary 
schools. This will be augmented by an additional £75k from the main grants pot. Bids will be 
invited for grants of up to £40,000 maximum for partnerships between Salford Secondary 
Schools, working in collaboration with respective feeder primary schools and local VCSE 
organisations. The assessment panel will involve schools representatives and young people. 
Part of the £275k (£25k) will support an additional Youth Wellbeing fund targeting EHWB 
and picking up the key themes identified in the 2019 Seldom Heard event.

Healthy Schools Community Partnership challenge: CCG funding supported a research 
project that Salford CVS undertook in 2016-17 which uncovered a wealth of resource and 
resilience in the 3rd sector to support children and young people in their emotional health 
and wellbeing, their SEND needs and also received valuable feedback around experiences 

Page 116



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

55
V1 (03.02.20)

of speech, language and communication needs services. One outcome of the research was 
to fund the Healthy Schools ‘Community Partnership Challenge.’

As part of the wider VCSE sector grants programme administered by Salford CVS, the 
Healthy Schools ‘Community Partnership Challenge’ funds approx. five projects a year that 
are partnerships between VCSE groups and schools, these are designed around the ‘Five 
Ways To Well Being.’ The most recent round of funding supported 12 primary schools and 
one SEND high school to run projects that included: forest schools, a growing project leaving 
a legacy garden, a laughter project and a sensory garden for children and the elderly to 
share. In 2020/21 this will focus on Mental Health transitions as described above. 

The other Healthy Schools grant opportunity offers grants of approx. £5,000 per school for 
further Five Ways to Wellbeing focused activities run by 3rd sectors organisations. This will 
be expanded in 2020/21. In the last round 16 schools were funded to undertake initiatives 
including sports projects, family bike shelters, art therapy projects, a sensory garden, a 
serenity shed, a wide variety of gardening projects, an all-weather gym and a back to basics 
opportunity for traditional arts.

CCG innovation funding: The CCG also supports an annual Innovation fund – this is a £2 
million fund. This has supported the following Children and young people’s projects in 
2018/19. The Tougher Minds project has been extended for 2020/21.

 Tougher Minds (Developing Mental Toughness in Primary School Pupils)
 TCS (The Children’s Society) With You Virtual reality project
 The ‘ I believe’ project North West Media’s Unity Radio

Primary to secondary transition – vulnerability index tool
The review of the primary to secondary transition policy has been completed. The new policy 
was fully consulted on with primary and secondary head teachers, and transition leads, and 
includes a set of recommendations of good practice at transition. This includes a process of 
identifying vulnerable pupils at three different levels; each level having an identified package 
of support that should be provided for that child. The local authority now co-ordinates the 
transfer of pupil data between schools to allow for a more timely and effective transition 
process than previously was in place.

Review the recommendations from the ASD pathway research project – INSERT HERE

For Review of CAMHS BME post –  see under Ambition 3 below.

Ambition 2: Future Priorities

See our draft priorities for 2020-21 in Section 7. 

To be reviewed with Thrive Partnership 11 Feb 2020

Page 117



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

56
V1 (03.02.20)

Neuro development strategy and pathway
Over the last 2 -3 years there has been an increase in the number of neurodevelopmental 
related CYP referrals for diagnosis. This has resulted in pressures across the system to 
meet need. Due to continued improvement in practice and the embedding of Thrive, a 
system wide change was necessary to develop an improved system and offer for families 
and children. A small task and finish group was established to work though and revise the 
pathway and develop a strategy. 

Priorities for 2019-20 were:
 Refinement and implementation of Neuro-Development Pathway in collaboration with 

Neuro-Development Working Group, incorporating work to date with CAMHS and 
Community Paediatrics on ADHD and ASD, aligning with GM ADHD standards

 Implementation and review of GM Crisis Care pathway for children and young people 
 Implementation of GM CAMHS LAC therapeutic standards
 Delivery and review of Salford CAMHS LAC  i-START pilot
 Implementation and review of VCSE sector mental health funded Orthodox Jewish 

Community (OJC) EHWB 
 Consider recommendations by Anna Freud in the final evaluation report of Integrated 

Community Response Pilot and develop plan and scope for roll out / scale up
 Continue to monitor the implementation of the Suicide Prevention strategy
 Evaluate Online Therapeutic Project and agree plan for roll out/embedding in core offer 
 Support implementation of GM Inpatient Bed programme
 Implementation of GM standards and model for peni-natal infant mental health
 Continue to deliver and review CAMHS support for the Youth Justice System, aligning 

with GM work

Ambition 3: Update

Page 118



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

57
V1 (03.02.20)

The new Neurodevelopmental Needs Led Pathway will go live in early 2020. The pathway 
has been pump primed through CAMHS Transformation funding but it is not envisaged that 
there will be a further call on CTP funding, as any ongoing changes would be picked up via 
service redesign, and contracts and specifications for CAMHS and Community Paediatrics. 
The revised pathway has been designed through consultation with the wider system, 
including the Expert Reference Group. 

The Neurodevelopmental Needs Led Pathway includes the following significant elements:  
Co-ordination of the wider system offer for families and children, will be offered from the 
outset including training and advice and guidance. Development of Neurodevelopmental 
support worker responsibilities, linked to mainstream roles to support the efficient delivery of 
the pathway. A revision of systems and processes that will proactively identify and work 
through any system pressures so they are able to deliver an effective and swift response to 
each child or young person. Diagnosis specific support will also offered as necessary. It is 
expected that children and families will secure better outcomes through needs being met 
earlier and families being supported through the process. 

GM ADHD Standards
GMCA have undertaken the development of ADHD standards, incorporating NICE guidance 
and other evidenced based good practice. This has been an ongoing piece of work since 
2015 but was revised in 2018 and the standards now form the backbone of our 
Neurodevelopmental Pathway. As part of the development of the standards, the GM staff 
undertook consultation in each locality, identifying current good practice and ambitions. The 
project sub group included a commissioners, clinicians and quality improvement managers 
from a range of GM boroughs. One key element for the ADHD pathway set out in the 
standards is to bring CAMHS and paediatrics together to deliver a multi-disciplinary 
response to referrals. This support the goals of Future in Mind and takes us into the Long 
Term Plan.

CAMHS Learning Disability Service
CAMHS has specialist mental health provision for children and young people with severe 
learning disabilities and/or autism. The service offers outreach and has strong ties with the 
special schools in the city as well as offering a service to any child or young person who may 
be in mainstream school or not in state school provision. In addition the LD service currently 
supports the diagnosis of neurodevelopmental conditions such as ADHD and ASD. The 
number of referrals for neurodevelopmental conditions is currently one of the main 
challenges of the service due to high demand. 

In 2018, the LD service received an increased investment (increased investment) to fund 2 
further posts to undertake the work of meeting with all families and preparing each case for 
diagnosis. One of those roles is ongoing, the other is time limited for 12 months only to 
reduce the waiting list. The intention moving forward is to see all referrals within the national 
waiting times. In addition commissioners are working with all partners across the city to 
redesign the current system and deliver an integrated ‘Neurodevelopmental Needs Led 
Pathway’ which can provide support and advice for all families and a diagnosis for those who 
need it. This will provide a more co-ordinated and efficient service for those families. 

Page 119



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

58
V1 (03.02.20)

Impact of the additional investment has been positive. At close of Q1 2019-20, there were 
approximately 300 children and families known to the ASC team as undergoing or awaiting 
an assessment. This compares with almost 400 cases awaiting diagnosis in November 
2018. This can be attributed to a combination of additional non recurrent capacity to 
supporting reduction in the waiting lists and new/improved ways of working in the team and 
in partnership with other services.

At the start of the service re-design and waiting time initiative, there was a 12-18 month post 
referral waiting list. Currently, the actual waiting time for initial appointment following receipt 
of information (from school and parents) is 12 weeks. There are improvements in the 
process of diagnosis and assessment as we are streamlining the clinic offer within CAMHS, 
so the current expected waiting time now looks like 6- 9months, which is better than many 
areas but still has some way to go. The anticipated improvement will only be evident and 
clarified over the next 2 quarters as the plans embed and children proceed through the 
process. This will be supported further via the integrated Neuro-Development Pathway 
redesign.

Project Evaluation and future plans

Evaluation of our increased investment in the CAMHS LD service in 2019 has provided the 
evidence to support a business case to Salford Council and CCG in December 2019 for 
continuation and has been included in our 2020-21 Thrive delivery and budget plans. This 
will ensure continuation of the additional post so the work can continue with families as well 
as preparing cases for diagnosis and will prevent a build-up of the waiting list and maintain 
progress achieved in the last 12 months.

Ref Appendix 2 for full summary of service evaluations 2019

GM Crisis Care Pathway
The Greater Manchester crisis care pathway is being led by four NHS mental health 
providers: Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust; Northwest Boroughs Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust; Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; and Greater 
Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust.

The pathway comprises several areas, some of which are new service developments and 
some which require transformation of existing systems and services.  

Four new Rapid Response Teams launched in May 2019 and are now operating 8am to 
8pm, 7 days a week, actively supporting young people across all 10 boroughs of Greater 
Manchester. They provide rapid assessment, de-escalation and brief intervention for young 
people who are experiencing a mental health crisis and support young people, along with 
their families, for up to 72 hours. 

Whilst being implemented in a phased way, the ambition is to have a 24/7 crisis response 
from April 2021 and to expand the points of referral over the next 12 months to ensure clear, 
safe and effective pathways which reach the young people most in need of support. 

Also due to be fully operational from April 2021, the Greater Manchester Assessment and 
Inreach Centre (GMAIC) will provide a single point of access for referrals when a young 
person needs to be admitted to a general adolescent or eating disorders bed. GMAIC will 

Page 120



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

59
V1 (03.02.20)

undertake access assessments and support effective pathways across all providers in GM. 
This team forms an integral part of the GM CAMHS lead provider collaborative model.   

Three Safe Zones have been opened across GM by a partnership of voluntary, charitable 
and social enterprise organisations led by The Children’s Society. This service provides 
complementary and ongoing support in a youth-centred, community setting for young people 
and families who have accessed the rapid response service. There is a longer term ambition 
to enable open access for certain groups of vulnerable young people who may otherwise 
present more frequently to A&E.  

The next 12 months will see further developments to enhance the inpatient services across 
the pathway including 3 sites piloting the We Can Talk programme which supports effective 
working between CAMHS and paediatrics; scoping for a Discharge Coordination Team 
primarily to support the weekend offer; and a procurement exercise for the independent 
sector to provide ‘crash pads’ for young people who require a safe space for immediate risk 
management and de-escalation.  

Full background to the pathway is available at www.penninecare.nhs.uk/gmccp    

GM Looked After Children (LAC) therapeutic standards
The GM Health and Social Care Partnership commissioned a review in 2018 of the health services 
available to Looked After Children (LAC), Care Leavers and Those Adopted across Greater 
Manchester (GM) during 2019-20, with the goal of identifying areas of unwarranted variation and 
opportunities to reduce this variation through suitable interventions. A set of commissioning 
standards was developed against which evidence was gathered and findings have been provided 
under the following categories: 

 Early Intervention 
 Health Assessments and Plans 
 Commissioning and Strategic Planning 
 Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing 
 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) 
 Care Leavers 
 Children who are Adopted or under SGO 

Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing was highlighted as the area where there is the most health 
need amongst LAC, Care Leavers and Those Adopted and in particular trauma support, attachment 
disorders, self-harm, sexually harmful behaviour, violence and aggression. The timeliness of 
assessing mental health needs varies greatly across the GM region and qualitative feedback 
indicates that there is a real lack of capacity in CAMHS to meet the needs of LAC, Care Leavers 
and Those Adopted. 

Salford Local Authority was successful in securing Department for Education funding for a pilot to 
trial a new approach to mental health assessments to ensure that all children and young people are 
assessed earlier as they enter care. STARLAC (the Salford CAMHS for LAC service) have 
introduced a carer SDQ which is completed at 6 weeks into a young person’s placement. The young 
person is triaged for mental health support and this is provided via: carer advice, face to face 
consultation with carer or young person or more intensive therapeutic input. The pilot has been 
running now for XX months and is working well.  INSERT HERE short case study 

Page 121

http://www.penninecare.nhs.uk/gmccp


Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

60
V1 (03.02.20)

The GM priority is development of a strong foundation of outcomes-focussed informed initiatives. 
The GM Programme Steering Group will now assess these recommendations and prioritise a 
sequence of activity. 

All Age Mental Health Liaison Service (AALMH): formerly known as RAID

All Age Liaison Mental Health (AALMH) is a Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
Liaison Service delivered in Salford by Greater Manchester Mental health (GMMH) as a key 
element of the GM Crisis Care Pathway and aims to improve the quality, effectiveness and 
efficiency of urgent and emergency assessment and onward care planning for those young 
people aged under 16 who present in A&E settings to support individuals to receive the right 
care in the right place at the right time.  This is an extension to the existing Adult service 
working with young people aged 16 years and above and delivers on national requirements 
set out in the Five Year Forward View. The specification was developed to provide 
consistent and timely mental health assessments for young people in A&E (known as the 
‘PANDA’ unit in Salford Royal Hospital) and other urgent care centre sites in Bolton and 
Trafford. Other GM localities are currently planning implementation of this service but Bolton 
and Salford were early implementers with Salford’s service going live in May 2018. 

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, published February 2016, identified that 
provision for crisis care in mental health for Children and Young People (CYP) was highly 
variable dependent on which hospital you were in and was typically managed by services 
external to the hospitals CYP presented at. The five year forward advised that no acute 
hospital should be without an ‘All Age Mental Health Liaison Service’ by 2020/2021. 

The situation prior to this for children and young people under the age of 16 who attended 
A&E with a mental health need, varied in and outside of regular working hours. Inside of 
regular working hours CYP would be assessed via on call duty rota by the local CAMHS 
team (in Salford the Salford CAMHS team were responsible for this).  Out of hours provision 
was via a centralised on call rota, held at Bolton that comprised of CAMHS doctors ranging 
from CT to ST and Consultant level, this covered all of the GMMH footprint. Response times 
were dependent on duty availability within hours and out of hours again would be dependent 
on people coming to the hospital from external sources. This could range from a couple of 
hours to the next working day. 

Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust’s (SRFT) Paediatric A&E (The PANDA Unit) which 
provides urgent care for CYP under the age of 16 years, offers a short stay assessment unit 
for periods of observation, assessment and treatment, and work closely with sister hospitals 
for longer term inpatient provision when this is required.  There is no Paediatric inpatient unit 
at Salford Royal, therefore if a young person requires inpatient intervention they are 
transferred to a sister hospital with paediatric inpatient facilities, these are typically Bolton, 
Wythenshaw, Manchester Foundation Trust or Oldham Royal. 16-18 year olds are seen 
within the adult pathways at SRFT in the main A&E department.

This service is funded via CAMHS Transformation Plan funding and was jointly 
commissioned with Bolton CCG. The current contract runs from April 2018 – March 2020, 
and a joint service review has been undertaken to inform respective business cases for 
continuation from April 2020. A multi-agency stakeholder meeting also took place in 
December 2019 to share learning from the service to date and to inform updates to service 
Standard Operating Procedures, improved links to the GM Crisis Care Pathway and revised 
standards and procedures for follow ups by community CAMHS. The service specification 
will be revised following this will be included in local plans for contract continuation.

Page 122



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

61
V1 (03.02.20)

The service review will also inform further rollout of All Age Liaison across GM as part of the 
GM Crisis Care Pathway, and will be shared with Salford’s Adult Commissioning team who 
lead on the service commissioning for people aged 16+. 

Service Evaluation and Impact
The All Age Liaison (AAL) service commenced in Salford in May 2018. To facilitate 
expansion of the service to under 16s, extra staffing provision and training was identified 
required to enhance service delivery.  Salford Mental Health Liaison team (SMHLT) recruited 
1 WTE Band 7 Senior Practitioner for CAMHS and 2 WTE Band 6 Mental Health 
Practitioners with a view to manage the expected increase in number of referrals. For more 
details regarding service operating model, achievements and challenges, please see the 
service evaluation summary at Appendix 2.

Since commencing delivery, the AAMHL service has undertaken 2 reviews. The first 9 month 
review found that:

 Inter service working has been to a good standard, information is being promptly and 
appropriately shared meaning a more seamless service for CYP and their careers. 

 The service has been able to integrate CAMHS assessments into our service well 
and the practitioners appear to be completing good quality assessments and have 
found that they enjoy assessing CYP.  

 There is a monthly meeting between the Salford CAMHS Senior practitioner and 
Salford CAMHS. 

 Good working relationships have been established with PANDA and Salford CAMHS, 
as well as other external services such as 42nd street and the newly forming 
gatekeeping service.

 PANDA staff have given us lots of direct feedback that they find this service helpful, 
timely and positive for CYP and their families. 

 Positive feedback from CAMHS as they are no longer traveling back and forth to 
Salford Royal as part of their duty role which frees them up for other Duty activities 
such as 7 day follow ups and emergency assessments. 

A further service review was undertaken in collaboration with Bolton CCG in September 
2019, which provided a comprehensive update on service delivery data and impact and 
identified a number of challenges related to implementation of the children and young 
people’s All Age offer. See full service evaluation for more details.

Service performance and activity to date (summary)

From May 2018 to end of September 2019, the service has supported a total of 494 under 
16s / 734 under 18s attending PANDA. The ages of young people are detailed below in the 
combined table below. 

Total:  N 1185 seen (B-n = 674, S n = 494, T n = 17 includes x 2 
babies)
AGE = (0-16) Number = N Percentage = 100  %
16 309 27.05 %
15 255 22%
14 229 19%
13 170 14%
12 100 8%
10 31 2.8%

Page 123



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

62
V1 (03.02.20)

9 21 2.6%
8 17 1.7%
7 9 0.75%
6 6 0.5%
5 2 0.42%
4 1 0.08%
0 2 (Trafford) 0.16%

Referral Times

11 8 6 6 2 5 2 3 4 3 8
15 15 13 17 13 17 15 17

23
13 13 16 11

00-01:00

01-02:00

02-03:00

03-04:00

04-05:00

05-06:00

06-07:00

07-08:00

08-09:00

09-10:00

10-11:00

11-12:00

12-13:00

13-14:00

14:00-15:0...

15-16:00

16-17:00

17-18:00

18-19:00

19-20:00

20-21:00

21-22:00

22-23:00

23-00:00
0

10
20
30

Patietns Seen

Times of day: May 18-Feb 19

Patients seen

Peaks in referral times appear to link in with key times of the school day, for example after 
lunch, and in early evening.

Out of hours (after 5pm before 9am) including Sat & Sun (ages 0-17 years):

Mon Tues Weds Thurs Fri Sat Sun Total

Bolton 77 102 87 84 86 107 108 651

Salford 57 60 69 61 39 73 65 424

Trafford 2 5 2 3 0 2 6 20

The data above indicates that 59% of all children and young people’s presentations and 
assessments occur after 5pm and at the weekends, when other children and young people’s 
support services are on a reduced 7-day rota, or are closed for emergencies only. 

Known/not known to CAMHS (age 0-16, April 2018-Sept 2019):

Status of  CYP s/user Bolton MHLS Salford MHLS

Known to CAMHS 461 (68%) 170 (34%)

Not known to CAMHS 213 (32%) 324 (64%)

Total 674 494

Page 124



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

63
V1 (03.02.20)

The evaluation reviewed presentations and contacts with children and young people that 
were already known to other Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS).

Reasons for referral (May 18 to Feb 19):

Future delivery plans

All Age Liaison mental health provision is an integral part of the GM Crisis Care Pathway 
and key to its success. Its supports improved communication and pathways between A&E, 
paediatric wards, Rapid Response Teams, community CAMHS, and access to Tier 4 
provision when needed. It provides more timely and consistent assessment for under 16s 
presenting A&E but continues to link in with CAMHS professionals to support this and 
develop the offer for children.

In Salford, AALMH could also provide key referral route into our ICRS service, providing a 
step down from A&E to support young people who present in distress with quick access to 
brief interventions to look at the causes of distress and help young people and families build 
resilience and access support to address the issues/causes e.g. family support/early help, 
welfare and debt advice and housing. This would offer access to urgent support that doesn’t 
require a CAMHS follow up and would help reduce the repeat attenders to A&E by helping 
young people to access support across the wider system and /or supporting them with how 
to help themselves.

The two service evaluation reports have provided the evidence required to support a 
business case to Salford Council and CCG in December 2019 for service continuation and 
recurrent funding, which has been included in our 2020-21 Thrive delivery and budget plans.

Ref Appendix 2 for full summary of service evaluations 2019

Integrated Community Response Service (ICRS)

76

65

1

55

12

3

16

10

10

3

1

1

3

IOT

Suicidal

Eating Dissorder

DSH

Anxiety

ASD

Low Mood

Psychotic

Anger

Alcohol

Social

ADHD

Behavioural Difficulties

Page 125



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

64
V1 (03.02.20)

ICRS is our Integrated Community Response Service pilot which was co-produced and co-
commissioned across Manchester and Salford. 42nd Street are the lead provider but the 
service involves an alliance of providers including CAMHS, Self Help Services and Mind in 
Salford. The pilot went live in October 2017 to test provision of an early assessment and 
brief interventions in targeted settings for children and young people who present with high 
levels of psycho-social distress and risk, caused by the combined impact of their social / 
family situation on their mental health. 

ICRS was designed and commenced delivery prior to the implementation and roll out of the 
GM Crisis Care Pathway (CCP)  but was intended to address a perceived gap the CCP 
model  with the aim of providing an early help / early intervention and prevention approach to 
supporting young people in distress by linking and embedding the mental health support 
within settings where they are known to present at increased risk, and to align mental health 
resources with other professionals to deliver real time wrap-around support and access to 
consultation for the trusted professionals in those settings.

The aim of the project/service is to intervene early, offer short term de-escalation support, to 
support front line services in their psycho-social support of these young people and families, 
to reduce need for A&E attendances / admissions to in-patient beds with a step up / step 
down into other community services when stable. Through co-location in universal services, 
ICRS has supported more vulnerable CYP in the community, through an integrated ‘risk 
support’ community offer. The pilot settings in Salford were initially Clifton PRU and the 
Missing from Home Team/Early Help Outreach Team. Since 2018 the 2 settings have been 
Clifton PRU and the Central Early Help locality team (in Broughton).  The service also links 
seamlessly with 42nd Street’s wider services across Salford and their duty team.

Targeted financial advice has been provided by Mind in Salford for young people and their 
families where issues such as benefits, debt, housing and financial difficulties were identified 
as a causal factor in the distress of young people and a major stressor in the family 
relationship. The service is currently provided via a 3 day per week dedicated post within 
Mind’s Welfare Rights and Debt Advice Service, and has been delivered flexibly around the 
family via home/community visits.

Salford Performance Summary (from 1/10/17 to 30/9/19):

Demographics:

Total Referrals 192 unique young people
Assessment sessions 
offered

267 sessions

Ongoing sessions offered 594 sessions

Age Count %
11 7 4
12 14 7
13 39 20
14 44 23
15 52 27
16 25 13
17 11 6

Gender Count %
Female 102 53.1
Male 89 46.4
Trans male 1 0.5
Total 192 100

Page 126



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

65
V1 (03.02.20)

ICRS welfare rights and debt advice support

Project Evaluation and future plans

The Anna Freud Centre for Children and Families (Co- Producers of the Thrive new model of 
care) was commissioned to produce an interim evaluation report informed a review and 
supported a business case to MHCC to request a further extension of the pilot to March 
2020, and a final evaluation which was presented to stakeholders in May 2019.  A summary 
of the project evaluation and for access to a full copy of the Anna Freud report is embedded 
below. The evaluation reports have provided strong evidence to support has informed a 
business case to Salford Council and CCG in December 2019 for service continuation and 
further roll out and is ICRS has been included in our 2020-21 Thrive delivery and budget 
plans.

Ref Appendix 2 for full summary of service evaluations 2019

Salford Innovation Fund Online Project 
In 2018, 42nd Street was awarded CCG Innovation Fund to develop capacity and 
infrastructure, and to test an online individual therapeutic offer to vulnerable and isolated 
young people in Salford. The online offer is rooted in 42nd Street’s established, young 
person-centred, evidence based approaches and draws on the significant research base and 
developmental work of national partners. It was targeted at 16-25 year olds in Salford as 
they negotiate the transition into adulthood and between services and spans the full service 

Page 127



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

66
V1 (03.02.20)

i.e. on line access to both counselling and psychosocial support and links to peer support 
groups. 

In 2018/19 23 young people registered for support with 16 young people have gone on to 
receive ongoing support. In summary:

 70% were aged between 16-19 years and 30% between 20-25 years
 9% of those registered were male, 87% female and 4% identified as “other”.
 DNA rates at assessment are 0% but rise to 25% for ongoing work
 0% identified as being in contact with other mental health services
 Anxiety and stress were the most common presentations, followed by depression,   

gender identity and sexuality, then anger, physical health, panic attacks, PTSD, OCD 
and agoraphobia. 

 75% were self-referrals, and most young people heard from the service from 
schools/colleges/university (58%) and GP’s (33%)

 Registrations were originally heavily weighted towards Fri-Mon in the first 3 months, 
but in the second 3 months this has evened out; 9 registered on a Wednesday; the 
majority registered between 3.30 and 6pm. 

This pilot has led to 42nd Street being awarded a national grant to develop the online offer 
over the next three years. It is envisaged that these developments will help to further support 
the service to cope with increased demand and provide alternative pathways to those CYP 
that are less likely engage in face to face mental health support (e.g. BME young men and 
LGBTQ+ young people). The uplift to the core contract in Salford has provided the match 
funding for the national bid as will GM funding to support the development of a GM 
Universities offer which will benefit Salford based students 

Orthodox Jewish Community work – 42nd street
42nd Street has completed peer research funded by Salford CCG within the Orthodox 
Jewish Community to better understand the needs of these young people. The research has 
been well received by the community and has resulted in the charity being awarded GM 
(Salford) transformation funding for the next three years through the Salford CVS VCSE 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing Fund to address the issues raised in the report. 

The project has successfully recruited 2 x course facilitators (male and female) from within 
the Orthodox Jewish Community and the course has been fully recruited to (24 participants) 
and  started in January 2020

Suicide Prevention
The Salford Suicide Prevention Partnership has developed a Suicide Prevention Strategy for 
Salford, focusing on awareness raising and the achievement of effective and coordinated 
preventative work. This was published in August 2017. The Partnership is multi-agency and 
the aspiration is that suicide should always be considered as an avoidable occurrence. The 
Partnership works with key partners to ensure that appropriate and accessible support is 
available at a time of personal crisis so that people do not consider suicide as a solution to 
the difficulties that they face. 

Page 128



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

67
V1 (03.02.20)

Work to date under the strategy has included: 

 Commissioning of the ‘Reach Out to End Suicide’ campaign, delivered by Start in 
Salford. This is an arts based campaign designed to challenge stigma and support 
awareness raising of suicide prevention 

 Communications campaigns to target awareness raising and support amongst 
specific groups e.g. construction workers and LGBT communities 

 Mapping of personal journeys of people with lived experience to inform changes in 
the system

Future priorities include:

 Exploring a primary care approach to identifying risk factors 
 Review of bereavement support, particularly for children and young people 
 Providing suicide prevention training in the community 

Peri-natal infant mental health service (PIMHS)
A PIMHS offer is being developed across GM with three clusters / teams being considered, 
integrated with the mother & baby unit at the University Hospital of South Manchester. The 
teams will provide support and treatment to pregnant or post-natal women as an alternative 
to admission and will be phased in over the next two years. Salford is within the initial cluster 
and the service is now live. Integration with existing universal and targeted provision is key 
to enable any GM provision to be aligned to the local offer. A recent business case for Step 
3 IAPT services provided by GMMH has resulted in additional resource, including two 
specific workers aligned to the perinatal pathway. It is expected that these workers will 
undertake a specific perinatal focus by April. GM standards for IAPT services in relation to 
the perinatal pathway are in draft and awaiting approval. 

Locally we have been undertaking a process of self-assessment against these standards to 
support the development of an action plan to improve the offer. In addition there is work 
going on to determine an early attachment offer for families, including a project with 
Homestart Salford and Trafford, in conjunction with Trafford CCG ad Council. This project is 
its second year and has received a one year extension until March 2021.  The project initially 
using volunteers to support families through pregnancy, childbirth and the first two years of 
family life. The volunteers receive the core Homestart training on working with families and 
additional specialist training on supporting early attachment and parent-infant mental health. 
Salford has worked to identify the current emotional health offer in the early years and peri-
natally as part of the wider early help and early years work described above. Work is now 
underway to develop a Salford  perinatal and integrated mental health pathway that includes 
the four Salford maternity providers, 0-19 service, early help and incorporates primary care 
and links to adult mental health services/provision. As part of this, initial work has been 
undertaken to map our existing provision against both the London and Tameside models 
(which are sited as good practice). The 0-19 service have identified four Health visitor leads 
for perinatal and infant mental health in from the four locality area, these post have be 
delivering workforce training across the service and sharing best practice.

A business case is in draft and being shared with senior leadership and partners for 
comments that outlines the needs in Salford to create and integrate perinatal and infant 

Page 129



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

68
V1 (03.02.20)

mental health system and the governance arrangement and clinical leadership require. A 
plan for workforce training has been developed that will ensure consistency across Salford 
health and early years services in the training for attachment, and there is a wider 
workforce offer for emotional health first aid training to compliment this. Recruitment of a 
specialist perinatal and infant mental health midwife due to start in March 2020 for a 2 year 
period.  The post will work city wide connecting the four Salford maternity providers but will 
be hosted by Bolton Foundation Trust.

GM Youth Justice Mental Health Collaborative Commissioning 
Network (CCN) project
This GM work stream is delivering on the following objectives:

 Improving identification of mental (including neuro-disabilities) health needs of 
children and young people in contact with the criminal justice system and victims on 
4 key pathways;

 Enhancing pathways for these vulnerable children and young people who may 
otherwise face barriers to accessing health and justice services, and develop 
bespoke solutions that best support the needs of GM children and young people; 

 Understanding any gaps in provisions and taking steps to close them;
 Engaging with the voices of those who are ‘experts by experience’ to co-design 

solutions;
 Supporting trauma awareness in the workforce, linked to wider work in the GMHSCP;
 Improving integration of services as children and young people transfer to 

mainstream services, to promote continuity of care;
 Enabling cooperation and coordination between services commissioned by different 

organisations, whilst reducing duplication and delivering efficiencies.

To date we have:

 Invested in additional mental health workers and speech therapy teams across GM 
Custody/ Liaison & Diversion/ Youth Offending Teams footprint in partnership with 
GMP, GMCA and GMHSCP;

 Increased access to SALT support available in 4 district youth justice teams. We are 
currently exploring how the findings from the 12 month pilot will evolve after April 
2020;  

 Begun to explore how extra identification of neuro developmental needs, through the 
Do It Profiler assessment tool, shapes where and how services are delivered, and 
identify any gaps in service provision;

 Mapped four pathways from a professional and young person’s eye view, to gain a 
thorough understanding of the ‘as is’ pathways. This has involved all parts of the 
health and justice public sector system in Greater Manchester. Each pathway will 
give a set of recommendations per pathway and cross-cutting recommendations to 
deliver performance improvements, identify gaps, and review how current resources 
can be deployed in a more efficient way.

 Brought young people and their carers into the design and development process, so 
that solutions are co-designed and focus on user need.

Salford Youth Justice Service (YJS)

Page 130



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

69
V1 (03.02.20)

Salford’s Youth Justice Service is an integrated multi-agency team and includes a dedicated 
CAMHS practitioner, which is recognised as good practice and a model for other localities. 
Highlights of the YJS CAMHS work over the last year include:

 Support for th trauma informed understanding and practice being developed by YJS 
staff

 Salford CAMHS Youth Justice worker has co-led peer supervision for YJS staff 

Priorities in over the next year include ensuring that Salford YJS CAMHS worker is linked to 
the GM health and justice work programme and will support the ongoing development of 
emotional wellbeing interventions for young people engaged in the youth justice system.

Review of CAMHS BAME post
Historically there was a specialist role within CAMHS to support the service’s work with black 
and minority ethnic groups in Salford and was established a number of years ago. However, 
delivery ended in December 2018 due to the departure of the post holder. It was therefore 
timely to review the specification and purpose and function of the post in terms of current 
need. The intention is to integrate the work into the team and to enable staff across the 
whole CAMH service to offer outreach and targeted engagement, with the aim of improving 
access to all vulnerable groups in Salford, taking account of our known at risk groups that 
are less likely to engage in mental health services, including: Salford’s BME communities 
(especially young black men) but also young people from the Orthodox Jewish community, 
refugees or newly arrived young people and LGBTQ+ young people. The service is currently 
being re-specified to take account of this.

For more information regarding our targeted engagement and support with LGBTQ+ and 
Orthodox Jewish young people, see under Ambition 6 below.

Priorities for 2019-20 were:
 Consider how do we engage and support dads as a priority for 2019.
 Delivery of the parent engagement and support project for parents, incorporating peer 

support, parent training offer and improved parent advice and support offer from core 
services.

 Continued delivery and review of Home-start Salford and Trafford project.

Also see perinatal programme deliverables under Ambition 3 above

Ambition 4: update

Ambition 3: Future Priorities

See our draft priorities for 2020-21 in Section 7. 

To be reviewed with Thrive Partnership 11 Feb 2020

Page 131



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

70
V1 (03.02.20)

Early Years and Parenting 
We are in the process of developing a Salford parenting strategy which will now incorporate 
a universal parenting offer into our already embedded targeted and specialist parenting offer. 
In 2020 we will be rolling out the Empowering Parents, Empowering Communities 
(EPEC) universal parenting offer across the city. This project will develop parental 
aspirations and build community cohesion via the recruitment of parent group leaders who 
will facilitate peer led ‘Being a Parent’ groups within their communities.

Last year saw the introduction of the School Age Incredible Years programme into the 
parenting offer. This will continue to strengthen as further relationships are built with schools 
via our schools coordinators. We also strengthened our links with the health visiting teams 
who now co-deliver Baby Incredible Years with Early Help Practitioners. 

Our delivery of the Incredible Years programmes was further refined via the parenting team 
delivering peer coaching to practitioners across the city to ensure fidelity. 

Last year we initiated a project plan to build upon the successful work undertaken in the 
Little Hulton pilot rolling out the 18 month universal assessment. This year the 18 month 
assessment conducted by Early Help Practitioners will be rolled out citywide. 

Parent Peer Support
This is a time limited project which funds Salford’s Health Improvement Team to provide a 
community development and peer support co-ordination role which empowers parents to 
establish self-help / peer support groups in neighbourhood settings. The initial scope of this 
project, based on direct feedback from parents, was on parents struggling to manage issues 
relating to their children’s mental health. However, with wider consultation through the 0-25 
expert reference Groups, it was agreed that the scope should be broader and include any 
issues that parents find challenging to manage in terms of their children’s’ needs, including 
special educational needs and disabilities, speech and language, health conditions and 
behaviour. The topics/themes are not limited.

The aim is to establish a number of neighbourhood based peer support groups which 
parents lead and manage themselves. It is envisaged to be funded for up to 2 years to get 
off the ground (subject to progress in year one). The role of the Health Improvement Team is 
to engage with parents and support them to shape their own agendas and set up groups that 
are relevant and useful to them, to help make connections and links with services and 
professionals in order to access the information and advice they feel they need. A steering 
group has been established to oversee the project and representation crosses the 3 test 
cases and includes parents and professionals. It is envisaged that long term funding will not 
be required for these groups once they have been set up and supported to operate and will 
be included in Salford’s Parenting strategy going forward. There are currently two groups 
running, and a further group of 30 parents who met late in 2019 and have formed a large 
digital/on line network. The project lead will help them form smaller groups based on 
geography or need in 2020.

Home-Start Baby Bond

Page 132



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

71
V1 (03.02.20)

This joint commission with Trafford Council is now in its second year and a joint service 
review is underway. The project is managed by qualified specialist PIMH co-ordinators and 
provides targeted support for families/parents that may be struggling to cope in the perinatal 
period and is focused on early intervention and attachment. The service was commissioned 
for the first two years through CAMHS Transformation funding but from year three (2020-21) 
it will be integrated into Salford’s Perinatal Infant Mental Health programme, which is in 
development. The service has had a real impact so far, for see headline outcomes outlined 
below. The project delivers on the recommended GM Early attachment service standards / 
Tameside model and is supported by a clinical psychologist. Project outcomes to date:

 The total number of families supported to date is 59, 30 of which are Salford 
residents

 From the 30 Salford families supported, 14 have ended support and 12 (85.71%), of 
which have reported an improved outcome.

 A bank of 129 volunteers in total, 59 of which have completed the additional training 
provided by the midwifery team at the University of Salford and 37 have completed 
the additional 4 day specialist PIMH training course

For more information on PIMH programme plans, see Ambition 2.

Support for dads – new from 2020
Home-start Trafford, Salford and Wigan has been awarded innovation funding by Salford 
CCG to deliver an extended PIMHs offer for dads from April 2020. ‘Dad matters’ engages 
dads antenatally and within the perinatal period to help them think about attachment and 
parent/infant relationships, how their mental health can affect those relationships and the 
baby’s development and what services dads should be engaging with, why and how. The 
aim is to support dads to acknowledge their own mental health as a crucial part of their 
relationships, and to give them the tools and resources to engage the right services when 
needed.

The Dad Matters GM offer includes antenatal groups delivered by volunteers alongside 
various maternity services, but the Salford offer will develop this core GM offer to reach more 
dads universally, and then build on that to deliver more targeted groups for dads, and take 
one to one referrals from services such as PIMHs, perinatal teams, HV and MW, and of 
course work with existing home-start families.

Ambition 4: Future Priorities

See our draft priorities for 2020-21 in Section 7. 

To be reviewed with Thrive Partnership 11 Feb 2020

Page 133



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

72
V1 (03.02.20)

Integration of CAMHS commissioning arrangements and contracts
Salford CAMHS has responded posively to the calls locally from CCG/Council, from young 
people and their families and nationally to implement a new way of working. This,  together 
with the requirement for reduced referral to treatment times (RTTs) have to date been 
achieved from existing rescources  and has been supported though introduction of the 
Choice and Partnership (CAPA) model which is an evidence-based method of  managing the 
assessment process, caseloads and capacity in CAMHS services (York and Kingsbury 
2009). Despite workforce challenges (managing recruitment, retention and staff wellbeing) in 
a climate of significant service change, CAMHS has twice consecutivley secured an 
‘Outstanding’ rating in their CQC inspections.

Progress has been made to align contracts for core and targeted CAMHS services (CCG 
and Council funded) this year, as step one in preparing for integration of CAMHS contracts 
in 2020/21 which provides the foundation for delivering a more integrated service or ‘Thrive’ 

Priorities for 2019-20 were:
 Further alignment and Integration of CAMHS commissioning arrangements and 

contracts
 Continue engagement and communications between GPs and the i-thrive model
 Continued delivery of EHWB communications priorities, including  launch of 

Emotionally Friendly Schools website, and new versions of manuals
 Continue to facilitate a joint CAMHS Transformation / 0-25 EHWB Project Group
 Continuation of the EHWB Partnership as the expert reference group to help shape 

and deliver the priorities
 Produce quarterly EHWB/CAMHS dashboard and annual reports to monitor progress
 Monitor CAMHS delivery against GM specification
 Define and implement phase 2 of Single Point of Contact, embedding learning into 

core services
 Review monitoring information of inpatient services in line with GM working group

Ambition 5: Update

Page 134



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

73
V1 (03.02.20)

offer across the whole CYP mental health system. Developments in 2018/19 and 2019 
inlcuded:

The CAMHS Looked After Children’s (LAC) services were reviewed and an integrated 
service specification developed to describe a single CAMHS for LAC service for Salford. It 
was agreed that the service adopt the single and most familiar name ‘STARLAC’ as the 
name to cover the whole service, instead of using various names to describe elements of the 
same service (focus fostering, 3D, i-Start, Starlac etc). This was the first of CAMHS 
contracts funded by both CCG and Council to be written as a single specification.

The Emerge 16-17 service which is both Council and CCG funded, reviewed its 
specifications and updated this as a single specification. There is interest in reviewing and 
potentially extending the scope of Emerge in 2020 as part of the next phase of CAMHS 
service redesign and contract integration to support young people beyond age 18 so that 
those coming into the service at 17+ and/or those young people who may need extended 
support before transferring to adult service have more time. We will look at this next year in 
partnership with adult commissioners as part of joint work needed to ensure better support 
and transitions for young people up to age 25.

Youth Justice Service (YJS), formerly known as YOS, provides a dedicated mental health 
practitioner within the YJS service and is Council funded. This role and specification has also 
been reviewed and updated in partnership with the Head of Service, and aligned to the 
Thrive model and improved links with other key professionals co-located within the service 
and other role within CAMHS, such as the Single Point of Contact.

Emotional Health & Wellbeing Resources
The revised Emotional Health directory has been positively received by professionals with 
the new improved layout allowing users to easily navigate via a thematic search or the 
Thrive quadrants. The directory is refreshed on a quarterly basis ensuring that the 

information is up to date and relevant.

Page 135

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-0-25-advisory-board/emotional-health/emotional-health-service-directory/


Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

74
V1 (03.02.20)

A dedicated webpage on the EHWB webpages was created in June 2019 to host the 
directory to enable effective analysis of the professionals accessing the document. Between 
June and January 2020 there have been 493 views of the webpage, averaging 70 visits a 
month, with people spending on just over 2 minutes on the page.

Young people and families also have access to the directory via the WUU2 webpages and 
Salford’s Local Offer.

The EHWB web pages have developed over the 
last 3 years reflecting new areas of development 
and strategies, providing professionals access to a 
range of information, training and events, 
resources and tools. Recent additions include 
Shared Decision Making to support professionals 
involving children and young people in shared 
decision making about their own ‘emotional health 
and well-being’. Following the Trauma and 
adversity, risk and resilience event in the summer 
information has been included on the website to 
provide an overview of local, regional and national 
work being undertaken in this area along with links 
to resources, online training and tools.

GP Engagement
GPs have played an important part in the development of the online Emotional Health 
directory – following a presentation at the CCG Members event in November 2018 the 
feedback was positive but needed to be presented in a more accessible way. Taking the 
comments on board led to the development of the current online directory which although 
contains a lot of information, by utilising hyperlinks makes the document much easier to 
navigate.

Attendance at the Salford Practice Managers Group in September 2019 provided the 
opportunity to promote recent developments across both Salford and Greater Manchester 
linked to the children’s emotional health and wellbeing agenda. The group were updated on 
the progress of the GM Crisis Care Pathway, and were given an overview of the Thrive 
framework and information on the revised directory and linked resources. The practice 
managers took this information away to update their own individual practices including 

Page 136

https://www.wuu2.info/emotional-health-and-wellbeing/
https://directory.salford.gov.uk/kb5/salford/directory/service.page?id=ARmMW_552sY&localofferchannel=0
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-0-25-advisory-board/emotional-health/thrive-shared-decision-making/
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-0-25-advisory-board/emotional-health/aces/


Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

75
V1 (03.02.20)

clinicians and staff that may be involved with the EHWB of children and young people in 
Salford.

Thrive Communications update
Salford City Council continues to lead on communications for children’s emotional health and 
wellbeing and Thrive work. In 2019, our communications work included: 

 Launch of Emotionally Friendly Schools website
 Launch of new versions of Emotionally Friendly Schools manuals 
 Marketing activity to promote Emotionally Friendly Schools programme to schools 

outside of Salford.
 Ongoing, regular communications to schools who have signed up to the Emotionally 

Friendly Schools programme.
 Social media based around topics such as suicide prevention and relevant national 

days
 Local Offer website updated to include information on EHWB and link to the online 

Emotional Health directory
 Promotion of the parent peer network
 Implementation of the GM Crisis Care Pathway
 EHWB pages hosted on the Partners In Salford website regularly updated and new 

pages created as the work programme developed
 Events promoted via SCC social media accounts
 Continued GP engagement
 Salford Thrive branding developed
 Regular email bulletins circulated via the Thrive distribution list 

Measuring success – Emotional health and wellbeing
The Emotional Health and Wellbeing data dashboard is updated quarterly and includes a 
wide range of emotional health and wellbeing activity in the city, and data /progress form 
national indicators.  The dashboard is regularly shared with our Thrive Partnership for 
comment and feedback, and an annual report is produced at year end. Please see below 
and at Appendix 3 for our full year dashboard for 2018-19.

2018-19 EHWB 
Dashboard - Data contacts & Overview.xlsx

Performance against National Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) / Targets: is 
monitored both locally and at GM level to ensure we are continuing to improve access to 
children and young people’s mental health services for those who need it, and for urgent/ 
routine access to specialised eating disorder services. Performance is monitored and 
reported locally through the CCG/Council performance management system (Pentana) and 
is included in both the dashboard and in assurance reports to CCG and Council 
boards/committees. The GM Mental Health Board and Future In Mind (CAMHS 
Commissioners) Group regularly receive performance reports on access and waiting times 

Page 137



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

76
V1 (03.02.20)

and is supported by a dedicated Data Club that continues to develop and improve 
consistency and performance measurement of children’s mental health service delivery and 
outcomes. See attached GM performance report below and at Appendix 4.

Salford continues to perform well against national KPIs and assurance reports throughout 
2018 and 2019 provided evidence that Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan and 
associated investment has made a real impact, delivering improved support for children and 
young people’s mental health. There is increased access to help for those that need it, with 
more young people receiving support than ever before. The Salford Thrive programme 
consistently delivers and indeed exceeds national targets set out in the Five-Year Forward 
View. See Section 3 for details of performance against KPIs in 2018 and 2019 to date.

GM CYPMH data jan 
2020.pptx

Wellbeing measure: In 2018, Salford undertook its first citywide wellbeing measure of 
children and young people in schools. The Brief Multidimensional Students’ Life Satisfaction 
Scale (BMSLSS) was administered across pupils in yr4, 8 and 12. 15 primary schools, 4 
high schools and the college took part in the survey and the results were collated as a 
baseline measure and shared with schools. The levels of wellbeing across schools in Salford 
were found to be fairly consistent between schools based on the questions asked. There 
was a possible correlation between deprivation and wellbeing identified, but the sample size 
was small and therefore unreliable. This first survey will provide a baseline for measuring 
progress and improvement over the long term in children’s wellbeing through pupil wellbeing 
in our schools. 

In late 2019, a second measure took place across Salford in the same year groups. These 
results are being collated and will be available in spring 2020. The results of the survey will 
be included in each school’s School Health Profile. This measure will continue annually and 
data will be collated overtime to monitor wellbeing across these year groups over time.

Ambition 5: Future Priorities

See our draft priorities for 2020-21 in Section 7. 

To be reviewed with Thrive Partnership 11 Feb 2020

Page 138



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

77
V1 (03.02.20)

Engagement with children and young people
In Salford we have undertaken a range of children and young people’s engagement over the 
last 5 years for the Thrive Programme including co-producing the Ambitions with young 
people in the city which are used as a framework for this report and previous years. 

Priorities for 2019-20 were:
 Develop and implement action plan to establish new approach to CYP engagement; 

establishing a working group of the EHWB partnership and co-producing and involving 
CYP 

 Produce and publish CYP friendly version of Transformation Plan 
 Establish links with GM Voice of Child and engagement work
 Continued delivery of the Dramas in Schools
 Continuation of the LGBTQ+ working group and involving LGBT young people in 

evaluation
 Implementation of the OJC EHWB project and further learning from delivery of this on 

needs of young people in the OJC community 
 Ongoing monitoring of service user feedback in contact management process

Ambition 6: update

Page 139



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

78
V1 (03.02.20)

Partners and commissioned services undertake engagement with children and young people 
as part of their routine service delivery as described elsewhere in this report, such as young 
people who are part of LGBTQ+ groups who have co-produced the service delivery model.

Case study Emerge: This year Emerge have been working on the development of the 
refreshed CAMHS  Web Site. Young people, parents and other professionals were consulted 
about what they would like to be included in the Web site update. Emerge staff offered 
Project Pride, where we invited in young people to experiment with Make, Art and 
Photography to make a Collage to celebrate Pride 2019.

Case study 42nd Street: INSERT HERE

Case study Seldom Heard:  

Following consultation sessions with groups 
of young people the theme of mental 
wellbeing was selected for the event.  Staff 
from Salford CVS identified a number of 
young people’s groups operating within the 
City and made contact with them to explore 
their involvement in the event.  

Members of Salford Youth Council also 
attended to support the facilitation of the 
event along with Salford CVS Staff.  They did 
a sterling job of manning reception, signing 
everyone in and escorting them to the correct 
places.  They also supported Salford CVS 
Staff with signing up City Leaders to listen to 
the groups of young people and ensuring that 
every group had at least eight city leader to 
talk to during the course of the evening.

There were 20 city leaders in attendance 
from Salford City Council, Salford Youth 
Justice Service, Salford NHS CCG, Elected 
Members and Leaders of VCSE 
organisations. The leaders were provided 

with a briefing which asked to allow the young people to speak uninterrupted for around 5 

Page 140



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

79
V1 (03.02.20)

minutes, for them to listen and consider the requests and recommendations and to commit 
to following up with pledges.

Salford CVS will inform the young people who participated in the Seldom Heard Event of the 
pledges that have been made to date and will continue to follow up the City Leaders who 
have not yet made pledges.

We will hold a follow up event with the young people and city leaders in May or June 2020 to 
receive update on the progress that has been made against the pledges.

Future plans

Our Thrive subject matter expert work incudes engagement with children and young people 
and is underpinned with Salford workers participating in Shared Decision Making training 
delivered by GM. We are in the process of growing this delivery by building an Engagement 
Facilitator Group of professionals such as youth workers, teachers and third sector group 
leaders who work directly with children and young people from a range of 
areas/communities. These leaders will be able to engage a range of young people to involve 
them in all aspects of commissioning and delivery, to seek feedback, consult, run focus 
groups and to engage young people in service design and reviews when appropriate. 
Through increased involvement of young people in Salford’s Thrive agenda we hope to 
ensure that services and pathways are fit for purpose and meet their needs and 
expectations. Key partners are CAMHS, 42nd St, IYSS, Health watch and CVS. Plans for 
2020 include full review by young people of our Ambitions and work to date, and to develop 
a young people’s engagement plan with young people themselves.

Drama Workshops in secondary schools
Salford CCG has commissioned Odd Arts annually for the past 3 years to deliver drama 
performance workshops which engage and support Year 9 pupils across Salford to discuss 
issues such as self-harm, anxiety and suicide. The dramas have been co-produced with 
young people based on their issues of concern and are supported by our commissioned 
services. Every year the evaluations have been very positive with thousands of young 
people engaged and talking about mental health. A review of the Odd Arts provision and 
2018-19 delivery has now been completed and shows increased impact year on year and 
the Thrive Programme Oversight Group have provisionally agreed to recommission this 
again for this for a further school year (2019-20). After this school year has been evaluated, 
we plan to update our specification and re-commission this work for up to three years.

During April and May 2019, a total of 2762 students took part. This represents an increase of 
60% from 2018 (1740). 20 Places of learning participated in the performance workshops The 
performance was delivered for the first time to a Jewish girls’ school (Beis Malka Belz). The 
theatre company worked closely with the school to develop a culturally acceptable version of 
the play which was delivered to teaching staff. The aim being that staff would feel more able 
to have discussions with students and better identify signs and symptoms. The staff 
workshop was extremely successful. The plan is to build on this for 2020 and eventually 
work with a cohort of students.

The forum theatre gave young people the chance to try out realistic ways to support one 
another through mental health challenges. Many young people used this as a chance to first 

Page 141



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

80
V1 (03.02.20)

practice even talking (without stigma) about mental health. It also offered an opportunity for 
young people to try out how to ask for help and look for support.

Evaluation over the past three years demonstrates a significant improvement in teacher 
knowledge about mental health and self-harm (see section 6). This correlates with an 
increase in pupils stating that the place they learned most about mental health and safe 
harm is school (20% increase).

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer/Questioning (LGBTQ+) 
update 

The LGBTQ+ working group, with representatives from Salford CCG, Salford City Council, 
CAMHS, 42nd Street, Salford IYSS, the Proud Trust and education, continues to meet on a 
bi-monthly basis. 

Key highlights for 2019-20 include: 

LGBT+ Inclusivity training programme:  the development and delivery of a 
comprehensive training programme aimed at professionals working with young people or 
adults, and looks at how to support LGBT+ people in their work. 

Pride in Practice, a quality assurance service that strengthens and develops a GP 
Practice’s relationship with their lesbian, gay and bisexual patients in their local community. 
All of Salford’s GP practices have now achieved the award, with work now being undertaken 
across other primary care, with 7 dental practices and 19 pharmacies achieving the ward so 
far.

LGBT+ Resource book, based on the learning and feedback from the LGBT+ training 
programme, the team recommended creating a handbook to support professionals working 
with LGBT+ children and young people. The handbook will complement the training 
programme, providing more resources for long-term LGBT+ inclusivity. The handbook is 
currently in development and will be published in Spring 2020. 

Salford City College borrowed the pop-up exhibition for Walk in My Shoes (created by 
Salford LGBT+ Multiagency Partnership) to display throughout the first week of term at their 
Salford campuses.

LGBT+ youth groups –  the weekly LGBT+ youth groups for 11-
18 year olds are delivered across the city, with groups taking 
place in Little Hulton, Eccles and central Salford. In January the 
young people researched and agreed on what events and 
activities they would like to do with the group, some examples of 
the activities undertaken by the group included: 

 Creating a campaign for Hate Crime Awareness Week, 
 In collaboration with Tandem Theatre, the young people worked on a filming project, 

learning how to use cameras and microphones to tell their own stories.
 As part of LGBT+ History Month, the young people researched LGBT+ artists in 

history, and wrote of these artists as a part of their Arts 
Award, which every young person completed and 
passed.   

Page 142



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

81
V1 (03.02.20)

 4 day residential to Lledr Hall in Wales
 Participated in Manchester Pride, which included building a float, creating costumes 

and marching in the Manchester Pride Parade

T & Toast – a trans youth group that meet monthly, the group was 
created in response to requests from Trans members who also 
attend the LGBT+ youth groups. The group allows young people to 
meet other Tran’s young people, share experiences, give accurate 
Trans specific advice and guidance as well as allowing YP to make 
friends and support each other. Running alongside the youth group 
there is also the “T & Toast” parent group for any parents, 
guardians or carer’s of Trans or Non binary children.

In addition to the Salford LGBT+ working group, representative are also linked to following 
regional and national work streams:

 GM TransAction working group
 GM LGBT+ CAMHS working group
 Lancaster University Research: Queer Futures - Identifying & evaluating mental 

health early intervention services  and self-care support for LGBT+ young people

GM LGBTQ+ update
The LGBTQ+ mental health project has been co-designed and produced with young 
LGBTQ+ people, CAMHS providers and VCSE partners. Each CAMHS service in GM has 
reviewed itself against the “You’re Welcome Standards”, which have been reviewed through 
a rainbow lens which pocus on the experience of young LGBTQ+ people. For example, 
where the standards state that there should be a welcoming environment, this “rainbow lens” 
version includes reference to staff having a positive pronoun approach to avoid mis 
gendering young people. 

Following the audit of services against these standards, service have developed action plans 
for improvement. These will be reviewed by young reviewers who have been trained, 100 
CAMHS staff across GM will access LGBTQ+ training which has been tailored to their needs 
from the audit returns. Additionally, young people will visit each service provider and then 
meet with two staff from each provider to discuss their actions plans, achievement and 
learning. This project is designed to: improve the experiences of LGBTQ+ people by having 
better informed services, greater engagement with LGBTQ+ young people. Furthermore 
many services are not currently reporting confidence in their monitoring gender in an 
inclusive way (including non-binary people) or sexual orientation thus through this project, 
we aim to build this confidence and establish a baseline to then review access and 
outcomes from the LGBTQ+ community accessing CAMHS. 

Page 143



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

82
V1 (03.02.20)

For more information regarding our targeted engagement and support with LGBTQ+ and 
Orthodox Jewish young people, see under Ambition 3 above.

Summary of Priorities for 2020-21

AMBITION 1: Improved awareness and understanding

Priorities for 2020/21 are:

 Develop a support and supervision network for children’s workers to ensure they 
receive the support they need to carry out their work safely and confidently

 Explore Salford as a potential GM pathfinder site for roll out of Mental Health 
Support teams in schools, building on CAMHS School Link model

 Continued delivery of mental health training and development to develop the 
children’s workforce skills and confidence 

 Continued engagement in GM Thrive programme and training academy

AMBITION 2:  Timely access to effective child-centred emotional and 
mental health support when needed

Priorities for 2020/21 are:

 EFS rollout in new settings – early years and post 16 education and training 
 Finalise and implement new transitions policy and guidance for young people with 

complex needs 
 Integrated eating disorder pathway for young people, with non-interruption of care 

at age 18 and / or earlier access to adult services if and when needed
 More work on delivering an improved health (including mental health) offer for care 

leavers 
 Citywide rollout of Solihull antenatal programme following review of the pilot

Ambition 6: Future Priorities

See our draft priorities for 2020-21 in Section 7. 

To be reviewed with Thrive Partnership 11 Feb 2020

Page 144



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

83
V1 (03.02.20)

AMBITION 3: Targeted support for the most vulnerable, and improved 
crisis care

Priorities for 2020/21 are:

 Implementation of a new needs-led integrated neuro-development pathway 
 Monitor and review impact of Gm Crisis Care Pathway
 Consider findings of DfE evaluation of i-start CAMHS LAC pilot
 Roll-out of ICRS across Salford’s Early Help Hubs
 Monitor impact of VCSE OJC mental health capacity building project 
 Implement Per-natal mental health programme in Salford
 Continued development of our Youth Justice offer and support for GM programme

AMBITION 4:  Parental support and programmes for those who need it

Priorities for 2020/21 are:

 Develop a Salford Parenting Strategy, in partnership with parents in Salford
 Deliver Riding the Rapids training for 10 professionals in Salford to improve support 

for parents who have learning disabilities and / or neuro-development difficulties
 Maintain/develop our neighbourhood parent peer support groups
 Continued co-production of the adult Living Well model, looking to extend to a 

month pilot in one area of Salford from Q1 2020
 Continuation of Home-start baby Bond as part of new PIMH programme in Salford
 Implement and review new support for dads though ‘Dads Matter’

AMBITION 5:  Transparency and accountability across the whole system

Priorities for 2019/20 are:

 Establish pooled budgets and integrated commissioning for Salford’s Thrive 
programme, including the integration of CAMHS contracts from 2020

 Review locality plan needs assessment and continued development of the 
emotional health and wellbeing dashboard to ensure intelligence led 
commissioning plans

 Complete reviews of population health funded programmes and consider future 
requirements

 Undertake review of children’s  counselling needs and provision to inform future 
commissioning and investment plans

 Consider the need for extended / more flexible services for young people aged 18-
25, including the potential extension of Emerge to support young people beyond 18 
if / when neededPage 145



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

84
V1 (03.02.20)

Appendices
1. Summary update of local needs assessments 2019
2. Summary of service evaluations 2019
3. Emotional Health and Wellbeing Dashboard 2018-19 
4. GM Data and Performance report (January 2020)
5. Salford CAMHS 2015-19 Overview

 Others - check

Glossary of Abbreviations
EYDM Early Years Delivery Model
A&E Accident and emergency
ACC/ACA Assessment Checklist for Children/ Adolescents 
ACEs Adverse childhood experiences 
ADHD Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
AfL Alliance for Learning 
AMHS adult mental health services
APR Approved Provider Register
ASC Autistic spectrum conditions
ASD Autistic spectrum disorder

AMBITION 6: Children and young people have a voice

Priorities for 2019/20 are:

 Develop an improved engagement strategy and programme of activities to involve 
young people in our Thrive (emotional health) work in Salford

 Delivering on the commitments to young people involved in the Seldom Heard 
event in 2019, including a devolved budget for young people to invest in things they 
want to do to support mental health work in Salford

Page 146



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

85
V1 (03.02.20)

ASIST Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training 
BME Black and Minority Ethnic
CAMH Child and adult mental health
CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
CAPA Choice and Partnership Approach
CBT Cognitive behavioural therapy
CBTp Cognitive behavioural therapy for psychosis 
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group
CCP Crisis Care Pathway 
CEDS Community Eating Disorder Services
CHI-ESQ Commission for Health Improvement - Experience of Service 

Questionnaires
CPI Centre for Public Innovation
CQUIN Commissioning for quality and innovation
CVS Community and Voluntary Service
CYP Children and young people
DNA Did not attend
ED Eating Disorders
EDIT Early Detection and Intervention Team 
EFS Emotionally Friendly Schools
EHWB Emotional health and wellbeing
EIT Early Intervention in Psychosis Team 
FCAMHS Forensic Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
FIM Future in Mind
FYFV Five Year Forward View
GM Greater Manchester
GMCA Greater Manchester Combined Authority
GMHSCP Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership
GMMH Greater Manchester Mental Health
GMYCA Greater Manchester Youth Combined Authority
GP General Practitioner
HBT Homophobic, biphobic and transphobic
IAPT Increased Access to Psychological Therapies 
ICP Integrated Care Programme
ICRS Integrated Community Response Service
I-START I-Stronger and resilient together
i-START i-Stronger and resilient together
LA Local authority
LAC Looked after children
LD Learning disability
LGBTQ+ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer/Questioning and 

further related identities
LPOH The Little Pot of Health
LTP Local Transformation Plan 

Page 147



Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

86
V1 (03.02.20)

MFT Manchester University Foundation Trust
MH Mental Health
MHFA Mental Health First Aid
NBO New-born Behaviour Observation
NEET young people not in education, employment or training
NHS National Health Service
NHSE National Health Service of England
NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
OBD Overnight bed days
OJC Orthodox Jewish Community
P2B Place2Be
PANDA Paediatric Assessment and Decision Area
PRU Pupil Referral Unit
PVI Private voluntary and independent
Q1, Q2 Quarter 1, Quarter 2 etc.
RAA Regional Adoption Agency RAA
ROMS Routine Outcome Measures
SAFSS Salford Adopted Families Support Service
SASAT Self-Assessed Skills Audit Tool
SCC Salford City Council
SDQ Strength and difficulties questionnaire
SEN Special educational needs
SEND Special educational needs and disabilities
SIASS Salford Information and Advice Support Services
SME Subject Matter Experts
SPoC Single Point of Contact
STARLAC  Salford therapeutic and referral for looked after children
STP Sustainability and Transformation Plan
VCSE Voluntary, community and social enterprise
YCA Youth Combined Authority
YJS Youth Justice Service
YST Youth Sport Trust  

Key Links

Future in Mind
Five Year Forward View for Mental Health
NHS Long Term Plan
NHS Planning Guidance 
NHS Long Term Plan Implementation Framework
NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan

Page 148

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan-june-2019.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/operational-planning-and-contracting/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/long-term-plan-implementation-framework-v1.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/nhs-mental-health-implementation-plan-2019-20-2023-24.pdf


Salford Thrive Plan - 2020 Update (Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan update, March 2020)

87
V1 (03.02.20)

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford CDOP update November 2019

In response to the Greater Manchester Annual Report of Child Deaths in 2018/19 this update report 
summarise the Salford picture and links to the Salford CDOP action plan

Bolton, Salford & Wigan CDOP closed 64 cases, this was the most in GM at 31%.  Table 4 in the GM 
report gives the break down by LA.  Salford had 16 deaths which accounts for 8%.  

Data from Public Health England’s (PHE) child health profiles show a small decline in child mortality 
for GM since 2010.  However there is not a clear trend for the whole of GM, with some areas 
showing a levelling off or an increase and given the small numbers involved it is impossible to tell 
whether this is random variation, different data collection methods in different areas or a real effect. 

Ethnicity

The GM report present the estimated ethnicity for GM as all closed cases in should have data 
recorded on their ethnicity.  BME predictions show GM to be greater than North West average.  
Salford estimate is 21.2% which although greater than North West it is lower than the GM average 
of 28.9%.  BME groups are over represented in both Perinatal/neonatal events and Chromosomal/ 
genetic/congenital conditions with 48% and 51% of deaths in these categories despite having only 
25% of the GM population. However Salford BME deaths was 0 for this year.

Deprivation

The Salford under 18 years population was estimated to be 56,566 in 2018 and although Salford 
population size is one of the smallest in GM, the percentage of people in the most deprived 10% is 
the 2nd highest in GM behind Manchester. The average IMD score has reduced from 34.74 (2010) to 
32.95 (2015).

Days to close

Mean number of days to close a review (from date of death) by Local Authority (2018/19), Salford 
had the least number of days was the least in GM.

The majority of the 204 cases closed in GM in 2018/19, occurred in early life and resulted from 
events around the time of birth (perinatal/neonatal event) or from conditions which pre-date birth 
such as genetic and congenital anomalies.  All of Salford death occurred in hospital or at home.  
More than 60% were expected deaths that year.  

Deaths by age band for Salford and GM are presented below.

Page 151

Agenda Item 9b



AREA Neonate 28-364 days 1-4 years 5-9 years 10-14 years 15-17 years
Salford 50% 13% 6% 0% 0% 13%
GM 42% 19% 11% 8% 10% 11%

Modifiable Factors 

However modifiable factors were identified in 79 closed cases (39%) across GM, there were 
approximately 89 different issues related to the 79 cases. Smoking was still the largest modifiable 
factor (24 cases), followed by obesity (19). Access to health care or poor care management was the 
3rd largest modifiable factor (11) followed by substance misuse as 4th (10).

CDOP Area 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Bolton,  Salford, & Wigan 39% (n =34) 27.7% (13) 26% (17) 38% (21) 34% (23) 35% (29) 44% (28)

Bury, Oldham &  Rochdale 21% (15) 29.8% (17) 25% (20) 22% (16) 41% (21) 46% (33) 40% (21)

Manchester 29% (16) 20.4% (10) 18%(15) 29% (16) 27% (17) 34% (21) 32% (15)

Stockport, Tameside & Trafford 18% (10) 27.4% (17) 31% (25) 42% (21) 29% (14) 47% (27) 38% (15)

Table 9: Percentage and number of child deaths in each CDOP area in which modifiable factors were felt to be
present

Smoking - SATOD - 50% of Salford case had a relevance to Smoking at time of delivery.  Salford 
alongside GM have rolled out the Baby Clear Plus programme.  Already the stop smoking rate in 
pregnancy has reduced significantly from 16% to 10.8%

Obesity -A review of weight management service for adults and specialist maternity provision is 
planned. 

Consanguinity – Although not seen in Salford cases lessons learnt and models of good practice from 
other areas are being sort.

Parental Alcohol/Drug Use - Alcohol and/or drug use by parents was identified as a modifiable 
factor in just under 5% of GM cases (10) this is low but associated with higher rates of sudden 
unexplained deaths in childhood and co-sleeping. As part of GM Population Health projects Salford is 
reviewing the Safe sleep programme and training offer.

Domestic Violence - Although not always considered to be a direct risk factor in a child’s death, the 
CDOPs do note the level of domestic abuse within families. In GM, domestic violence and abuse was 
deemed a relevant modifiable risk factor in 1% of closed cases (2) for 2018/19. Although difficult to 
draw conclusions with such small numbers Salford already have a number of programmes in place.

Further information is available in the Salford action plan embedded.

Summary Given the Salford level of deprivation and risk that gives the numbers of deaths is lower 
than other areas.  The process in Salford has seemed to work in favour as the number of days until 
case close was the lowest.

Page 152



07/02/20 

1 

Reducing child deaths 
Michelle Whittaker 
Public Health Strategic Manager 

Reducing child deaths 
  

Increased risk of child death involves a series of complex interactions 
between many factors, including genetics, the child’s physical, social 
and economic environment and the health and care systems which 

surround families. 

 

There are significant inequalities in premature child death 

Page 153



07/02/20 

2 

Infant Mortality  

Child Mortality rate 

Page 154



07/02/20 

3 

Greater Manchester Annual Report of 
Child Deaths in 2018/19  

AREA Neonate 28-364 days 1-4 years 5-9 years 10-14 years 15-17 years 

Salford 50% 13% 6% 0% 0% 13% 

GM 42% 19% 11% 8% 10% 11% 

Bolton, Salford & Wigan CDOP closed 64 cases, this was the most in GM at 31%.  Table below report gives 
the break down by age range.  Salford had 16 deaths which accounts for 8%.  

The Salford under 18 years population was estimated to be 56,566 in 2018 and although Salford 
population size is one of the smallest in GM, the percentage of people in the most deprived 10% is the 
2nd highest in GM behind Manchester. The average IMD score has reduced from 34.74 (2010) to 32.95 
(2015) 

GM modifiable risk factors 
 Modifiable factors were identified in 79 closed cases (39%) across 
GM 

 There were approximately 89 different issues related to the 79 cases.  

Smoking was still the largest modifiable factor (24 cases) 

Obesity (19) 

Access to health care or poor care management (11)  

Substance misuse 4th (10) 

Page 155



07/02/20 

4 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

Smoking at time of delivery 

Page 156



07/02/20 

5 

Suicide 
Suicide is a leading cause of death worldwide in 15-29 year olds; approximately 
8% of all deaths  

 •14% of deaths in 10-19 year olds (UK)  

 •Over half have previously self-harmed  

 •Recent increase in suicide and self-harm by young people  

 –68% increase in self-harm incidence in young girls, 2011-14  

 •1 1 in 5 young women report self-harm; twice rate of young men  

 •Over half of young people who self-harm never seen by services  

  

Sector Led 
Improvement 

Deborah Blackburn  
Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and Wellbeing 

Page 157



07/02/20 

6 

North West Infant Mortality Sector Led 
Improvement  

In April 2016 the NW Infant Mortality Sector Led Improvement conference introduced the NW review 

The aim of the review was to:  

 •Adopt an agreed SLI methodology to review action to reduce infant mortality as part of a peer review approach. 
The process included identifying activity with a particular focus on modifiable factors.  

 •Identify places where actions have resulted in improved outcomes and share the learning.  

 •Identify key themes and recommendations at LA level, sub-regional level and North West level.  

 •Outcomes of the review to provide opportunities for collaborative work programmes which may include 
commissioning.  

 •Enable sharing of good practice and innovation to aid mutual support and drive improvement in outcomes.  

 •Identify any gaps in data and intelligence and provide recommendations for CDOPs.  

 •Produce an action plan for LSCB and Adult Boards who will be responsible for oversight and implementation.  

  

Recommendations 
 Includes recommendations under the following themes:  

 CDOP and Consistency in identifying modifiable factors  

 Capacity to Improve  

 Safeguarding  

 Congenital Abnormalities  

 Co-sleeping  

 Smoking in pregnancy  

 Deprivation  

 Build relationships and sharing good practice.  

 Support linked with professional challenge.  

  

  

  

Page 158



07/02/20 

7 

Salford’s response 
  

 Salford’s response to the review was to establish a partnership group 
to identify priority areas and to ascertain whether current activity 
was appropriately targeted and proportionate. 

  

 The identification of modifiable risk factors and addressing these is 
essential to driving down mortality rates.  

  

 The overarching increase in risk due to poverty and inequalities is 
the priority for the Salford partnership. 

  

Salford Action Plan 
 The partnership created an action plan that takes the issues and sets them in the Salford 
context.   The action plan addresses a range of risk factors which lead to an increased risk of 
premature births.  These area include: 

 Social Insight into smoking during pregnancy 

 Maternal obesity  

 Standardised PSHE education in Schools 

 Late antenatal care 

 Infection screening 

 Universal antenatal parenting/understanding child development and risks 

 Unintentional injuries and fall under 4s 

 Poverty and inequalities/the role of housing providers 

  

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford
Local Dementia Profile

July 2019

Page 161

Agenda Item 10a



Dementia in <<Local authority>>, <<Region>>  2019/20251698

Contents

Foreword  3
What is dementia? 4
Preventing well 5
Diagnosing well 6
Living well 7
Case study: Side by Side 9
Supporting well 10
Case study: Dementia Connect 11
Dying well 12
Conclusion and summary  
of recommendations 13
About us 14
References 15

Page 162



Foreword 
 
In Salford, there are approximately 2,342 people over the age of 65 living with dementia1.

Healthier lifestyles and advances in medicine mean we are now living longer than ever before.  
An ageing population, however, also brings with it unprecedented pressures on our health and 
social care systems and on already immensely squeezed budgets. Dementia is the condition  
most feared by people over the age of 50. By the time of the next General Election, we expect  
more than 1 million people in the UK will be living with dementia.

While, at the time of writing, we await the Government’s long-promised Green Paper on social care, 
councils are at the front line of the country’s social care crisis. Given the numbers of people living 
with dementia, the social care crisis is a dementia crisis.

I’m proud to lead Alzheimer’s Society; the UK’s only charity that campaigns for change, funds 
research to find a cure and also delivers services and support to people living with dementia 
across the country. However, we know we can’t deliver change alone. As a councillor, you have  
a significant role to play in ensuring that people living with dementia in Salford receive the best 
possible support.

In this local profile, we have outlined a few steps that you can take during your term of office to 
make the lives of those affected by dementia that little bit easier. We are keen to support you to 
deliver any of these recommendations – please contact the team at local@alzheimers.org.uk.  
If you adopt any of the measures outlined here – or have already done so – please do let us know 
so that we can share the good news with our supporters in Salford.

Yours faithfully,

Jeremy Hughes CBE 
Chief Executive, Alzheimer’s Society

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 3

Page 163

mailto:local@alzheimers.org.uk


What is dementia?
The word ‘dementia’ describes a set of symptoms 
that may include memory loss and difficulties with 
thinking, problem-solving or language.

These changes are often small to start with, but for 
someone with dementia they have become severe 
enough to affect daily life.

Dementia is caused when the brain is damaged by 
diseases, such as Alzheimer’s disease or a series of 
strokes. Alzheimer’s disease is the most common 
cause of dementia, but not the only one.

The specific symptoms that someone with dementia 
experiences will depend on the parts of the brain 
that are damaged and the disease that is causing 
the dementia.

The different types of dementia tend to affect people 
differently, especially in the early stages. Other 
factors that will affect how well someone can live 
with dementia include how other people respond  
to them and the environment around them. 

A person with dementia will have cognitive symptoms 
(to do with thinking or memory). They will often have 
problems with some of the following:

■	 Day-to-day memory – for example, difficulty 
recalling events that happened recently

■	 Concentrating, planning or organising – for 
example, difficulties making decisions, solving 
problems or carrying out a sequence of tasks 
(such as cooking a meal)

■	 Language – for example, difficulties following  
a conversation or finding the right word  
for something

■	 Visuospatial skills – for example, problems  
judging distances (such as on stairs) and seeing 
two dimensional objects in three dimensions

■	 Orientation – for example, losing track of the  
day or date, or becoming confused about where  
they are.

A person with dementia will also often have changes 
in their mood. For example, they may become 
frustrated or irritable, apathetic or withdrawn, 
anxious, easily upset or unusually sad. With some 
types of dementia, the person may see things that 
are not really there (visual hallucinations) or strongly 
believe things that are not true (delusions).

You can find out  
more by visiting  
alzheimers.org.uk/
about-dementia/

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 4

Page 164

https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-dementia
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-dementia


Preventing well
By 2025, there will be an estimated 2,788 people  
over the age of 65 living with dementia in Salford2. 
However, dementia doesn’t just affect older people. 
We estimate by 2025 there will also be approximately 
1,9913 people aged between 30 and 64 living with 
dementia in the North West.

While the likelihood of developing dementia 
increases with age, it is not a natural part of the 
ageing process. There are more than 42,000 people 
in the UK under 65 currently living with the condition. 
Apart from in some rare cases, we know that most 
forms of dementia are not inherited. While we  
don’t yet know what can be done to prevent the 
development of dementia, we know there are 
certain lifestyle choices that can increase the risk  
of dementia.

More than one third of cases of dementia are 
potentially avoidable through modifiable lifestyle 
factors. Changes in mid-life can have the most 
impact on reducing risk4. Regular exercise, mental 
stimulation, and maintaining a healthy weight can all 
help prevent us from developing dementia, or slow 
its onset. We also know that smoking and drinking 
too much can increase our chances of developing 
the condition, with smokers 50% more likely to 
develop dementia than non-smokers. Similarly, 
those with type 2 diabetes, high blood pressure in 
middle age or who are obese are at greater risk of 
developing the condition.

All adults aged 40–74 who don’t have a pre-existing 
condition are eligible for a free NHS Health Check. 
Since 2018, risks around dementia and how to prevent 
it have been explicitly included in these 20 minute, 
painless assessments. Research shows us that 
awareness of the risks of dementia amongst those 
who attend a health check is significantly higher than 
those who don’t5. However we know that take-up of 
these important health checks across the country  
is low. (NB. A previous version of this profile included 
Public Health England-provided data on provision of 
health checks. These numbers have been removed 
due to concerns about data clarity.) 

We recommend
■	 Councils should ensure their healthy living 

messaging references dementia, alongside heart 
disease and cancers, recognising that what is 
good for the heart is good for the head. 

■	 Councils, working with Health and Wellbeing Boards, 
should develop and affect a clear action plan to 
increase the invitation and take-up rates of NHS 
Health Checks year-on-year.

■	 Where they don’t currently exist, councils should 
develop a Dementia Strategy that maps current 
and future needs along the well pathway and 
includes tangible actions to improve the health  
of, and support available to, people affected  
by dementia.

2,788 
Estimated number  
of people aged 65+ 
living with dementia  
in Salford by 2025

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 5

Page 165



Diagnosing well
Access to timely diagnosis of dementia is variable 
and support available to both people with dementia 
and their carers is patchy6. Of those estimated to  
be living with dementia in Salford, just 84.5% have 
received a diagnosis (as at April 2019)7.

A timely diagnosis provides huge benefits for the 
individual. It unlocks a range of information, advice 
and support which will enable them to cope with 
their condition but also live better now. It also 
provides for better management of any other 
conditions that may be affected by their dementia 
while also providing them with the time to plan 
ahead and make informed decisions about their 
future needs. The benefits of a diagnosis are not 
only beneficial for the individual, but the health  
and social care system too. Being able to plan  
and efficiently allocate scarce local resources,  
avoid unnecessary and costly crises and  
emergency admissions, and provide accurate 
clinical management of co-morbidities are just  
some of the benefits to the local health and social 
care systems. 

We recommend that all diagnoses of dementia  
take place in a memory service, also called a 
memory assessment service, or a memory clinic. 
Some diagnoses take place within mental health 
assessment teams, but we would discourage this  
as people with dementia report better experiences 
when they receive specialist support. GPs carry  
out initial reviews of cognitive and physical health 
and refer to specialist secondary services for  
full diagnostic assessments. This is the National 
Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 
recommended process. 

The most recent Memory Clinic Audit8 by the  
Royal College of Psychiatrists found huge variation in 
waiting times from GP referral to initial appointment 
at the memory service, and between initial 
appointment and diagnosis. 

The range of time between referral and initial 
appointment is 1–32 weeks, and between initial 
appointment and diagnosis is 1–40 weeks9. This 
means many people must wait over six months  
to receive a dementia diagnosis.

We recommend 
■	 Health and Wellbeing Boards should monitor the 

time it takes for a dementia diagnosis to be made 
– this should be a maximum of 12 weeks between 
concerns first being raised (usually with a GP)  
and a diagnosis being received (usually at a 
memory clinic).

■	 Working alongside Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and local Clinical Commissioning Groups, Salford 
should adopt an ambitious diagnosis rate target, 
accompanied by a robust strategy to deliver this. 

■	 Health and Wellbeing Boards should ensure that 
all local memory services/memory clinics are 
accredited to the Royal College of Psychiatrists’ 
Memory Services National Accreditation 
Programme (MSNAP).

A diagnosis should be 
made at the point when  
a person’s symptoms  
are beginning to have an 
impact on their daily life.

84.5% 
of people estimated to be living 
with dementia in Salford have 
received a diagnosis

Just

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 6

Page 166



Living well
In Salford, there are approximately 1,980 people  
over the age of 65 living with dementia who have 
received a diagnosis10. There are also estimated  
to be approximately 36,000 people in England  
aged between 30 and 64 who are living with  
young-onset dementia11.

In the early stages of dementia, a person’s 
symptoms will be noticeable and will affect their 
day-to-day life. However, someone in the early 
stages of dementia will be fairly independent and 
should be able to do most things with a little help,  
or perhaps a little differently.

Following a timely diagnosis, people living with 
dementia require access to good quality post-
diagnostic support. This should include cognitive 
stimulation therapy – a light-touch, non-drug 
treatment that’s often delivered in a small group 
setting and designed to keep the brain active.  
This intervention has been proven to be as  
effective as many drug therapies for those with  
mild or moderate dementia12. 

We know that deprivation can have a significant 
impact on the ability of people with dementia to  
live well13,14. There is also evidence to suggest that 
people with dementia living in more deprived areas 
are less likely to complete an annual care review15;  
an important review that seeks to ensure service 
users receive appropriate and timely care support. 

Following a diagnosis, people living with dementia 
should be provided with relevant and timely 
information to access any benefits – this being 
particularly pertinent for those of working age who 
have developed young-onset dementia – they might 
be entitled to, as well as any passported benefits. 
For example, under the ‘severely mentally impaired’ 
category of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(section 6, paragraph 4), people living with dementia 
are entitled to a council tax discount or exemption. 
However, awareness among people affected by 
dementia and council officers is low, with the 
application process often unduly complex. Further, 
the Department for Transport will extend eligibility 
for Blue Badges to people affected by dementia in 
201916. These vital benefits can make a substantial 
difference in improving the quality of life for people  
with dementia.

Scotland: Five pillars of  
post-diagnostic support
Dementia diagnosis rates in Scotland are high. 
Five key pillars are recognised as essential to 
support people following a diagnosis:

■	 Understanding the illness and  
managing symptoms

■	 Planning for future decision making
■	 Supporting community connections
■	 Peer support
■	 Services to support quality of life

The Scottish Government guarantee, for a 
minimum of one year, a named person who  
has the flexibility to work alongside the person, 
their partner and family and ensure that each 
person is given help and support to work  
through the five pillars.

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 7

Page 167



Training for health and social  
care staff
People with dementia occupy at least a quarter of 
hospital beds, 70% of care home places, and make 
up 60% of homecare recipients. This means the  
vast majority of health and care professionals will  
be supporting someone with the condition. Our 
evidence17 shows that at the root of poor quality 
care is a lack of understanding of dementia from the 
health and social care workforce, tied to training, 
support and leadership.

More than a fifth of organisations offering dementia 
care are rated as failing by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC)18, which is higher than the overall 
service average, even though dementia services 
normally cost more. These failings are often not due 
to a lack of effort or compassion, but due to a lack  
of knowledge. The latest statistics available from 
Skills for Care suggest only 68% of direct care staff 
are trained to at least Tier 1 of the Department of 
Health and Social Care-backed Dementia Training 
Standards Framework. We believe that all care staff 
working directly with people living with dementia 
should be trained to at least Tier 219, which provides 
basic training about the most common forms of 
dementia, their underlying causes, and some of the 
major impairments and difficulties people with 
dementia may face as the condition progresses.

We recommend 
■	 Councils should ensure all their direct and 

commissioned services staff who are working 
with people living with dementia are trained to 
Tier 2 of the Department of Health and Social 
Care-backed Dementia Training Standards 
Framework. 

■	 Alongside local health providers, councils should 
set out an accessible local offer for people with  
a dementia diagnosis that covers what services 
and support are available to them, as well as  
any entitlements.

■	 Councils should adopt a simplified ‘severely 
mentally impaired’ application form for council 
tax discounts, similar to that used in Wales20.

People with 
dementia occupy 
at least a quarter 
of hospital beds.

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 8

Page 168



Side by side 
Case study

What is Side by Side?
Side by Side is a new Alzheimer's Society 
service that helps people get out and 
about with the support of a volunteer  
doing an activity of their choice, for 
example joining a local club, visiting a  
café or a walk in the park. 

This extra support can make it easier  
for people with dementia, who might 
sometimes feel isolated or find it difficult 
to leave their homes, to do things others 
might take for granted and feel part of 
their local community. The service is highly 
flexible and built around the individual and 
their needs. The service can also be used 
as a form of social prescribing.

Side by Side is available in 59 locations 
across England, Wales and N. Ireland,  
and we are hoping to roll this out to more 
locations in the future. 

How is Side by Side making  
a difference to people living  
with dementia? 
■	 Enabling people with dementia to lead 

fulfilling lives, and reducing isolation  
and loneliness 

■	 Ensuring people with dementia are not 
excluded from their local services and 
community activity, and encouraging 
informal, community-based support 
networks for people with dementia

■	 Supporting people with dementia to 
identify their own personal talents, 
strengths and capabilities, and what 
they can bring to their peers and the 
wider community

35% 
of people with 
dementia reported 
moderate to severe 
loneliness21 

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 9

Page 169



Supporting well
Carers
Carers of people with dementia are vital 
contributors to our health and social care system. 
Unpaid carers account for £11.6 billion22 of the 
economic cost of dementia yet many of them are 
struggling in silence, often dealing with myriad 
challenges including practical, financial and 
emotional difficulties including stress, loneliness  
and depression. 

Caring is a long-term commitment. In 2016/17,  
30% of adult carers for people with dementia had 
been doing so for between 5 and 10 years and  
22% for over 10 years. The majority of carers (58.5%) 
spend more than 35 hours per week providing care, 
while over a third of carers (35.7%) provide care for 
over 100 hours per week23. 

Caring is also expensive to the individual. In 
research commissioned by Alzheimer’s Society, 
academics found that of those caring for people 
with only mild or moderate dementia, total costs – 
including unpaid, paid and out of pocket costs – 
were estimated at £4,008 per person over  
a three-month period. Unpaid carers of people  
with dementia are disproportionately shouldering 
the burden of care – covering 75% of the total 
costs (£2928) and giving upwards of 470 hours of 
their time over a three-month period to care for 
people with dementia; equivalent to an average 
of 36 hours a week, and five hours a day24.

Through the Care Act 2014, all carers are entitled  
to a ‘carers assessment’ from their local authority, 
which should look at the current and future needs  
of the carer and cared-for person. However, through 
Alzheimer’s Society helpline and our online peer-
support network, we know thousands of carers 
across the country are left without access to the 
support they need.

Anti-psychotic stats
Ninety percent of people with dementia experience 
behavioural and psychological symptoms (BPSD), 
such as aggression, agitation, loss of inhibitions and 
psychosis (delusions and hallucinations). These 
symptoms can be distressing for the person and 
their carers as well as putting the person at risk.

People with dementia who experience BPSD are 
often, and sometimes inappropriately, prescribed 
antipsychotic drugs used to treat schizophrenia. 
Antipsychotic drugs do reduce psychotic 
experiences such as delusion. However, they are 
also linked to serious side effects, have a moderate 
benefit and do not address underlying causes of 
BPSD. A Department of Health study concluded  
of the 180,000 prescriptions for people with 
dementia overall, 140,000 are inappropriate25.

Inappropriate prescription of antipsychotic drugs  
is extremely harmful. Research has shown that 
there is up to a nine-fold risk of stroke in the first  
four weeks26 and that there is almost a doubling in  
the risk of mortality27. Inappropriate prescription  
of antipsychotic drugs contributes to 1,800 deaths  
a year28.

In recent years, there has been an increased focus 
on reducing the incidence rate of anti-psychotic 
medication inappropriately being prescribed for 
people living with dementia which has led to positive 
results. Between 2008–2011 anti-psychotic use 
reduced from 17% to just 7%. However, since then, 
new stats show numbers have risen again to 9.3% – 
but also demonstrate regional variation as in some 
areas it is as much as 15%29. It is therefore hugely 
important that this increased scrutiny continues.

We recommend 
■	 Councils’ carers’ strategies should include a 

specific focus on carers of people with dementia, 
detailing the support to them, including access  
to psychological support and practical training  
for unpaid carers. 

■	 Health and Wellbeing Boards and/or council 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees should 
regularly review the use and rates of  
anti-psychotic medication for the treatment  
of dementia.

58.5% 
of carers spend more than 

35 hours 
per week providing care23

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 10

Page 170



Dementia Connect 
Case study

Dementia Connect is Alzheimer’s Society’s 
new personalised service for people 
affected by dementia, connecting them  
to the right support, in the right way. 

Our expert Dementia Advisers and trained 
volunteers will provide relevant information 
and advice by phone or face-to-face, 
helping people with dementia take back 
control of their lives and be more 
independent for longer.

As part of Dementia Connect, our Side  
by Side (see page 10) volunteers are 
already helping those living with dementia 
to get out and about in their community 
and do the things they love.

How does it work?
The service is for people living with 
dementia, as well as their carers, family 
and friends. It can be accessed by either 
contacting us directly, or after a referral 

from a GP or another healthcare 
professional.  Following a referral,  
a specially trained Dementia Adviser  
will be in touch to assess any needs and 
connect the person to the right support. 
We’ll then keep in touch, providing each 
person with ongoing support and services 
when they need it. We believe no-one 
should face dementia alone. And with 
Dementia Connect, no-one will have to. 

Where does it operate?
We are currently delivering Dementia 
Connect in parts of East Lancashire, 
Blackburn with Darwen, Birmingham and 
Solihull, and throughout Wales. We are 
aiming to roll it out nationwide by 2022.  
If you want to find out more, please 
contact your local area manager  
whose contact details are at the end  
of this report.

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 11

Page 171



Dying well
Dementia is now one of the leading cause of death  
in the UK30. It is also the only condition in the UK’s top 
10 causes of death that doesn’t currently have any 
treatment to prevent, cure or slow its progression. 

When a person with dementia is approaching the 
end of their life, it can be a very difficult time for 
them and the people around them. Planning for  
the end of life is important for anyone who has a 
life-limiting condition. For a person with dementia,  
it is important to try and have these conversations 
as early as possible, while they can make decisions 
for themselves.

Health and social care staff should ensure that 
individuals’ care plans are always up-to-date and 
include end-of-life plans. It may be appropriate to 
ensure that advanced decisions are made by the 
individual early due to the fact that they may lack  
the mental capacity in the future. Advance decisions 
are legally binding as long as they meet certain 
conditions. This means that they must be followed 
by doctors and other medical professionals and are 
shared with those involved in the person’s care. 
Some areas have special staff who co-ordinate 
end-of-life care for people with dementia.

Only half of people who express a preference to die 
at home actually die at home31. This places pressure 
on the NHS and adversely impacts on the quality  
of care received by a person with dementia32. 
Alzheimer's Society supports the government’s goal 
of ensuring that more people die in a place of their 
choosing33. To achieve this, the Society has been 
calling for the implementation of the Palliative Care 
Funding Review34. This would provide commissioners 
with funding for palliative care, regardless of setting, 
in line with a person with dementia's wishes.

We recommend 
■	 Councils should ensure that all care plans include 

advanced decisions. 
■	 Councils should ensure that all directly delivered 

or commissioned residential or care homes meet 
the National Gold Standards Framework on 
end-of-life care.

Only half of people 
who express a 
preference to die at 
home actually do so.

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 12

Page 172



Summary of recommendations
Our ageing population means that more people  
are living longer, and so are more likely to develop 
dementia. By 2025, one million people will be  
living with dementia in the UK, with that number  
set to double by 205035. There are now more  
than 2.8 million Dementia Friends across the UK  
and dozens of Dementia Friendly Communities,  
all working to help people living with dementia  
to continue to live in the way they want in  
their communities.

The recommendations we have outlined in this  
local profile are tangible changes that councils and 
Health and Wellbeing Boards can affect to ensure 
that people with dementia are better supported. 
With reasonable adjustments, many people with 
dementia can live well. Councils have an important 
role to play in ensuring that the community in which 
people live, and the policies that direct support 
services, are appropriate to ensure those people 
with dementia are able to live well, live safely and,  
as much as possible, continue to live independently.

Preventing well
■	 Councils should ensure their healthy living 

messaging references dementia, alongside heart 
disease and cancers, recognising that what is 
good for the heart is good for the head. 

■	 Councils, working with Health and Wellbeing 
Boards, should develop and effect a clear action 
plan to increase the invitation and take-up rates  
of NHS Health Checks year-on-year.

■	 Where they don’t currently exist, councils should 
develop a Dementia Strategy that maps current 
and future needs along the well pathway and 
includes tangible actions to improve the health  
of, and support available to, people affected  
by dementia.

Diagnosing well
■	 Health and Wellbeing Boards should monitor  

the time it takes for a dementia diagnosis to be 
made – this should be a maximum of six weeks 
between concerns first being raised (usually with  
a GP) and a diagnosis being received (usually at  
a memory clinic).

■	 Working alongside Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and local Clinical Commissioning Groups, Salford 
should adopt an ambitious diagnosis rate target, 
accompanied by a robust strategy to deliver this. 

■	 Health and Wellbeing Boards should ensure that  
all local memory services/memory clinics are 
accredited to the Royal College of Psychiatrists’ 
Memory Services National Accreditation 
Programme (MSNAP).

Living well
■	 Councils should ensure all their direct and 

commissioned services staff who are working with 
people living with dementia are trained to Tier 2 of 
the Department of Health and Social Care-backed 
Dementia Training Standards Framework.

■	 Alongside local health providers, councils should 
set out an accessible local offer for people with  
a dementia diagnosis that covers what services 
and support are available to them, as well as  
any entitlements.

■	 Councils should adopt a simplified ‘severely 
mentally impaired’ application form for council tax 
discounts, similar to that used in Wales36.

Supporting well
■	 Councils’ carers’ strategies should include a 

specific focus on carers of people with dementia, 
detailing the support to them, including access  
to psychological support and practical training  
for unpaid carers. 

■	 Health and Wellbeing Boards and/or council 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees should 
regularly review the use and rates of anti-psychotic 
medication for the treatment of dementia.

Dying well 
■	 Councils should ensure that all care plans include 

advanced decisions. 
■	 Councils should ensure that all directly-delivered  

or commissioned residential or care homes  
meet the National Gold Standards Framework on 
end-of-life care.

Our key recommendations to help people affected by dementia during your 
time in office are:

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 13

If we can support you to introduce any of these measures, please contact us at local@alzheimers.org.uk
Page 173

mailto:local@alzheimers.org.uk


About us
Alzheimer’s Society is the only UK charity that 
campaigns for change, funds research to find a cure 
and supports people living with dementia today.

Too many people face dementia alone. People with 
dementia have told us how difficult it is to find out 
who to turn to or where to go for information and 
support. We deliver a range of services at a national 
and local level across England, supported by expert 
staff and trained volunteers.

In 2017/18, through our services we directly  
reached and supported 210,000 people affected  
by dementia. In the same period, we provided 
indirect expertise and information to 6.5 million 
people and we now have registered more than  
2.8 million Dementia Friends.

To find out more about what Alzheimer’s Society 
does in Salford, please find below the contact details 
for your local area manager and head of region below:

Salford Area Manager
Sue Clarke 
sue.clarke@alzheimers.org.uk 
07595 968360

Head of Region covering Salford 
Hazel Bayley
Hazel.Bayley@alzheimers.org.uk
07889 676429

To find out more about our Dementia Friends 
initiative, you can use the above contacts or visit 
dementiafriends.org.uk

Get support
If you, or anyone you know, is affected by 
dementia and require advice or support you 
can access it using some of our national 
services outlined below.

Dementia Helpline  
You can call our helpline on 0300 222 11 22.  
It is open seven days a week providing 
information, advice and emotional support  
to anyone affected by dementia. 

Talking Point 
Our online community is a place where you 
can ask questions, share experiences and 
get information and practical tips on living 
with dementia. It’s free to use, open 24 hours 
a day and all you need is an internet connection.  
alzheimers.org.uk/talkingpoint

Find support near you  
Our comprehensive directory allows you to 
find advice and information support services. 
Simply enter your postcode or location. 
alzheimers.org.uk/get-support

If we can support you 
to introduce any of the 
measures contained within 
this profile, or if you have 
any questions about the 
profile, please contact us  
at local@alzheimers.org.uk

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 14

Page 174

dementiafriends.org.uk
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/get-support/national-dementia-helpline
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/get-support/talking-point-our-online-community
http://alzheimers.org.uk/talkingpoint
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/find-support-near-you
http://alzheimers.org.uk/get-support
mailto:local@alzheimers.org.uk


References
1 NHS Digital, April 2019, Recorded Dementia Diagnosis  

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/
statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses

2 Project Older People Population Information, Updated 
April 2019, Oxford Brookes University and the Institute 
of Public Care http://www.poppi.org.uk/index.
php?pageNo=334&areaID=8640&loc=8640

3 Projecting Adult Needs and Service Information, Updated 
April 2019, Oxford Brookes University and the Institute 
of Public Care Total number (men and women) with early 
onset by 2025 (by region) http://www.pansi.org.uk/index.
php?pageNo=408&areaID=8654&loc=8654

4 Livingston, G, et al; The Lancet, Vol. 390, No. 10113 Published: 
July 19, 2017

5 http://www.alzheimersresearchuk.org/wp-content/
uploads/2017/08/Solutions-Dementia-Pilot-Summary-Report-
Final-24.7.17-1.pdf

6 All-Party Parliamentary Group on Dementia (2012). Unlocking 
diagnosis. Alzheimer’s Society: London.

7 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/
statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses/january-2019

8 Royal College of Psychiatrists (2015). English National Memory 
Clinics Audit Report. Royal College of Psychiatrists: London. 

9 Ibid

10 NHS Digital, 2019, Recorded Dementia Diagnosis  
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/
statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses

11 https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/
downloads/local_dementia_prevalence_data_by_local_
authority_clinical_commissioning_group_and_parliamentary_
constituency.pdf

12 Spector A et al (2003). Efficacy of an evidence-based cognitive 
stimulation therapy programme for people with dementia: 
Randomised Controlled Trial, British Journal of Psychiatry 
183:248-254.

13 Gale CR et al (2011). Neighbourhood environment and positive 
mental health in older people: The Hertfordshire Cohort Study, 
Health Place17(4):867-874.

14 Julien D et al (2012). Neighborhood characteristics and 
depressive mood among older adults: an integrative review, Int 
Psychogeriatr 24(8):1207-1225.

15 UK government, Department of Health. Dementia Atlas: Putting 
a focus on dementia. UK government, 2016.

16 https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/
written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/
Commons/2019-03-12/231515

17 https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-05/
Dementia%20the%20true%20cost%20-%20Alzheimers%20
Society%20report.pdf

18 Ibid

19 Skills for Care, March 2019.

20 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/
severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-
form.pdf

21 Clare L et al (2014). Improving the experience of dementia and 
enhancing active life – living well with dementia: study protocol 
for the IDEAL study, BioMed Central Ltd. [Online] Available at 
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-
014-0164-6

22 Dementia UK Update, November 2014  
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/
downloads/dementia_uk_update.pdf

23 Personal Social Services Survey of Adult Carers in England 
(SACE) 2016-17, Published 3 August 2017 https://files.digital.
nhs.uk/publication/a/o/sace_report_2016-17.pdf

24 Clare L et al (2014). ‘Improving the experience of dementia and 
enhancing active life – living well with dementia: study protocol 
for the IDEAL study’, BioMed Central Ltd. [Online] Available at 
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-
014-0164-6

25 Department of Health (2009a) The use of antipsychotic 
medication for people with dementia: time for action. 
Department of Health. London. 

26 Kleijer BC (2009). Risk of cerebrovascular events in elderly users 
of antipsychotics. J Psychopharmacol Nov;23(8):909-14. Epub 
2008 Jul 17.

27 Food and Drug Administration (2005). Further details can be 
found at: www.fda.gov/cder/drug/advisory/antipsychotics.htm

28 Department of Health (2009a). The use of antipsychotic 
medication for people with dementia: time for action. 
Department of Health. London.

29 https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZjg1NDQ3NjMtN2ZjNC 
00M2RjLWE5ZWItNWI0MTRjOTAzNTY2IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmL 
WJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9

30 Deaths Registered in England and Wales (Series DR) 2017, 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deaths 
registeredinenglandandwalesseriesdrreferencetables

31 Office of National Statistics (ONS) (2014). National 
Survey of Bereaved People (VOICES), 2013. https://
www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/bulletins/
nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015

32 Ibid

33 Department of Health (2008). End of life care strategy  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/end-of-life-
care-strategy-promoting-high-quality-care-for-adults-at-the-
end-of-their-life

34 Hughes-Hallet T, Craft A, and Davies C (2011). Funding the right 
care and support for everyone: Creating a fair and transparent 
funding system: The final report of the Palliative Care Funding 
review. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215107/
dh_133105.pdf

35 Prince M et al (2014). Dementia UK: Update Second Edition

36 Council Tax Exemption/Reduction: Severely Mentally Impaired 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/
severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-
form.pdf

Salford: Local Dementia Profile  July 2019 15

Page 175

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses
http://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=334&areaID=8640&loc=8640
http://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=334&areaID=8640&loc=8640
http://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=334&areaID=8640&loc=8640
http://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=334&areaID=8640&loc=8640
http://www.pansi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=408&areaID=8654&loc=8654
http://www.pansi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=408&areaID=8654&loc=8654
http://www.pansi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=408&areaID=8654&loc=8654
http://www.pansi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=408&areaID=8654&loc=8654
http://www.pansi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=408&areaID=8654&loc=8654
http://www.alzheimersresearchuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Solutions-Dementia-Pilot-Summary-Report-Final-24.7.17-1.pdf
http://www.alzheimersresearchuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Solutions-Dementia-Pilot-Summary-Report-Final-24.7.17-1.pdf
http://www.alzheimersresearchuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Solutions-Dementia-Pilot-Summary-Report-Final-24.7.17-1.pdf
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses/january-2019
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses/january-2019
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/local_dementia_prevalence_data_by_local_authority_clinical_commissioning_group_and_parliamentary_constituency.pdf
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/local_dementia_prevalence_data_by_local_authority_clinical_commissioning_group_and_parliamentary_constituency.pdf
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/local_dementia_prevalence_data_by_local_authority_clinical_commissioning_group_and_parliamentary_constituency.pdf
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/local_dementia_prevalence_data_by_local_authority_clinical_commissioning_group_and_parliamentary_constituency.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/Commons/2019-03-12/231515
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/Commons/2019-03-12/231515
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/Commons/2019-03-12/231515
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-05/Dementia%20the%20true%20cost%20-%20Alzheimers%20Society%20report.pdf
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-05/Dementia%20the%20true%20cost%20-%20Alzheimers%20Society%20report.pdf
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-05/Dementia%20the%20true%20cost%20-%20Alzheimers%20Society%20report.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-form.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-form.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-form.pdf
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/dementia_uk_update.pdf
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/dementia_uk_update.pdf
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/dementia_uk_update.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/publication/a/o/sace_report_2016-17.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/publication/a/o/sace_report_2016-17.pdf
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/publication/a/o/sace_report_2016-17.pdf
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12955-014-0164-6
www.fda.gov/cder/drug/advisory/antipsychotics.htm
www.fda.gov/cder/drug/advisory/antipsychotics.htm
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZjg1NDQ3NjMtN2ZjNC00M2RjLWE5ZWItNWI0MTRjOTAzNTY2IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZjg1NDQ3NjMtN2ZjNC00M2RjLWE5ZWItNWI0MTRjOTAzNTY2IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZjg1NDQ3NjMtN2ZjNC00M2RjLWE5ZWItNWI0MTRjOTAzNTY2IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsregisteredinenglandandwalesseriesdrreferencetables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsregisteredinenglandandwalesseriesdrreferencetables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsregisteredinenglandandwalesseriesdrreferencetables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsregisteredinenglandandwalesseriesdrreferencetables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/bulletins/nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/bulletins/nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/bulletins/nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/bulletins/nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/bulletins/nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/end-of-life-care-strategy-promoting-high-quality-care-for-adults-at-the-end-of-their-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/end-of-life-care-strategy-promoting-high-quality-care-for-adults-at-the-end-of-their-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/end-of-life-care-strategy-promoting-high-quality-care-for-adults-at-the-end-of-their-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/end-of-life-care-strategy-promoting-high-quality-care-for-adults-at-the-end-of-their-life
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215107/dh_133105.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215107/dh_133105.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215107/dh_133105.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215107/dh_133105.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215107/dh_133105.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215107/dh_133105.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-form.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-form.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-form.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/severely-mentally-impaired-council-tax-reduction-application-form.pdf


Alzheimer’s Society 
44–43 Crutched Friars
London 
EC3N 2AE

0300 222 0804 
enquiries@alzheimers.org.uk
alzheimers.org.uk

Alzheimer’s Society is the UK’s leading 
dementia charity. We provide information 
and support, improve care, fund research, 
and create lasting change for people 
affected by dementia.

To keep up to date on the latest news  
from our research programme, sign up  
to receive our research magazine at 
alzheimers.org.uk/careandcure
All of the dementia research we support is 
fully funded by voluntary income. You can 
donate to our research programme online  
at alzheimers.org.uk/donate

Code ARR19
© Alzheimer’s Society. First published 2019
Registered charity no. 296645. A company limited by guarantee and 
registered in England no. 2115499.
Alzheimer’s Society operates in England, Wales and Northern Ireland.

If we can support you to introduce any of the 
measures contained within this profile, or if you 
have any questions about the profile, please 
contact us at local@alzheimers.org.uk

Page 176

http://alzheimers.org.uk
http://alzheimers.org.uk/careandcure
http://alzheimers.org.uk/donate
mailto:local@alzheimers.org.uk


Alzheimer’s Society - Salford 

Dementia Profile Response For 

Information 

Lauren Fairey 

Service Improvement Manager 

P
age 177



 
 

 

 
 
 

Preventing Well 

Recommendation Salford Response 

Healthy living messaging 

should reference dementia 

Salford CCG and Council have recently run a vascular dementia 

prevention comms and engagement campaign.  

One of the actions in our All Age Mental Health Commissioning 

Strategy is to ‘Scope the need and requirements of dementia 

related prevention work’. This is also a priority for our Public 

Health team.  

Increase the take-up rates 

of NHS Health Checks  

There is a GM pilot using risk stratification and targeting those at 

higher risk for NHS Health checks.  

GM is also starting to develop a digital offer for NHS Health 

Checks. 

The Health Improvement Service also delivers 600 community 

NHS Health Checks a year. 

2018/19 GP data 93% of people diagnosed with a dementia had 

a face to face care plan review, which includes a health check.  

Develop a Dementia 

Strategy 

The CCG and Council developed an All Age Mental Health 

Strategy that was approved in January 2019. A supporting action 

plan has also been developed. Both the strategy and action plan 

have a sections/actions that are Dementia specific.  

Salford Care Organisation and Salford Royal Foundation Trust 

(SRFT) also have a Dementia Strategies in place.  

P
age 178



P
age 179



 

 

 
 
 

Diagnosing Well 

Recommendation Salford Response 

Health and Wellbeing 

Boards should monitor the 

time it takes for a dementia 

diagnosis to be made  

 

This is monitored through monthly performance meetings with 

our provider Greater Manchester Mental Health. In August 2019 

95% (against an 80% target) of people were assessed within 6 

weeks by the Memory Assessment Team and 88% (against an 

80% target) people were diagnosed within 12 weeks. 

Adopt an ambitious 

diagnosis rate target, 

accompanied by a robust 

strategy to deliver this 

 

The CCG has a diagnosis rate prevalence target of 80%. In 

September 2019 the CCG were achieving a diagnosis rate of 

84.7%, 9th best diagnosis rate in England and highest diagnosis 

rate in Greater Manchester.  

The CCG are working to improve upon this by monitoring 

diagnosis rates at a practice level and supporting practices that 

are not achieving the target to see if improvements can be 

made.  

Ensure that all local 

memory services/memory 

clinics are accredited to the 

Royal College of 

Psychiatrists’ Memory 

Services National 

Accreditation Programme 

MATs are audited and inspected by MSNAP. 

P
age 180



 

 

 
 
 

Living Well 

Recommendation Salford Response 

Tier 2 of the Department of 

Health and Social Care-

backed Dementia Training 

Standards Framework 

It is stipulated in all health and social care contracts that people 

working with people that have dementia have the required level 

of dementia training for their role.  

Set out an accessible local 

offer for people with a 

dementia diagnosis 

Post diagnostic support is commissioned through the Memory 

Assessment Team and Age UK Salford.  

Age UK Salford provide 1:1 support, peer support, group work, 

advice and information. 

Adopt a simplified 

application form for council 

tax discount 

Simplified forms are not available people complete the generic 

online forms. However if people need support in completing the 

forms they are able to get this in the Gateways, through Citizens 

Advice Bureau (CAB), Social Workers or Support Workers, Age 

UK Salford etc. 

The council also funds services that provide advice to people 

about benefits. This includes CAB and Welfare Rights that can 

help people with complex benefit support, this includes 

challenging benefit decisions. 

P
age 181



 

 

 
 
 

Supporting Well 

Recommendation Salford Response 

Carers’ strategies should 

include a specific element 

on carers of people with 

dementia 

 

Carers are entitled to carers assessments and carers support. 

Age UK Salford provide training and support for carer’s. MATS 

have post diagnostic support group. The Carers Centre provide 

general advice and support to carers, including working carers.  

The CCG and Council have developed a carer’s strategy that is 

currently going through governance for approval. The strategy 

includes a section about dementia.  

Regularly review the use of 

and rates of anti-psychotic 

medication for the 

treatment of dementia  

 

The percentage of people with a diagnosis of dementia that also 

had a prescription of antipsychotic medication in the last 6 

weeks is 7.9% which is below both the national and Greater 

Manchester average.  

Patients who are prescribed antipsychotics for the treatment of 

persistent aggression Alzheimer’s dementia unresponsive to 

other approaches are monitored via the Salford standard, the 

CCG primary care quality contract. Their mental health and 

physical health such as blood pressure, weight, potential to 

develop diabetes are all reviewed as part of an annual health 

check.   

 

P
age 182



 

 

 
 
 

Dying Well 

Recommendation Salford Response 

Care plans should include 

advanced decisions 

 

As part of MSNAP accreditation the MATs team need to 

demonstrate that they include advanced decisions post 

diagnosis. Adult Social Care work to care act duties and their 

legal responsibility within the care act.  

To support with advanced decision people have access to 

Advocacy. The Advocacy service have an outreach workers in 

Woodlands and in care homes that proactively identify people 

that need advocacy support.  

Advance Care Planning systems are in place for people are End 

of Life.  

Salford is working with Dementia United on the End of Life and 

Post Diagnostic Support project groups.  As part of the End of 

Life project group Salford have been advertising Advance Care 

Planning Training through Dementia and Primary Care 

Networks. As part of the Post Diagnostic Support project group 

Age UK Salford are trialling a GM Care Plan which includes 

Advance Care Planning.  

All residential or care 

homes should meet the 

National Gold Standard 

Framework on end-of-life 

care 

There is a “North West End of Life Care Model” used in 

SRFT/Salford it meets the gold standards framework. 

P
age 183



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 12 November 2019.
	8a Salford Locality Plan Refresh:
	9a CAMHS Transformation Plan Refresh - Draft
	9b Reducing Child Death and Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)
	9bReducing child deaths Feb 20

	10a Dementia Update
	10a_Salford Dementia Profile Response


